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The followings are the financial highlights for the year ended 31
December 2022 (“this year” or the “Reporting Period”):

Revenue of the Group in 2022 was RMB3,744.95 million,
representing an increase of 309.83% as compared with 2021.

Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of RMB76.60 million, representing an
increase of RMB664.25 million as compared to loss and total
comprehensive income attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company of RMB587.65 million for the year ended 31 December
2021.

Basic and diluted earnings per share was RMB0.09 for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (for the year ended 31 December
2021: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B 751 &

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—E-)N\E ZET-hEFE ZETF T —F ZEBIZHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARETT ARETT ARBTT AR%¥TR
Operating result REXE
Revenue = 2,510,476 6,224,024 2,348,113 913,788 | 3,744,952
Gross profit EH 2,111,667 5,302,202 1,996,566 483,699 | 2,846,074
Profit/(loss) from operation LEER(E518) 1,103,742 2,473,556 1,254,640 (423,377) 321,068
Profit/(loss) before taxation — BFEL AT F], (E538) 1,102,324 2,269,053 1,010,434 (667,184) 39,422
Profit/(loss) and total NN B AR SR (L
comprehensive income wmAL (B8 R
attributable to equity EEELEE
shareholders of the Company 942,536 1,918,709 839,455 (587,649) 76,603
Profit margin FE@=E
Gross profit margin ESF R 84.11% 85.19% 85.03% 52.93% 76.00%
Net profit margin AR 35.90% 30.64% 35.66% (64.32%) 8.57%
Earnings/(loss) per share SREA(EHE)
Basic (RMB) ER(ARE : JT) 1.04 2.16 0.95 (0.67) 0.09
Diluted (RMB) BE (AR ) 1.04 2.07 0.53 (0.67) 0.09
Assets condition BEMR
Total assets BEE 4,560,940 9,912,339 9,561,267 10,541,581 | 11,889,800
Total equity attributable to RA AR R
equity shareholders of JEAL i
the Company 3,433,956 4,408,555 4,891,103 5,808,281 | 5,884,884
Non-controlling interests EElii g 244,972 214,600 212,556 212,481 185,117
Total liabilities FCN=R 882,012 5,289,184 4,457,608 4,520,819 | 5,819,799
Net cash generated from/ CETEBIRTIS,(FTF)
(used in) operating activities HEFEE 715,392 1,794,407 1,299,493 (662,510)| 1,699,909
Quick ratio (time) ERENLE (FF) 2.0 2.2 0.69 1.44 0.95

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD

./ ANNUAL REPORT 2022




YiChang HEC ChangJiang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

pharmaceutical manufacturing company that focuses on the

is a

development, manufacturing and sales of pharmaceutical products
in the therapeutic areas of anti-virus, endocrine and metabolic
diseases, cardiovascular and anti-infection diseases. It is the

domestic pharmaceutical manufacturing platform of the HEC Group.

The Company entered into China’s pharmaceutical industry through
the establishment of its predecessor, Yichang Changjiang
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., in 2001. Up to now, we have been
operating for more than 22 years, and are in the leading position in
the domestic pharmaceutical industry in terms of pharmaceutical

sales performance and research and development capability.

The Company was converted into a joint stock limited company on
11 May 2015, and was listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange on 29 December 2015, with the stock code
01558.HK.

Since its establishment, the Company has always followed the
motto of “serving the Chinese with higher standards” and has a
strong industrial foundation and leading competitive edges in the
manufacturing, marketing and sales of pharmaceutical products. As
of 31 December 2022, the Company has manufactured, promoted
and sold a total of 39 pharmaceutical products in China, with 1,726
professional sales staff across nationwide product distribution
network. Kewei (Oseltamivir Phosphate), one of the Company’s core
products, is the first-line drug for clinical application of anti-
influenza virus in China with strong brand influence and continues to
maintain the premier position in the field of influenza. Oseltamivir
Phosphate was included in the National Essential Drug List (2018
Version) in 2018. In 2019, Oseltamivir Phosphate Capsules of the
Company were successfully approved to pass the Consistency of
Quality and Efficacy Evaluation for Generic Drugs (the “Consistency
Evaluation”) standard, being the first drug variety which meets such
standard in China. In 2020, Oseltamivir Phosphate continued to be
included in the Influenza treatment plan (2020 version) published by
National Health Commission. In 2022, Oseltamivir Phosphate
continued to be included in the National Drug List for Basic Medical
Insurance, Work-Related Injury Insurance and Maternity Insurance
(2022 Version) issued by the Ministry of Human Resources and Social
Security of the People’s Republic of China.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
AN

In addition, the Company has built strategic cooperative partnerships
with various renowned pharmaceutical enterprises. The Company
established a joint venture company with TaiGen Biopharmaceuticals
Holdings Limited (“TaiGen Biopharmaceuticals”) (Taiwan Stock
Exchange: 4157.TWO0) in Taiwan to conduct clinical trials of
combination therapy with Emitasvir Phosphate and Furaprevir. The
Company reached a strategic cooperative partnership with China
National Accord Medicines Corporation Ltd. (SZSE: 000028.S7) and
kicked-off its first operational project during the year of 2018. The
Company entered into a strategic cooperation framework agreement
with Jointown Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. (“Jointown
Pharmaceutical”), pursuant to which the Company authorised
Jointown Pharmaceutical as the exclusive general distribution agent
for its Kewei products to be sold through the OTC channel(s) within
the PRC, the term of cooperation is for three years. The Company
entered into a letter of intent with Wuhan Institute of Virology,
Chinese Academy of Sciences* (7 B £} & [ & Z 5 & #f 7t F7),
National Engineering Technology Research Center for Drugs of
Emergency Prevention and Control* (B3R & 2512 B4 T A2 £ 4T A
7% A 1) and Sunshine Lake Pharma, pursuant to which, these
parties will jointly establish a national military-civilian integrated
collaborative industrialization platform for drugs of emergency
prevention and control cum national antiviral drug centre. Pharm
HEC and Beijing Kawin Technology Share-Holding Co., Ltd. (1t RELE
B B % A B 2 &) ("Kawin Technology”) signed a strategic
cooperation agreement to “Eliminate Hepatitis C”. In order to help
achieve the WHO 2030 target of eliminating viral hepatitis public
health hazards and fully support China’s hepatitis C public health
hazards elimination campaign, the two companies have reached a
strategic cooperation based on their own hepatitis C drugs,
contributing to the strength of national enterprises. The Company
believes that the abovementioned strategic cooperative partnerships
will bring favourable development prospects for the Company’s
business.

PEoN AR R RES MR BRI EETT
BISSERMHRE  Ha AR B
ERARI((ARBE]) (REZRLFRHM -
4157.TWO0) BRI G E R A] - AHEITREBL (K
K E RN I E B S SRR a5
M EER —WEZXRMHDER AT ORIIFE
X5 FT 1 000028.52) FEAK B RE S ER
R BEELEBEEERZZE—/\FAILE
NRE : BAMNBEEEERGERAR
(THhME DT B R A EIER D &
Ut ANQ RIS E @A BE MR E T LN
THPBAEDROTCEBEAA=FHER
BREE RPERERRERSHRE

P BIRE SR 5 TR M+ O
LFERRGAEXRRZERNHHE @ &
bt BB HRRIERESDIEEYE

Rt HBREZ LT AERRNASEY
oty o EIERIEARHE RO AR AT (N8
BRE D) FE [VERNAT] 84 1EHE
A8 EIRWHO 2030 F B %R = EFF &
AHEEFEZER  2NIFREBERRA
BARFAARFEEETE EHEREY
HEENA A DEYEREESE - TR
REGCENE - AQFHEE - A LEREE
1ERIR - B EAADREBSRIBEBME
BATS °
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The Company is committed to the implementation of
professionalism, branding and differentiated development strategies
all along. The Company is committed to the establishment of a
professional marketing team, a steady and innovative marketing
operation and a strategic integration of resources, in order to create
brand characteristics and core competitiveness unique to “Pharm
HEC” in the industry and create additional value for the vast

pharmaceutical consumers and our partners.

In the future, the Company will further develop and expand its
product lines and markets, enhance the production standards and
quality of its products and continue to expand the coverage of
marketing and sales to facilitate the further growth of business and
profitability of the Company, and strive for more economic benefits

and cost-effectiveness for our investors.

CORPORATE PROFILE
NSV

ARRREBEREBRERL Ml =
REMBREE  DOINEHEKRNEE
HEATIE - IR A1 B0 T 5 8 1F S B 1 Y
BRES  ETXENAE[REAE]|BR
MmEREMZORSE N - BEANBEHN
BENAIERHMAIEEZEE -

ERE  AprliE—SERMNEEER
R FMTSEMETERNEERERE
B HEBATSHRENHEREES
VAR #E AN X B RS M BRI BE 7 O — P48
£ RBEREREEFIREZEEMNZEMR

S o

B

FERE 2022 /| EERG AR TIEERMNER AR



HISTORY OF DEVELOPMENT
LRIEIR

= Metoprolol Succinate Sustained-release Tablets approved to launch
BRI ESREER BIUE FT

= Azithromycin Tablets approved to launch
&SR EIE T

= |nsulin Aspart Injection approved to launch
PIZ RS )R ERE E

= |nsulin Aspart 30 Injection approved to launch

FIR RS R 30 X 5T/ ERL/fE ETH

= Insulin Glargine Injection approved to launch
RS I RERE T
= Became a subsidiary of Sunshine Lake Pharma

RAERRG X 2 HE AR

= Completion of bonus issue of Shares
TEROK AR

= Completion of the “Full Circulation” of 226,200,000 H Shares
5EhX 226,200,000 A H A% [ 2 i ]

=  Emitasvir Phosphate Capsules approved to launch
BB EORM Z BRI ERE TH

= Recombinant Human Insulin Injection approved to launch

ERARESZTHRELE LT
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HISTORY OF DEVELOPMENT
LRERE

= QOseltamivir Phosphate Capsule being the first drug variety to pass
the Consistency Evaluation
BREAMEBREERBE —BMFENRE

= New drug application of Emitasvir Phosphate was submitted and
has been accepted
B BEFRORM Z RT3 T R W IR

= Comprehensively roll out the “Full Circulation” reform of H Shares

EHBBHKR 2R 25

= Inclusion in the Hong Kong Stock Connect List under the Shenzhen-
Hong Kong Stock Connect
ERARBETHERBRERE

= Became a constituent of the Hang Seng family of indexes
BERMABEEREIIK DI

=  Being a subsidiary of A-share listed company, Guangdong HEC
BARAR EHARERRG N ZHEBAE

= QOseltamivir Phosphate was listed as a drug recommended for
treatment for influenza by the Influenza Treatment Guidelines
(2018 Edition)
CORITHER B BEIER (Z2—/\ER)) PRI R At 215 /R
RSB ELY)

= Started the cooperation with TaiGen Biopharmaceuticals on
Hepatitis C. combination therapy
BHASRBERATBESBERASE

= Obtained three approvals for the clinical trials for insulin product
3MEMR S RE mE SRR

= Pharm HEC was awarded as the “Listed Enterprises of the Year
2016”
RERER( T —RF EmdEKRE)

FEHE 2022 /| EERGARIEXZRNERAF
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HISTORY OF DEVELOPMENT
LRIEIR

= Transformed into a joint stock limited company by means of
reorganization
BHENH RN ERAE

= Established strategic cooperation relationship with our controlling
shareholder, and acquired the pre-emptive right to purchase
products developed by the research institute of the controlling

shareholder
SR AR R T BR K & 1ERRIR - A IEIRARER T B SR AR
BB ERE

= Successfully listed on the Stock Exchange on 29 December 2015
“E-RFTZAZTNABRRBRAERNBER S

= Kewei product dominated the largest market share of Oseltamivir
Phosphate products in China
Al BEE mnib iR BB BE R R 2 E a5 K1) HE

= The Company’s Kewei granule product was registered with the
China Food and Drug Administration and the Company became the
only manufacturer of Oseltamivir Phosphate Granule in China
REIABENAERNBERREREREERECEM - AT B
——HKBMR R A E BN EER

= The Company was licensed to manufacture Oseltamivir Phosphate
products in China

BT EBMRRAMELE

= The predecessor of the Company was established in Hubei Province
and formally entered into China’s pharmaceutical industry

ATMSEMIART - EREAFRELRTE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the Board, | am hereby pleased to present the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the
future prospects of 2023.

2022 REVIEW

In 2022, under the relaxation of a series of national policies, the
social and economic performance gradually improved while the
pharmaceutical industry resumed its development. In addition, with
the moderation of medical insurance policies and clearer tender
rules, the subsequent policies for pharmaceutical industry is
expected to be stable, and China’s pharmaceutical ecosystem will
enter into a positive cycle and usher in thriving industry
development opportunities. In recent years, the innovative drug
industry in China has been highly valued by the government and
supported by national industrial policies.

At present, with the optimization of the policy environment of the
innovative drugs and the country’s gradual improvement of the
intellectual property rights infrastructure, innovative activities
began to thrive and prosperous development in domestic innovative
drug research and development is observed, thereby and
accelerating the development of the domestic innovative drug
industry. Benefiting from favourable policy and rapid industrial
development, the number and variety of innovative drugs approved
in China have increased sharply. Pursuant to the National
Reimbursement Drug List for Basic Medical Insurance, Work-Related
Injury Insurance and Maternity Insurance (2022)({ B R & A E &R
S TERBRME B RK S S B $%(20224))) issued by the
National Healthcare Security Administration and the Ministry of
Human Resources and Social Security, which has been officially
implemented on 1 March 2023, 111 types of drugs are added in such
new version of the national Medical Reimbursement Drug List. With
the normalization of adjustment to Medical Reimbursement Drug
List and the institutionalization of national negotiation on innovative
drugs, the market size of China’s innovative drugs will be steadily
expanding. The research and development o f innovative drugsis o f
great significance to China as an innovative country. The invention of
drugs with independent intellectual property rights not only has a
better therapeutic effect on major diseases, but also reduces the
dependence on new fareign drugs. Therefore, the innovative drug
industry has a higher rate of return, as well as economic and social
benefits.

EERWMES
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
SSERMEE

Looking forward, due to the enhancement in domestic national
income level and the people’s increasing expectation for the quality
and effectiveness of drugs, the demand for effective drugs from
domestic pharmaceutical companies is expected to surge. Therefore,
pharmaceutical companies with strong commercialization
capabilities, reasonable research pipelines, compatible R&D
capabilities and funding levels, remarkable clinical trial results and
strong pharmaceutical innovation capabilities will have better
development potential and investment value.

Pharm HEC has come to the eighth year since its listing on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. The Board has been upholding the governance
principles of “standardization, independence, rational structure and
high efficiency”, strictly complying with the Company Law of the
PRC, the Listing Rules and other laws and regulations and fully
discharging the duties conferred by the Articles of Association. All
decisions are strictly implemented in compliance with the
resolutions of the general meetings through standardized operation,
scientific decision-making and diligence so as to fully accomplish all
tasks. Meanwhile, the Board will constantly lead the management of
the Company to improve its governance level and strengthen the
Company’s management systems and internal control, striving to
become a highly competitive listed company in the domestic and
even the international market.

2022 was a year of remarkable results in Pharm HEC’s business
expansion in different aspects. During the Reporting Period,
Metoprolol Succinate Sustained-release Tablets and Azithromycin
Tablets, products acquired by the Group from Sunshine Lake Pharma
have been approved for launch. In addition, the Group’s self-
developed Insulin Aspart Injection and Insulin Aspart 30 Injection
have been approved for launch and would become one of the
Company’s flagship products in the field of diabetes, which was
conductive to expand the Group’s business in the field of endocrine
and metabolic therapy. In addition, the Recombinant Human Insulin
Injection and Insulin Glargine Injection in the Company’s Insulin
series were approved to launch by the China National Medical
Products Administration (the “NMPA”). Isophane Protamine
Recombinant Human Insulin Injection (Pre-mixed 30R) is under the
approval stage of production registration in the PRC. Rongliflozin
L-Pyroglutamic Acid, the national Class 1 innovative new drug owned
by the company acquired by the Group from Sunshine Lake Pharma,
is under Phase Il clinical stage while biosimilar Liraglutide has been
under the pending submission stage of new drug application. With
the launch and promotion of more insulin products in the future, the
Company’s product line in the field of diabetes will continue to be
optimized and thus enhancing its reputation.

RERK  BEEBERBRAKFENRES  H
RYUEREENERNERBETE T
B EEEBLEREABAREDFERE
MEBERERN ML - Bt - RFBRAH
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FNEFE EFS—BHFAHE 1B
VEBAE - BAMEIAEER
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B RIBRR $MER 2ETKT
BERTEER - A EFEHHERAR
AIEEERE TS B8 HREKYF - JIBRA
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BADZEEEHSEERASF NN T
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SR CFRRBAEREEBRRERAY
BEN—F - WEPAN - ARERERR
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PRERITHREERE LT - HRAE
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mRBEAEMAARERIFR(ER
30R) EREMIR AL EEM BT - A%
ERERREG I ERBBORRHEFHE
RIETMEERTRRBIFOLEAR
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HERGBRHERL FNEECHTEHR
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

The Group has made breakthroughs in the field of generic drugs. 29
products out of 33 generic drugs acquired by the Group from
Sunshine Lake Pharma have been approved to launch by the NMPA.
With more products approved to launch, the Group’s product line
will cover more diverse therapeutic areas and its results will

continue to improve in the future.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking forward, as the development direction of China’s
pharmaceutical industry is gradually shifting from generic drugs to
innovation drugs, drug innovation has become the core
competitiveness which supports the future development of
enterprises. In order to capture opportunities in the fierce
competition, pharmaceutical companies need to make continuous
efforts in various aspects including product R&D, technical process
improvement, production and supply chain management and sales
management, while striving to grasp the initiative of industry
competition and forming good sustainable advantages by grasping
the market demand and trend of the pharmaceutical industry and
consolidating and expanding the corresponding strategic target

markets more effectively.

The Company will continually increase its investment in R&D and
accelerate the transformation of drug R&D into clinical applications
in the therapeutic areas of anti-infective, endocrine and metabolic
diseases. In addition, the Company will continue to strengthen its
product R&D and innovation capabilities, constantly introduce new
products and enrich the existing product portfolio to enhance the

market competitiveness of its products.

FERE 2022 / EE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EERWMES

The Company will continue to strengthen the construction of the
sales team, consolidate its path in academic promotion and further
expand the primary healthcare market. In the face of the future, we
have established a scientific and sustainable marketing strategy to
create a highly recognized business image and well-respected
reputation in the domestic market and laid down a solid foundation

for new products to be rapidly launched in the market in the future.

We believe that under the leadership of the Board and the efforts of
all employees, the Company would become a benchmark
pharmaceutical enterprise in China and the world as well as a major
and influential brand in China’s pharmaceutical industry, through
formulating comprehensive development strategy, implementing

strict management system and strengthening of innovative R&D.
Once again, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to all

Shareholders, Board members, the management and all employees

and partners of the Company.

TANG Xinfa

Chairman

24 March 2023
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1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

Metoprolol Succinate Sustained-Release Tablets approved to
launch

Change of joint company secretary, authorized representative

and process agent

Update on Share Transfer by Controlling Shareholder of the

Company

Metoprolol Succinate Sustained-release Tablets approved to

launch

Azithromycin Tablets approved to launch

Insulin Aspart Injection approved to launch

Insulin Aspart 30 Injection approved to launch

Major and Connected Transaction in relation to the Disposal of

Equity Interest in Sunshine Lake Pharma

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

FERET
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FEBEADNRE  BERE AR
TRERIEA

AR AR BRETTR D B E
PR KIS MERE B E LT

Mas=RELELED
FIRREZTHRERE LT
FIZ RS 30 15T /R EHLfE £

BRLERRRG I EXRBENTE
REER 5
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEW &I

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2022, under the relaxation of a series of national policies,
the social and economic performance gradually improved
while the pharmaceutical industry resumed its development.
In addition, with the moderation of medical insurance policies
and clearer tender rules, the subsequent policies for
pharmaceutical industry is expected to be stable, and China’s
pharmaceutical ecosystem will enter into a positive cycle and
usher in thriving industry development opportunities. In recent
years, the innovative drug industry in China has been highly
valued by the government and supported by national industrial
policies.

At present, with the optimization of the policy environment of
the innovative drugs and the country’s gradual improvement
of the intellectual property rights infrastructure, innovative
activities began to thrive and prosperous development in
domestic innovative drug research and development is
observed, thereby and accelerating the development of the
domestic innovative drug industry. Benefiting from favourable
policy and rapid industrial development, the number and
variety of innovative drugs approved in China have increased
sharply. Pursuant to the National Reimbursement Drug List for
Basic Medical Insurance, Work-Related Injury Insurance and
Maternity Insurance (2022) KBEIREAREE R - TSR
£ B R B 2 & B $:(20224))) issued by the National
Healthcare Security Administration and the Ministry of Human
Resources and Social Security, which has been officially
implemented on 1 March 2023, 111 types of drugs are added
in such new version of the national Medical Reimbursement
Drug List. With the normalization of adjustment to Medical
Reimbursement Drug List and the institutionalization of
national negotiation on innovative drugs, the market size of
China’s innovative drugs will be steadily expanding. The
research and development o f innovative drugs is of great
significance to China as an innovative country. The invention of
drugs with independent intellectual property rights not only
has a better therapeutic effect on major diseases, but also
reduces the dependence on new foreign drugs. Therefore, the
innovative drug industry has a higher rate of return, as well as
economic and social benefits.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Looking forward, due to the enhancement in domestic national
income level and the people’s increasing expectation for the
quality and effectiveness of drugs, the demand for effective
drugs from domestic pharmaceutical companies is expected to
surge. Therefore, pharmaceutical companies with strong
commercialization capabilities, reasonable research pipelines,
compatible R&D capabilities and funding levels, remarkable
clinical trial results and strong pharmaceutical innovation
capabilities will have better development potential and

investment value.

BUSINESS REVIEW

1.  Summary of Overall Results

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recorded revenue of RMB3,744.95 million, representing
an increase of 309.83% as compared to the
corresponding period of 2021. During the Reporting
Period, the sales volume of the Group’s core product,
Kewei, amounted to RMB3,092.71 million, representing
an increase of 457.66% as compared to the
corresponding period of last year. The increase in sales
volume of Kewei was mainly attributed to the gradually
normalized footfall and daily social activities as well as
the good recovery momentum in flow of people, the
number of diagnosis and treatment activities and the
volume of drug prescriptions in frontline medical
institutions in 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, 29 generic drugs acquired by
the Group from Sunshine Lake Pharma have been
approved for launch by the NMPA. With the successive
approval for launch of the generic drug products, the
Group’s product portfolio will be further enriched while
providing majority of patients with medical choices with

both high quality and fair price.

FERE 2022 / EE

EREHHRAN

BRERK - B R W A K B 1E
%’.Eﬂ%mﬂiﬂ%ﬂﬁx*ﬁ

FEE AR EEEE&ES&IWF‘?K
EOBRIEMS BB EROMLES -

It ABBARHEEICES Z—EEHE
BRORAE - MEENMERKFER
& IRRARMREE  BEAIFE
NERM B AEE B RE
MR EEE -

£ e
1 EEsEsE

HEZ-_—_F+-H="1—
AIEFE  AEBEZEETEAA
R¥374495B L R_F
Z —F[RHAE h1309.83% ° ¥
HEARN - ANEBEAZ D E M B
WIEEREAARK3092718
B BEXFR LM
457.66% ° ] X 4 & B8 89 35 A0
TERARHARN T -__FH
ANAERBEBEMLREEE
A#IEFEL  RBEEEEA
mE PEIONEREH S
IS TER AT ©

HE_Z-_—_F+_A=+—
H AEBUEERRGEE
Wiz h 8 Ea 29 lERBE
HEREMTRELEELT -
BEEPREE R EEEM
M TE—SEEAEEME
MAEHRE  LAERXEE
REEEEENALER -

REXRTEERNDERAF]

17



18

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E R MDA

2.  R&D PIPELINE

The Group made outstanding R&D progress in the
therapeutic areas of anti-virus, endocrine and metabolic

diseases during 2022.
1. Endocrine and metabolic diseases area

In the area of endocrine and metabolic diseases,
the Group is dedicated to the R&D of insulin
products and has a comprehensive product line,
which covers both the second and the third

generations of insulin.

The latest progress of the insulin products during

2. WMRER

—E - —F KEEERER
R E M A D W M ACH R R B
IS TEENER -

1. RDBARKBRFERD

R D W R A H KRR
g AEEBIRREEER
EmEIFTE - AATEN
EmaRE  BMEF K
ME=ZRRE= -

BEHR REERJE

the Reporting Period is as follows: mEFTERIT
Percentage
Expensed  Capitalised  Percentage of R&D
R&D R&D R&D of R&D  investment
investment  investment  investment  investment inoperating
Projects amount amount amount in revenue costs
HERA MERA
L MERA IS ON g% fHER
HH RALE EBRLEE ExEE WAL B LB
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000) (%) (%)
(ARETT) (ARE&ETRT) (ARETT) (%) (%)
Isophane Protamine Recombinant 6,579.79 - 6,579.79 0.18% 0.73%

Human Insulin Injection

(Pre-mixed 30R)
BEREEARSZ

ISR ()R 30R)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group has established a complete R&D system
for insulin series products in accordance with
standards on biosimilar drugs adopted in Europe
and the United States with quality equivalent to
originator drugs. The Recombinant Human Insulin
Injection, Insulin Glargine Injection, Insulin Aspart
Injection and Insulin Aspart 30 Injection developed
by the Group were approved to launch, and the
results of clinical trials show that the statistics of
those injection are highly consistent in terms of
efficacy, safety and stahility when compared with
the originator biologics. The Group also has a
comprehensive product line, which covers both the
second and the third generations of insulin, that
meets the clinical medication needs of doctors and
patients. Mareover, the product line adopts a yeast
expression system which is advanced in technology
and easy for large scale production.

The new drug application of Isophane Protamine
Recombinant Human Insulin Injection (Pre-mixed
30R) developed by the Group has been accepted by
the NMPA.

In addition, in order to further enrich the product
line of the Group in the field of diabetes,
Rongliflozin L-Pyroglutamic Acid, the national Class
1 innovative new drug owned by the company
acquired by the Group from Sunshine Lake Pharma,
is under Phase Ill clinical stage while biosimilar
Liraglutide has been under the pending submission
stage of new drug application. Other products have
been approved for marketing. Such products are
expected to be marketed in a rapid manner and
generate considerable sales in the future, which
will further increase the integrated strengths of
the Group and improve the revenue structure of
the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B B R am M AT

Percentage

Acquired/ Expensed  Capitalised  Percentage of R&D

R&D R&D R&D of R&D  investment

investment  investment  investment  investment in operating

Projects amount amount amount in revenue costs

BA/ MERA MERA MERRA MERA

MERA ER &N fhEx hEgx

HE &8 £ 28 LN/ BA LA

(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000) (%) (%)

(ARBTT) (AR&TRT) (ARETT) (%) (%)

RongliflozinL-Pyroglutamic Acid 39,887.19 0 39,887.19 1.07% 4.44%
ERRBRRIF

Liraglutide 17,697.37 0 17,679.37 0.47% 1.97%

MHLE AR

3. Sales Performance Review

During the Reporting Period, the sales of the Group’s core

products are as follows:

. The revenue of Kewei (Oseltamivir Phosphate)
Granules amounted to RMB2,585.15 million,
accounting for 69.03% of the total revenue;

. The revenue of Kewei (Oseltamivir Phosphate)
Capsules amounted to RMB507.55 million,

accounting for 13.55% of the total revenue;

. The revenue of Ertongshu (Benzbromarone Tablets)
amounted to RMB98.42 million, accounting for
2.63% of the total revenue;

. The revenue of Oumeining (Telmisartan Tablets)
amounted to RMB62.92 million, accounting for
1.68% of the total revenue;

20 YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

J The revenue of Olmesartan Tablets amounted to
RMB44.26 million, accounting for 1.18% of the
total revenue; and

. The revenue of Clarithromycin Tablets amounted to
RMB33.60 million, accounting for 0.90% of the
total revenue.

The total revenue of the above-mentioned six drugs,
being the core products of the Group, accounted for

88.97% of the total revenue during the Reporting Period.

The Company’s core product, Kewei, is the first-line drug
for treatment of influenza in the PRC, which can be used
in the treatment and prevention of Influenza A and
Influenza B. It is included in the National Drug List for
Basic Medical Insurance, Work-Related Injury Insurance
and Maternity Insurance (2022 Version) and is listed in
the Influenza Treatment Guidance (2020 version) ({77

HREZEAR(ZE-ZTF))).

During the Reoprting Period, the Group adjusted the
division of labour of the sales teams in accordance with
the market demand, i.e. a self-operated sales team
responsible for the academic promotion of core drugs in
graded hospitals and primary medical institutions, a new
retail sales team responsible for all drugs in chain
pharmacies, non-bidding markets and online hospitals,
and a centralized sales team respaonsible for centralized
procurement of drugs by the PRC government. During the
Reporting Period, the Company has started to expand its
online pharmacy channel and cooperated with a number
of well-known online channel operators. As of 31
December 2022, the Group has a total of 1,726 staff in
its sales teams. The establishment and development of
these multi-channel sales teams shall lay a solid
foundation to the sales volume of the Group’s product
portfolio in all sales channels.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEW &I

Production Review

The Group adheres to the belief of “For Everyone’s
Health” and strives to provide high quality medicine to
patients. Led by this belief, the Group enhances its
production system constantly, strengthens its
supervision on the production process and improves the
quality of products and services continuously.

At the same time, the Group is highly attentive to
production safety and environmental protection. In
respect of production safety, the Group always considers
production safety as the core of production
management, attaches great importance to labour
protection and production safety management, pays
attention to the health and safety of employees,
advocates safety culture, and forms a positive
atmosphere in which all staff in the factory concern
about safety and pay attention to safety in everything. In
respect of environmental protection, the Company
attaches great importance to environmental protection
and earnestly implements advanced environmental
protection concept such as “Environmental protection
originates from design. Production processes must help
reducing pollution sources, cleanup and recycling of
three kinds of waste, clean and green production”. The
Group constantly applies new technologies, new
processes and new methods to comprehensively improve
its governance capabilities and standard, and has
achieved energy conservation and consumption
reduction of ultra-low emissions and circular economy
that outperform national standards.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm A

lll. OPERATING RESULTS AND ANALYSIS . REXERDH

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recorded a revenue of RMB3,744.95 million, representing
an increase of 309.83% as compared with the
carresponding period of 2021. During the Reporting
Period, the Group’s revenue from Kewei amounted to
RMB3,092.70 million, representing an increase of
457.66% compared to the corresponding period last
year. The increase in sales volume of Kewei was mainly
attributed to the gradually normalized footfall and daily
sacial activities as well as the good recovery momentum
in flow of people, the number of diagnosis and treatment
activities and the volume of drug prescriptions in
frontline medical institutions in 2022. In the future, with
the launch and promotion of more product portfolios of
the Group, together with the Group’s further effort on
academic promotion and the expansion of new channels,
the overall performance of the Group is expected to be

further improved.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BRI RSN

The table below sets forth the revenue of the Group by TRV AEESABEERE
therapeutic areas as a percentage of total revenue. mAEEWAGBEERENT

DR

Drugs Year ended 31 December Chane
Registration BET-A=T-BLFE compared
Classification 2022 2021 with last year
ERdma% b3 i S 3 54314
(RMB'000) % (RMB'000) % %)
(AT 7) % (ARETR) % (%)
Anti-viral drugs 3,116,059 83.21% 559,973 61.28% 456.47%
WREED
— Kewei (Oseltamivir Phosphate) Granules (lass 5 active chemical drug 2,585,151 69.03% 469,477 51.38% 450,64%
— R (BEEAE) Bl RitEsE
— Kewei (Oseltamivir Phosphate) Capsules Class 6 active chemical drug 507,554 13.55% 85,109 9.31% 496.36%
—IF(BRRDNE) B RitE6E
Endocrine and metabolic drugs 113,497 3.03% 77,633 8.50% 46.20%
RAERRHEY
— Ertongshu (Benzbromarane Tablets) Class 4 active chemical drug 98,424 2.63% 77,134 8.44% 27.60%
~BR#(RREER) R4
Anti-infectives drugs 87,190 2.33% 80,689 8.83% 8.06%
2SS
— Linluoxing (Moxifloxacin Hydrochloride Tablets) Class 4 chemical drug 29,653 0.79% 20,466 2.24% 44.89%
~WEE (BREENER) L84%
— (larithromycin Tablets (lass 6 chemical drug 33,599 0.90% 25,543 2.80% 31.54%
—~RiEER LE6%
Cardiovascular and cerebrovascular drugs 150,114 4.01% 96,148 10.52% 56.13%
DENEED
— Olmesartan Tablets (lass 4 chemical drug 44,257 1.18% 37,148 4.07% 19.14%
—BXVRER g4z
— Xinhanining (Amlodipine Tablets) Class 4 chemical drug 9,803 0.26% 4,783 0.52% 104.96%
~MEE(ERHTH) 248
— Oumeining (Telmisartan Tablets) Class 2 chemical drug 62,922 1.68% 49,683 5.44% 26.65%
—BERE(RADER) 228
Others 278,092 7.42% 99,345 10.87% 179.93%
K
Total 3,744,952 100% 913,788 100% 309.83%
a3t
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales consists of (i) cost of raw
materials, primarily including cost of active
pharmaceutical ingredient, ancillary materials and
packaging materials; (ii) labour cost, primarily including
salaries and benefits of our staff directly involved in
manufacturing of our products; (iii) manufacturing cost,
primarily including depreciation of machinery, equipment
and plant and cost of labour protection materials, fuel,
machine oil and maintenance; and (iv) patent fees paid
to third parties in relation to various patents and

licences.

The Group’s cost of sales increased by 109.00% to
RMB898.88 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 from RMB430.09 million for the year ended 31
December 2021, which was mainly due to the increase in
sales volume of the Company’s core product Kewei
during the Reporting Period.

Gross Profit

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s gross
profit was RMB2,846.07 million, representing an increase
of 488.40% as compared with RMB483.70 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021. It was mainly due to the
increase in sales volume of the Company’s core product
Kewei during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERETHRAN

Other Net Expenses/Income

Other net expenses/income of the Group mainly included
(1) government subsidies, primarily representing
amortization of government subsidies for the
construction of the production line for Kewei recognized
by instalments in accordance with accounting standards,
and other subsidies or incentives granted by the local
government; (2) interest income; (3) net foreign
exchange; (4) fair value change on convertible bonds
embedded in conversion option; (5) net profit or loss of
disposal of fixed assets; (6) impairment loss on intangible

assets and goodwill; and (7) other miscellaneous gains.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s other
net losses were RMB844.33 million, representing a
decrease of RMB930.29 million as compared to other
income of RMB85.96 million for the year ended 31
December 2021, which was due to the fair value change
and exchange loss arising from convertible bonds, and

impairment losses on intangible assets and goodwill.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Expenses Analysis

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s total
expenses amounted to RMB1,962.31 million,

representing an increase of 58.67% as compared to
RMB1,236.73 million for the year ended 31 December

2021. The main components of the Group’s expenses are

as follows:
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R#¥1,862318 8L REE
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Year ended 31 December

BEt+t-A=1+—HLEE

Change
compared
2022 2021  with last year
—ET_= —E-—F El>4:-2(4
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (%)
(AR¥Tr) (AREFIIT) (%)
Distribution costs PoR =D 1,216,590 521,667 133.21%
Administrative expenses 1T B IR 338,452 358,402 -5.57%
Research and GIREID PN
development cost 129,614 109,673 18.18%
(Reversal)/recognition of (@) WRE 5N
impairment loss on E U IR
trade and other FEEE
receivables (3,995) 3,176 -225.79%
Finance costs BB 281,646 243,807 15.52%
1,962,307 1,236,725 58.67%

Distribution costs mainly consist of (1) marketing

expenses relating to conducting academic promotion

activities and other marketing activities; (2) travelling

expenses for marketing purposes; (3) labour cost; and (4)

other expenses.

DK ATEBIE (D) EBRR
BiiEREMEHEHNE
AR () BB B2 E Ik
B (3B TRAR - Fo(4) Eft
DN

FERE 2022 /| EERG AR TIEERMNER AR

27



28

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The increase in distribution costs was mainly due to (1)
the corresponding increase in marketing costs driven by
increasing sales scale of the Group’s products; and (2) an
increase in marketing expenses and travelling expenses
relating to the organization of academic promotion
activities and other marketing activities, which were
mainly due to the fact that the pandemic prevention and
control in China has generally stabilized, the flow of
people and daily social activities have gradually returned
to normal, resulting in an increase in activities in the
Group’s academic promotion and the expansion of new
channels.

Administrative expenses mainly consist of (1) salary and
welfare benefits for the management and administrative
personnel; (2) depreciation and amortization costs
relating to our office facilities and land use rights; and (3)
other miscellaneous expenses. The decrease in
administrative costs was mainly due to the decrease in
miscellaneous costs, staff cost and depreciation cost
incurred for the new workshops have not been put into

production.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s total
investment in R&D amounted to RMB199.24 million,
representing 5.32% of the revenue and a decrease of
19.08% as compared to the corresponding period of last
year, among which expenses were RMB129.61 million

and capitalized expenditures were RMB69.62 million.

Finance costs mainly consist of interest expense for bank

loans and convertible bonds.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Profit/Loss Before Taxation

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s profit
before taxation amounted to RMB39.42 million in total,
representing an increase o f RMB706.60 million as
compared to the loss before taxation of RMB667.18
million for the year ended 31 December 2021, which was
mainly due to the increase in sales volume of core

product Kewei.

Other Operating Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2022, other operating
expenses of the Group amounted to RMB0.01 million,

which was mainly donation expenditure.

Income Tax

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the income tax
credit of the Group amounted to RMBS.82 million, and
the income tax credit of RMB79.46 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021. The decrease in income tax
credit was mainly due to the increase of profit before
taxation.
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10.

Profit for the Reporting Period

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recorded a net profit amounted to RMB49.24 million,
representing an increase of 108.38% as compared to the
net loss of RMB587.72 million for the year ended 31
December 2021, which was mainly due to the increase in

sales volume of care product Kewei.

Profit/Loss and Total Comprehensive Income
attributable to Equity Shareholders of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2022, profit and total
comprehensive income attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company was RMB76.60 million,
representing an increase of RMB664.25 million as
compared to loss and total comprehensive income
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
RMB587.65 million for the year ended 31 December
2021, which was mainly due to the gradually normalized
footfall and daily social activities as well as the good
recovery momentum in flow of people, the number of
diagnosis and treatment activities and the volume of
drug prescriptions in frontline medical institutions in
2022, resulting in a significant recovery of the sales and
a substantial increase in sales volume of Kewei, the core

product of the Group.
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IV. FINANCIAL POSITION IV. BI#ARR

1.

Overview 1.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s total assets
amounted to RMB11,889.80 million, with total liabilities
of RMB5,819.80 million and shareholders’ equity of
RMB6,070.00 million.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s capital is derived
from sales of product and are used in production halls
construction, distribution and administrative
management etc. The management of the Company has
clear goals and records in budget, financial and operating
performance, and actively monitors them and regularly
evaluates internal control measures.
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Net Current Assets

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERETHRAN

The following table sets forth our current assets, current

liabilities and net current assets for the date indicated.

RBEEFE
TRBFIBIRFR B BT
PEE RDAERGDEE
EME -

As at 31 December

R+=HB=+—8H
2022 2021
—E—— —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT AREFTT
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 315,027 279,696
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b W IR 1,036,916 546,791
Prepayments TEfFFRIE 59,433 7,776
Financial assets measured at FVPL AR BETEAEH
AAABENEREE 290,000 -
Non-current assets held for sale BIEREZIERBEE 2,312,320 -
Restricted cash FRIES 76,781 91,992
Cash and cash equivalents HeMIREeEED 923,543 1,131,121
Total current assets REEEME 5,014,020 2,057,376
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 M E M E IR 1,718,222 911,680
Contract liabilities aRAE 75,386 74,903
Bank loans and other borrowings ~ $R{TE R EME K 223,343 48,477
Interest-bearing borrowings FHEER 2,906,963 -
Deferred income RIEN z 8,195 4,379
Current taxation BIHEARE IR 8,672 198,625
Total current liabilities BwREBEE 4,940,781 1,238,064
Net current assets FRBEE 6,949,019 9,303,517
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recorded the total current assets of RMB5,014.02
million, as compared to RMB2,057.38 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021. During the Reporting Period,
the current assets increased due to the increase in sales;
and the investment in equity interest in Sunshine Lake
Pharma was reclassified from non-current asset to
current asset as the equity transfer agreement signed
and expected to dispose within one year.

Intangible Assets

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s
intangible assets was RMB2,920.65 million, representing
a decrease of RMB351.34 million as compared to
RMB3,271.99 million for the year ended 31 December
2021. The decrease in intangible assets was mainly due
to the amortization and impairment loss was recognised
for some generic drugs and Hepatitis C Asset Group.

Gearing Ratio and Quick Ratio

Gearing ratio represents total interest-bearing
borrowings as at a record date divided by total
shareholders’ equity as at the same record date. Quick
ratio represents current assets excluding inventories as
at a record date divided by current liabilities as at the
same record date.

The gearing ratio and the quick ratio of the Group as at
31 December 2022 were 62.96% and 0.95 times,
respectively. The gearing ratio and the quick ratio of the
Group as at 31 December 2021 were 53.04% and 1.44
times, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Bank Loans and other borrowings

For the year ended 31 December 2022, all bank loans of
the Group were denominated in RMB. For the year ended
31 December 2022, the Group’s loans balance included
RMB776.93 million of bank loan and RMB137.94 million
of obligation arising from sales and lease back
transactions, representing an increase of RMB321.49
million as compared to RMB593.38 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021. The Group is in good liquidity
position with sufficient funding and has no repayment
risk.

Foreign Currency Exposure

The Group mainly operates in the PRC and the exposure
in exchange rate risks mainly arises from fluctuations in
the Renminbi exchange rates. However, some of the
interest-bearing borrowings of the Group was
denominated in US Dollars. During the Reporting Period,
the Group had a net foreign exchange loss of RMB212.9
million as compared to a net foreign exchange gain of
RMB49.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021,
the amounts mainly represent foreign exchange loss
arising from the translation of interest-bearing
borrowings which was denominated in US Dollars in
2022 and 2021.

The Group, after reviewing its exposure for the time
being, did not enter into any derivative contracts aimed
at minimising exchange rate risks during the year.
However, management will monitor foreign currency
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign

currency exposure if necessary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capital Expenditure

In order to meet the production demand for our
products, the Group constructed plants and buildings,
purchased administration offices, machines and
equipment, acquired the ownership of approvals for
purchasing, manufacturing and launching certain
pharmaceutical products in 2022 with an aggregate
capital expenditure of RMB853.06 million.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities,
litigation or arbitration of material importance as at 31
December 2022.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

On 23 December 2022, the Company (as the transferaor),
Shenzhen HEC Industrial (as the transferee) and Sunshine
Lake Pharma (being the target company) entered into an
equity transfer agreement, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to transfer and Shenzhen HEC Industrial
agreed to acquire the capital contribution in the amount
of RMB27,720,405 (representing 9.9134% of equity
interest) of Sunshine Lake Pharma held by the Company
at a consideration of RMB2,312,319,650.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 23 December 2022 and 28 March 2023 and the
circular of the Company dated 10 March 2023 for details.
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10.

11.

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended 31 December
2022, the Group did not have any immediate plan for
material investments or acquisition of material capital

assets.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2022, land use rights held for own
use amounting to RMB159.32 million (2021: RMB83.83
million), fixed assets held for own use amounting to
RMB930.77 million (2021: RMB262.15 million) and
construction in progress amounting to RMB409.08
million (2021: RMB258.40 million) held by the Group
were pledged for bank loans and other borrowings.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total amount
of RMB49.04 million bill receivables that were pledged
as securities for the issuance of new banks’ acceptance
bills and bank loans (2021: RMB19.58 million).
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12.

Employee and Remuneration Policies

@

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm A

Human Resource Summary

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
had a total of 4,167 employees. The staff costs,
including Directors’ emoluments but excluding any
contributions to pension scheme, were

approximately RMB612.18 million for the year

ended 31 December 2022.

12.

BERFMBUER

(1) ADERER

HEZZ-_—_F+=H
=+ —HIEFE  AEE
HERE4167TA - HE
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AERARSFT BRI DR
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by age: REREED -

Number Percentage
Age Distribution FiRoh A" Aotk
30 or below 30BRE AT 897 21.53%
31-50 (inclusive) 31-505% (%) 3,150 75.59%
Above 50 505% A £ 120 2.88%
Total = 4,167 100%
by education: REREED

Number Percentage
Education Level XALRE A B
Master or above s 88 2.11%
Bachelor AR 1,346 32.30%
Associate K= 1,460 35.04%
Vocational or below ERIAR 1,273 30.55%
Total &5t 4,167 100%
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Remuneration Policy

The objective of the Group’s remuneration policy is
to motivate and retain talented employees to
ensure the Group’s development. Such policy is
determined by taking into consideration factors
such as remuneration in respect of the overall
remuneration standard in the industry and
employee motivation. The management of the
Company will review the remuneration policy of
employees of the Group on a regular basis.

Employee Benefits

The Group strictly complies with the Labour Law of
the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC and
the Social Insurance Law of the PRC, under which it
contributes various social insurance premiums and
housing provident fund for employees. In addition
to the statutory requirements of the PRC, the
Group has established corresponding systems such
as the Corporate Annuity Plan, Housing Welfare
and Children’s Welfare, and set up public welfare
facilities such as kindergarten and infirmary room.
In the future, the Group will provide employees
with more benefits and protections in accordance

with its development progress.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Gender Diversity Policy and Future Plans

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the number
of male and female employees of the Group was
2,257 and 1,910, respectively. In order to achieve
gender diversity, the Company strictly complies
with laws and regulations including the Labour
Law of the PRC and the Labour Contract Law of the
PRC, and has formulated the Equal Employment
system to review the relevant information of male
and female candidates based on the same
standards and requirements in the recruitment
process. In terms of talent promotion and senior
management election, the Company has always
adhered to the principles of openness, fairness and
impartiality in the selection of male and female
employees. The content of the assessment is based
on uniform standards to ensure that male and
female employees have the same opportunities to

be promoted to the Company’s management.
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In the future, the Company will further increase
the proportion of female employees, especially the
gender ratio of female employees among senior
management. In order to better implement gender
diversity, the Company will assist female senior
managers in developing their careers, provide
guarantees for female career development in terms
of performance appraisal, talent training and other
policies, encourage the Board to promote and
recruit female employees, and carry out
professional training for female employees. In
addition, the Company will systematically guide
and encourage capable female to join the
Company’s management and increase the

AR RNRBFE— IR
FHEE B T - 455l
RXMBTESREEA
BRmMERILS - B TE
R BRI Z T - AN
RAEBB NS RE IR
ANEREEESRR  #E
MEZ - AT BEFRR
HEAKTMENBEERR
HRE ZBHEEFSR
W EEZMEBTHM
A ARZXEETINEE
B e bbsh - NA BB
Rt sl B MR A B

proportion of female employees in the BE R IEMMAKR A EE
management. BE RAXBEIRLE
BIEM LG o
Number Percentage
By Gender 4 5 & 2 AE Aotk
Number of Male Staff BHEETE 2,257 54.16%
Number of Female Staff B TE 1,910 45.84%

Note: The above breakdown includes senior management.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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V. OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS V. HhtEKXEIR

Metoprolol Succinate Sustained-Release Tablets
Approved to Launch

Metoprolol Succinate Sustained-release Tablets
(specifications: 47.5mg and 95mg) acquired by the
Company from Sunshine Lake Pharma has undergone the
assessment and approval process and obtained approval
for launch from the NMPA. Metoprolol Succinate
Sustained-release Tablets are frequently used for clinical
treatment of high blood pressure and chronic heart
failure. They have considerable clinical value and market
prospect and will become one of the products of the
Company for the treatment of cardiovascular diseases
after its launch. This can further enrich the Group’s
product portfolio, and will publicly provide patients with
a choice of medication with high quality and fair price.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
10 January 2022 for details.

Change of Joint Company Secretary, Authorized
Representative and Process Agent

Ms. NG Wing Shan has tendered her resignation as a joint
company secretary of the Company (the “Joint Company
Secretary”), an authorized representative of the
Company (the “Authorized Representative”) under Rule
3.05 of the Listing Rules and an authorized
representative for the acceptance of service of process
and notices on behalf of the Company in Hong Kong
under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Process Agent”) with
effect from 25 February 2022 due to personal reasons;
and Mr. WONG Wai Chiu has been appointed as the Jaint
Company Secretary, an Authorized Representative and
the Process Agent in place of Ms. NG Wing Shan on the
same day. Mr. PENG Qiyun will continue to serve as the
other Joint Company Secretary.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
25 February 2022 for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERETHRAN

Azithromycin Tablets Approved to Launch

Azithromycin Tablets (specifications: 0.25g and 0.5g), a
product acquired by the Company from Sunshine Lake
Pharma, has undergone the assessment and approval
process and obtained approval for launch from the
NMPA. Azithromycin tablets are systemic antibiotics,
which are mainly used to treat infections caused by
sensitive bacteria, belongs to Class A under the National
Drug Catalog for Basic Medical Insurance, Work-Related
Injury Insurance, and Maternity Insurance (2021 edition)
and is also an item listed on the National Essential Drugs
List (2018 edition). It has considerable clinical value and
market prospect and will become one of the products of
the Company for the treatment of anti-infectious disease
after its launch. This can further enrich the Group’s
product portfolio, and will provide patients with a choice
of medication with high quality and fair price.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
8 March 2022 for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Proposed Adjustment of Remuneration of Mr. LI Xuechen

On 21 March 2022, the Remuneration and Evaluation
Committee has considered and the Board has considered
and approved that the remuneration of Mr. LI Xuechen,
an independent non-executive Director, be adjusted from
RMB160,000 per annum to RMB340,000 per annum (the
“Proposed Adjustment”). The Proposed Adjustment has
been approved by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 2 June 2022.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 21 March 2022 and 2 June 2022 for details.

Continuing Connected Transactions and Connected
Transactions

On 27 April 2022, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Energy Purchase Framework
Agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed to
purchase electricity and steam power required for its
production from Shenzhen HEC Industrial. The annual
cap under the Energy Purchase Framework Agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2022 is RMB56,000,000.

On 27 April 2022, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the APIs Purchase Agreement,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase
certain active pharmaceutical ingredients (“APIs”) such
as Aripiprazole, Rivaroxaban, Escitalopram Oxalate and
Clarithromycin from Shenzhen HEC Industrial. The annual
cap under the APIs Purchase Agreement for the year
ended 31 December 2022 is RMB40,000,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEW &I

On 27 April 2022, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Packaging and Production
Materials Purchase Framework Agreement, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to purchase specific
packaging materials and production materials from
Shenzhen HEC Industrial. The annual cap under the
Packaging and Production Materials Purchase Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2022 is
RMB36,000,000.

On 27 April 2022, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Equipment Purchase and Civil
Construction Framework Agreement, pursuant to which
the Company agreed to purchase certain equipment and
civil construction services from Shenzhen HEC Industrial.
The annual cap under the Equipment Purchase and Civil
Construction Framewaork Agreement for the year ended
31 December 2022 is RMB37,000,000.

On 27 April 2022, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Entrusted Processing
Framework Agreement, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to purchase pharmaceutical processing services
for its certain pharmaceutical products, including
Olmesartan Tablets, Moxifloxacin Hydrochloride Tablets,
Clarithromycin Tablets, Aripiprazole Tablets, Levofloxacin
Tablets, Rivaroxaban Tablets, Duloxetine Enteric-coated
Capsules, Escitalopram Oxalate Tablets, Xadiafil Tablets,
Aripiprazole Orally Disintegrating Tablets, Entacapone
Tablets, Febuxostat Tablets, Apixaban Tablets, Mitoglol
Sustained Release Tablets, Atorvastatin Calcium Tablets,
Rongliflozin and other APIs from Shenzhen HEC Industrial.
The annual cap under the Entrusted Processing
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31 December
2022 is RMB103,066,200.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 27 April 2022, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Leasing and Other Services
Framework Agreement, pursuant to which Shenzhen HEC
Industrial will provide office buildings and warehouse
leasing, inspection and testing service, conference
accommodation and other services to the Company. The
annual cap under the Leasing and Other Services
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31 December
2022 is RMB27,000,000.

On 27 April 2022, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the APIs and Pharmaceutical
Products Sales Framework Agreement, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to sell APIs such as
Esomeprazole Magnesium, Oseltamivir Phosphate,
Olanzapine, Entacapone, Febuxostat and chemical
pharmaceutical products to Shenzhen HEC Industrial.
The annual cap under the APIs and Pharmaceutical
Products Sales Framework Agreement for the year ended
31 December 2022 is RMB15,012,000.

On 27 April 2022, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Entrusted Production and
Inspection Services Framewaork Agreement, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to provide production and
inspection services to Shenzhen HEC Industrial. The
scope of the entrusted production and inspection
services includes provision of production, inspection and
testing services to Dong An Tai, Dong An Qiang, Peramivir,
Galantamine, Baloxavir, Paliperidone Palmitate, other
generic drugs, other new drugs, insulin degludec APIs
and injection, insulin degludec/insulin aspart, insulin
degludec/liraglutide injection and intermediates of
generic drugs. The annual cap under the Entrusted
Production and Inspection Services Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2022 is
RMB59,000,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEW &I

The above agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder (including respective proposed
annual caps) were approved by the Shareholders at the
2022 first extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 22 August 2022. For details of the transactions
under the above agreements, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 27 April 2022 and
22 August 2022 and the circular of the Company dated 2
August 2022.

As at the nine months ended 30 September 2022, the
transaction amount under the Packaging and Production
Materials Purchase Framework Agreement has amounted
to approximately RMB28,767,200, representing
utilization of approximately 79.9% of the Original Annual
Cap of RMB36,000,000 with only approximately one-fifth
of the Original Annual Cap available for the production to
be carried out in the fourth quarter of 2022. In order to
satisfy the production needs of the Group for the fourth
quarter of 2022, the Directors proposed to increase the
annual cap under the Packaging and Production Materials
Purchase Framework Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2022. After taking into account of the
expected sales volume of the drugs manufactured by the
Group and the inventories of the Group, the Company
increased the annual cap under the Packaging and
Production Materials Purchase Framewark Agreement by
RMB9,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022.
Accordingly, the annual cap under the Packaging and
Production Materials Purchase Framework Agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2022 has been revised
to RMB45,000,000. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 27 October 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Update on Share Transfer by Controlling Shareholder of
the Company

On 7 June 2022, the Company was informed by
Guangdong HEC (the “Parent Company”) that, the
remaining 111,901,200 H shares of the Company
(equivalent to 12.72% of the issued share capital of the
Company) held by the Parent Company have been
transferred and registered under the name of HEC (Hong
Kong).

Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 31 August 2021, 11 November 2021, 10 December
2021, 20 December 2021, 30 December 2021 and 7 June
2022 for details.

Partial Repurchase of the H Share Convertible Bonds

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the instrument
(the “Bond Instrument” and such terms and conditions,
being the “Conditions”) dated 20 February 2019 in
respect of the US$400,000,000 3.0% H Share convertible
bonds issued by the Company (the “Bonds”), the
Company may at any time and from time to time
purchase the Bonds at any price in the open market or
otherwise. In accordance with the Conditions, the
Company entered into a bond purchase agreement with
holders of the Bonds (the “Sellers”) on 8 September
2022, pursuant to which the Company agreed to
purchase certain Bonds (i) in the aggregate principal
amount o f US$95,337,821 from the Sellers at the total
purchase price of US$127,317,844, or (ii) in the
aggregate principal amount of US$110,675,641 from the
Sellers at the total purchase price of US$147,306,079.
The total purchase price was determined with reference
to the calculation formula in respect of Early Redemption
Amount under the Bond Instrument. The said repurchase
was completed on 26 September 2022.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
8 September 2022 for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERETHRAN

Pledge of Shares by Controlling Shareholder

On 14 October 2022, as informed by HEC (Hong Kong)
that it has pledged the 226,200,000 H shares in the
issued share capital of the Company held by it,
representing approximately 25.71% of the issued share
capital of the Company as of the date of this Annual
Report (the “Pledged H Shares”) in favour of an
independent third-party lender for a loan provided by
the independent third-party lender to Sunshine Lake
Pharma (the “Loan”). The Loan is used for the acquisition
of H shares of the Company by HEC (Hong Kong), which
has been completed on 29 December 2021. Meanwhile,
an independent third-party custodian was appointed by
HEC (Hong Kong) to hold the Pledged H Shares on trust.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 31 August 2021, 11 November 2021, 10 December
2021, 20 December 2021, 30 December 2021, 22 April
2022 and 14 October 2022 for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB i DT

Insulin Aspart Injection Approved to Launch

Insulin Aspart Injection, independently researched and
developed by the Company, has undergone the
assessment and approval process and obtained approval
for launch from the NMPA. Insulin Aspart Injection is the
third generation of fast-acting mealtime Insulin, which is
currently a commonly used drug for mainstream insulin
intensive therapy. It is mainly used for controlling the
postprandial blood glucose level of diabetic patients and
is suitable for patients who have a poor blood glucose
control despite receiving oral hypoglycemic drug
treatment. Insulin Aspart Injection being successfully
approved to launch marks the completion of the Group’s
basic layout in the insulin industry, and will be beneficial
for the expansion of the Group’s business of treating
endocrine and metabolic diseases and further enrich the
Group’s product portfolio.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
18 October 2022 for details.

Insulin Aspart 30 Injection Approved to Launch

Insulin Aspart 30 Injection, independently researched
and developed by the Company, has undergone the
assessment and approval process and obtained approval
for launch from the NMPA. Insulin Aspart 30 Injection is a
premixed insulin, out of which, 30% is soluble insulin
aspart and 70% is protamine insulin aspart. Insulin
Aspart 30 Injection is suitable for the treatment of
diabetes and can be injected with meals. The higher
attainment rate of glycosylated hemoglobin (Hb Alc)
enables better control of both fasting and postprandial
blood glucose. It has significant advantages in improving
glycemic control, reducing the risk of hypoglycemia,
improving compliance and saving medical costs, so it is
more suitable for high-risk patients with impaired
perception of hypoglycemia. Insulin Aspart 30 Injection
being successfully approved for launch will be beneficial
for the expansion of the Group’s business of treating
endocrine and metabolic diseases and further enrich the
Group’s product portfolio.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
8 November 2022 for details.

Major and Connected Transaction in relation to the
Disposal of Equity Interest in Sunshine Lake Pharma

On 23 December 2022, the Company (as the transferor),
Shenzhen HEC Industrial (as the transferee) and Sunshine
Lake Pharma (being the target company) entered into an
equity transfer agreement, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to transfer and Shenzhen HEC Industrial
agreed to acquire the capital contribution in the amount
of RMB27,720,405 (representing 9.9134% of equity
interest) of Sunshine Lake Pharma held by the Company
at a consideration of RMB2,312,319,650. The transaction
has been approved by the independent Shareholders at
the 2023 first extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 28 March 2023.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 23 December 2022, 10 March 2023 and 28 March
2023, and the circular of the Company dated 10 March
2023 for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

VI. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

1.

Partial Repurchase of the H Share Convertible Bonds

The Company entered into a bond purchase agreement
with the Sellers on 13 January 2023, pursuant to which
the Company agreed to purchase certain Bonds (1) in the
aggregate principal amount of US$28,311,534 from the
Sellers at the total purchase price of US$40,000,000 on
or before 31 January 2023 (the “First Trench
Repurchased Bonds”); and (2) in the aggregate principal
amount of US$43,118,778 from the Sellers at the total
purchase price of US$60,000,000 on or before 28
February 2023 (the “Second Trench Repurchased
Bonds”). The total purchase price was determined after
arm’s length negotiation between the Company and the
Sellers.

On 27 February 2023, the Company further entered into
a supplemental agreement with the Sellers in respect of
the Second Trench Repurchased Bonds (the
“Supplemental Agreement”), under which the Company
and the Sellers agreed to revise the date of repurchase
of part of the Second Trench Repurchased Bonds.
Pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement, the Company
agreed to complete the repurchase of the Second Trench
Repurchased Bonds from the Sellers on or before 15
March 2023. The total purchase price for the Second
Trench Repurchased Bonds remained unchanged at
US$60,000,000.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 13 January 2023 and 27 February 2023 for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Continuing Connected Transactions

On 10 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Leasing and Other Services
Framework Agreement, pursuant to which Shenzhen HEC
Industrial will provide leasing of office buildings,
warehouse, inspection and testing services, conference
accommodation and other services to the Company
during the three years ending 31 December 2025. The
proposed annual caps under the Leasing and Other
Services Framework Agreement for the three years
ending 31 December 2025 are RMB12,383,300,
RMB12,999,500 and RMB13,003,300, respectively.

On 10 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the APIs and Pharmaceutical
Products Sales Framework Agreement, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to sell APIs such as
Esomeprazole Magnesium, Oseltamivir Phosphate,
Olanzapine, Entacapone and Febuxostat to Shenzhen HEC
Industrial during the three years ending 31 December
2025. The proposed annual caps under the APIs and
Pharmaceutical Products Sales Framework Agreement
for the each of three years ending 31 December 2025 are
RMB18,000,000, RMB20,000,000 and RMB22,000,000,

respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREHHRAN

On 27 February 2023:

ey

2

the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial entered
into the Energy Purchase Framework Agreement,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase
electricity and steam power required for its
production from Shenzhen HEC Industrial during
the three years ending 31 December 2025. The
proposed annual caps under the Energy Purchase
Framework Agreement for the each of the three
years ending 31 December 2025 are
RMB50,400,000, RMB56,750,000 and
RMB56,750,000, respectively.

the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial entered
into the APIs Purchase Agreement, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to purchase certain
APls such as Aripiprazole, Rivaroxaban,
Escitalopram Oxalate, Clarithromycin from
Shenzhen HEC Industrial during the three years
ending 31 December 2025. The proposed annual
caps under the APIs Purchase Agreement for each
of the three years ending 31 December 2025 are
RMB38,946,300, RMB53,786,800 and
RMB75,442,100, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B B R am M AT

(€)

4)

the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial entered
into the Packaging and Production Materials
Purchase Framework Agreement, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to purchase packaging
materials for packaging and production of the
drugs manufactured by the Group from Shenzhen
HEC Industrial during the three years ending 31
December 2025. The proposed annual caps under
the Packaging and Production Materials Purchase
Framework Agreement for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2025 are RMB40,600,000,
RMB40,600,000 and RMB40,600,000, respectively.

the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial entered
into the Equipment Purchase and Civil Construction
Framework Agreement, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to purchase certain equipment
and civil construction services from Shenzhen HEC
Industrial during the three years ending 31
December 2025. The proposed annual caps under
the Equipment Purchase and Civil Construction
Framework Agreement for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2025 are RMB27,050,000,
RMB7,900,000 and RMB7,900,000, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB i DT

the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial entered
into the Entrusted Processing Framework
Agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed
to purchase processing services for its certain
pharmaceutical products, including Olmesartan
Tablets, Moxifloxacin Tablets, Clarithromycin
Tablets, Aripiprazole Tablets, Levofloxacin Tablets,
Rivaroxaban Tablets, Duloxetine Enteric-coated
Capsules, Escitalopram Oxalate Tablets, Xadiafil
Tablets, Aripiprazole Orally Disintegrating Tablets,
Entacapone Tablets, Rongliflozin and other APIs
from Shenzhen HEC Industrial during the three
years ending 31 December 2025. The proposed
annual caps under the Entrusted Processing
Framework Agreement for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2025 are RMB94,805,500,
RMB108,832,000 and RMB139,468,200,

respectively.

the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial entered
into the Equipment Sales Framework Agreement,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell
specific pharmaceutical production equipment
(including Glatter fluidized bed), quality inspection
equipment and other equipment to Shenzhen HEC
Industrial. The proposed annual cap under the
Equipment Sales Framework Agreement for the
year ending 31 December 2023 is RMB30,496,500.

5)

(6)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEW &I

(7)  the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial entered
into the Entrusted Production and Inspection
Services Framework Agreement, pursuant to which
the Company agreed to provide production and
inspection services to Shenzhen HEC Industrial
during the three years ending 31 December 2025.
The scope of the entrusted production and
inspection services includes provision of
production, inspection and testing services to Dong
An Tai, Dong An Qiang, Dong An Rui , Dong Tong
Shen , other generic drugs, other new drugs, insulin
degludec/insulin aspart, insulin degludec/
liraglutide injection and intermediates of generic
drugs. The proposed annual caps under the
Entrusted Production and Inspection Services
Framework Agreement for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2025 are RMB105,230,000,
RMB68,992,000 and RMB49,250,000, respectively.

The abovementioned (1) Energy Purchase Framework
Agreement, (2) APIs Purchase Agreement, (3) Packaging
and Production Materials Purchase Framework
Agreement, (4) Equipment Purchase and Civil
Construction Framework Agreement, (5) Entrusted
Processing Framework Agreement, (6) Equipment Sales
Framework Agreement and (7) Entrusted Production and
Inspection Services Framewaork Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder (including the
respective annual caps) are subject to the approval by
the independent Shareholders at an extraordinary
general meeting of the Company, details of which will be

announced by the Company in due course.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 10 February 2023 and 27 February 2023 for
details.

Third Agreement in relation to the Partial Repurchase of
the H Share Convertible Bonds

On 8 March 2023, the Company entered into a third bond
purchase agreement with the Sellers, pursuant to which
the Company agreed to purchase certain Bonds (the
“Partial Repurchase of Bonds”) (i) in the aggregate
principal amount of US$38,547,623 from the Sellers at
the total purchase price of US$54,075,477 on or before 3
April 2023; and (ii) in the aggregate principal amount of
US$194,161,057 from the Sellers at the total purchase
price of US$278,191,332 on or before 30 June 2023. The
total purchase price for the Partial Repurchase of Bonds
was determined after arm’s length negotiation between

the Company and the Sellers.

As of the date of this Annual Report, the Partial
Repurchase of Bonds has not yet been completed. Upon
completion of the Partial Repurchase of Bonds, the
principal amount of the Bonds will be repurchased in full
and the Seller will no longer have any interest in the
Bonds and/or any rights arising thereof. Accordingly, no
further Shares will be issuable by the Company pursuant
to the terms of the Bonds after the completion of the

Partial Repurchase of Bonds.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
9 March 2023 for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYS|
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VIl. RISK FACTORS AND RISK MANAGEMENT VII.

Risks that may have material effects on the operation of the

Group are as follows:

1. The risk of products failing to pass Consistency
Evaluation

According to the Opinions of the Office of the State
Council on the Commencement of Consistency Evaluation
on the Quality and Healing Effect of Generic Drugs (Guo
Ban Fa [2016] No. 8) (KEIISEx i NEERAN BRI R EEHE
EMER—BMFENER) (B3 [2016]85%)) and
the Announcement on the Implementation of Matters in
Relation to the Opinions of the Office of the State Council
on the Commencement of Consistency Evaluation on the
Quality and Healing Effect of Generic Drugs issued by the
China Food and Drug Administration dated 26 May 2016
(2016 No. 106)(KBAR & B (E Bt AR MR R
EEENERAN-BMTENER ARFENLE) (=
T—7RHFE 1065%)), for generic drugs which have been
approved for market launch prior to the implementation
of the new registration category of chemical drugs, if the
approval was not carried out according to the principle
of consistency in quality and curative effect as the
original researched pharmaceuticals, such generic drugs
are subject to Consistency Evaluation and are required to
have consistent quality and curative effect as the original
researched pharmaceuticals. For the generic drugs which
are not able to pass the Consistency Evaluation within
the prescribed period, no further registration will be

approved.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The risk of the decline in drug prices

With continuous progress in the centralized procurement
of drugs, deepening of reforms in the medical insurance
system and the promulgation of other relevant policies
and regulations, a declining trend in drug prices will
appear. National centralized procurement of
pharmaceuticals has been standardized and put in place
on a regular basis. If the enterprise fails in a bid, it tends
to lose the market for a long time. Thus, enterprises is

unable to ignore centralized procurement.

Pursuant to the National Reimbursement Drug List for
Basic Medical Insurance, Work-Related Injury Insurance
and Maternity Insurance (2022) (Bl R E AR EERK -
TEREBMAESRBRESR B 8 (20224 ))) issued by the
National Healthcare Security Administration and the
Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security, which
has been officially implemented on 1 March 2023, 111
types of drugs are added in such new version of the
national Medical Reimbursement Drug List. With the
normalization of adjustment to Medical Reimbursement
Drug List and the institutionalization of national
negotiation on innovative drugs, the market size of

China’s innovative drugs will be steadily expanding.

In respect of the Consistency Evaluation, the Group
acquired a total of thirty-three Generic Drugs from
Sunshine Lake Pharma, which were all approved by a
foreign country for domestic declaration. The Group’s
care product Kewei capsules and Benzbromarone tablets
have been the first drug varieties to pass the Consistency

Evaluation.

As for the risk of decreasing drug price, there is less
competition for the Group’s core product, Kewei, and the
cost of distribution is under control. Meanwhile, the
Group is able to achieve self-sufficiency and reduce

production costs for the production of Kewei’s APIs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERETHRAN

VIIl. FUTURE OUTLOOK

Looking forward, as the development direction of China’s
pharmaceutical industry is gradually shifting from generic
drugs to innovation drugs, drug innovation has become the
core competitiveness which supports the future development
of enterprises. In order to capture opportunities in the fierce
competition, pharmaceutical companies need to make
continuous efforts in various aspects including product R&D,
technical process improvement, production and supply chain
management and sales management, while striving to grasp
the initiative of industry competition and forming good
sustainable advantages by grasping the market demand and
trend of the pharmaceutical industry and consolidating and
expanding the corresponding strategic target markets more
effectively. The Company will continually increase its
investment in R&D and accelerate the transformation of drug
R&D into clinical applications in the therapeutic areas of anti-
infective, endocrine and metabolic diseases. In addition, the
Company will continue to strengthen its product R&D and
innovation capabilities, constantly introduce new products and
enrich the existing product portfolio to enhance the market

competitiveness of its products.

The Company will also continue to optimize its scientific and
sustainable marketing strategy, strengthen academic
promation and drug promotion activities, further promote its
core products in graded hospitals and primary medical
markets, and strive to create a highly recognized business
image and well-respected reputation in the domestic market,
in order to lay a solid foundation for new products to be
rapidly launched in the market in the future.
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DIRECTORS

As at the date of this Annual Report, the information of the Directors

is as follows:

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

o2

Start of term of office
upon expiration of
the term of the current

55 EFEMEREEAEGHMT

BHEAFHREY EBFNERAT -

Name Date of appointment session of the Board Position
AEESSEHERZA
®E EZERH EREHERE Bif
Mr. TANG Xinfa 4 May 2015 4 June 2021 Chairman and non-executive Director
ERMBERE —hERAMA —Z-—%FXAMA ESRRIFNTES
Mr. JIANG Juncai 4 May 2015 4 June 2021 Executive Director
BT RE —T-hERhAMA —T-—%,XAMA BITEE
Mr. WANG Danjin 27 February 2006 4 June 2021 Executive Director
AL “EERFAZtHER ZZ-—-FXAMA HITEE
Mr. CHEN Yangui 4 May 2015 4 June 2021 Executive Director
BRAE R A —hERhAMA —T-—%,XAMA HTESE
Mr. LI Shuang 8 June 2018 4 June 2021 Executive Director
FREE —N\ERANE —FXANA HITEE
Mr. TANG Jianxin 4 May 2015 4 June 2021 Independent non-executive Director
BEAEE —h¥RhAMA —Z-—%FXAMA BUFHTESE
Ms. XIANG Ling 5 June 2020 4 June 2021 Independent non-executive Director
L) 3 “Z-ZFXARA —Z-—FAMA BUFNTES
Mr. LI Xuechen 25 September 2020 4 June 2021 Independent non-executive Director
FERESE —TZTFAAZ+RA T —FXAM@A BUFMTES
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
55 EEMEWREEAREN

Mr. TANG Xinfa (E#73), aged 53, is the Chairman and a non-
executive Director. He joined the Company in May 2015 and has
served as a non-executive Director since then. He is a member of the

Audit Committee.

Mr. Tang has extensive working experience in the following
companies or entities:

EHBRE 535 REFEMIFNTE
Eo MR -T-RAFAAMARRT - It
BHEIFATEST B -AEZZ

BEKE -

FEEEETI AR ERBEFLEENTIE
A

Period Name of Company/Entity Position Principal Function
5 NE/ERAR B TERE
Since September 2019 Yidu Tang Junyi Health Industry  executive director and general Corporate management and
Development Co., Ltd. manager decision-making
201998 %45 HBEAERRERER HTEERALE NRAIEBERE
AR AT
Since September 2019 Yidu Tang Juntao Pharmaceutical executive director and general Corporate management and
Technology Co., Ltd. manager decision-making
B2019%978%% HBELSRERBARAR  BTESRELE NAIEBERE
Since September 2019 Ruyuan Yao Autanomous County  Legal representative and Corporate management and
Taidong Pharmaceutical executive director decision-making
Co., Ltd.
201998 %45 HREREAERRER EERRARNTES NRAIEBERE
e NS
Since April 2019 Guangdong HEC Technology Vice chairman, executive director Corporate management and
Holding Co., Ltd. decision-making
B2019F4FZ5 BRRG BRI R BEER BTEZF NAIEBERE
e NG
Since August 2018 Dongguan Dong Yang Guang director and manager Corporate management and
Gaoneng Medical Equipment decision-making
Co., Ltd.
E201858HES RERGARRBRER HERLE NRERERE

BRAF
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
E5 BEEKeREEAREN

Period Name of Company/Entity Position Principal Function

4 nE/BRER Bt TERRE

Since January 2017 Dongguan HEC TaiGen Legal representative, chairman of Corporate management and
Biopharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. the board of directors and director decision-making

B2017F17%%5 REREH AR B W EERERA EFR EF NAIEBERE

Since December 2016

B2016F12 A5

Since November 2015

B2015F11 A5

Since December 2014

B2014F12A%5

Since March 2011

B2011F3AE%

Since October 2010

B2010510A %%

AREERA

Linzhi HEC Pharmaceutical
Research Co., Ltd.
W RGHEZEREER AT

Shenzhen HEC Industrial
Development Co., Ltd.
AIMRGABXRERAR AR

Yichang HEC Research Co., Ltd.

HERBRENEBRATF

HEC Pharm Co., Ltd.

HERBREXRNHARAA

Dongguan HEC Medicine

Development and

Research Co., Ltd.
R d L EMMEERAR

Legal representative and director

EERRALES

Director and general manager

EEReKE

Legal representative, executive
director and general manager

EERERA  RITEERALE

Director

B

Legal representative, chairman of

the board of directors and manager

EEREA ESRFEE

Corporate Management and
decision-making

RREEEREK

Corporate management and
decision-making

NRAIEERREK

Corporate management and
decision-making

NRAIEERREK

Corporate management and
decision-making

NRAIEERREK

Corporate management and

decision-making

RRERERE
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
E5 BEEKeREEAREN

Period Name of Company/Entity Position Principal Function

4 nE/BRER Bt TERRE

Since September 2008 Guangdong Southern China Director Corporate management and
Advanced Pharmaceutical decision-making
Co., Ltd

E2008F9AZE5 BREMMERIHERAF % NRAIEBERE

Since September 2005 Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd.  Director Corporate management and

decision-making
B2005F9 %5 BRRGEXERAF % NRAIEBERE
Since December 2004 Dongguan HEC Industrial Legal representative, chairman of Corporate management and

B2004E12 A5

From September 2002 to
September 2005

H2002%9A%
200549 A

Development Co., Ltd.
REMRELEXRER
AR AT

Shenzhen HEC Industrial
Development Co., Ltd.

RYTRE R EEER
BB AT

the board of directors and manager decision-making

EERRA  EERFELE NRAIEBERE

Chief of the office Corporate management and
decision-making

PREFHE NEERERE

Mr. Tang received a master’s degree in literary aesthetics from the
Department of Chinese of Xiamen University (EEF9A2%) in September

2002.

Mr. JIANG Juncai (339 7), aged 41, is an executive Director and the

general manager of the Company. He joined the Company in May

2015 and has served as an executive Director since then. He is a

member of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

55 EFEMEREEAEGHMT

Mr. Jiang served as a director of Yidu HEC Industrial Development
Co., Ltd. (BT RSHEEZHE AR A F]) from March 2012 to May
2015. Prior to that, Mr. Jiang was a director of Yichang Shancheng
Cordyceps Sinensis Co., Ltd. (B & ILH/KEL@ZEEHFR A F]) from
March 2012 to July 2015, and successively served as a researcher at
the biochemistry division, a researcher and deputy head of the
traditional Chinese medicine division and the deputy head of the
zoological and botanical division of Sunshine Lake Pharma from July
2006 to May 2012.

Mr. Jiang graduated with a master’s degree in science from
Shenyang Pharmaceutical University (&[5 25 K22 in June 2006.

Mr. WANG Danjin (£ f#3£), aged 53, is an executive Director and a
deputy general manager of the Company. He joined the Company in

February 2006, and has served as an executive Director since then.

Mr. Wang has also served as a supervisor of HEC Pharm from
December 2010 to July 2015, and a director of Yichang HEC
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (B & %[5 ¥t & %2 5 R 72 &) from April
2006 to January 2018. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Wang was
the head of production department of Jilin Tonghua Dangri
Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Co., Ltd. (& BIL R HEZRH AR
A |]) from March 2002 to January 2006, and a technologist at
Liaoning Dandong Pharmaceutical Factory (GEZE4 £} R 24 ) from
November 1991 to February 2002.

Mr. Wang graduated with a bachelor’s degree from Shenyang
Pharmaceutical University (&[5 251K 2 ) through correspondence
courses in January 2008. He is recognised as a licensed pharmacist
by Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the
People’s Republic of China (formerly known as Ministry of Personnel
of the People’s Republic of China), and was recognised as a
pharmacist-in-charge by Bureau of Human Resources and Social
Security of Dandong (formerly known as Bureau of Personnel of
Dandong (F+E ™ AZE ) in October 2001.
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Mr. CHEN Yangui (FR#%E), aged 41, is an executive Director. He
joined the Company in May 2014, serving as the head of the sales
department. Mr. Chen has served as an executive Director since May
2015.

In addition, Mr. Chen has served as the chairman and general
manager of Yidu Guijun Pharmaceutical Technology Co., Ltd (E#ME
$#BERT AR A A]) since May 2019. Mr. Chen has served as an
executive director of Dongguan Yangzhikang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(Rmigz BB EARETLAA) since August 2018, has also
served as a general manager and an executive director of Yichang
HEC Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (B & R[5t B &5 R A 7)) since March
2016 and January 2018, respectively, a legal representative of
Yichang HEC Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. since January 2018, a director
of Dongguan HEC TaiGen Biopharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. (RZH5H K
SEHEFIEARE(LAR) since January 2017, a supervisor of
Ruyuan HEC Medical Instrument Co., Ltd. (FLRRG S EEEM AR
‘A &]) since July 2012. Mr. Chen joined Dongguan HEC Medicine
Development and Research Co., Ltd. (FREZEFR 5 Y BT AR A 7))
in 2005, and successively held positions as a researcher, the deputy
head of research and development department and the head of
synthesis department before he was appointed as the deputy head
of research institute and the head of generic drug department.

Mr. Chen graduated with a master’s degree in science from Hunan
University (C#EIKE) in June 2006.

Mr. LI Shuang (Z3g), aged 42, is an executive Director and the
deputy general manager of the Company. He joined the Company in
August 2005 and worked as a member of the insulin research team.
He has served as the deputy general manager of the Company since
May 2015 and served as an executive Director since June 2018.

Mr. Li has also served as the deputy head of the Company’s insulin
factory since October 2013 and the head of active pharmaceutical
ingredient department of that factory since February 2006. Mr. Li
was the head of purification department of the Company’s insulin
factory from December 2008 to September 2013.
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Mr. Li graduated with a bachelor’s degree in engineering from China
Three Gorge University (Z WK 28 ) in June 2004.

Mr. TANG Jianxin (FEZ2 %), aged 58, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in May 2015. He is the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration and Evaluation

Committee.

Mr. Tang is currently an independent director of Wuhan Ligong
Guangke CO. Ltd. (B EE T 3 B 5 B BR A 7)) (Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (“SZSE") stock number: 300557) (since July 2019), and an
independent director of Wuhan Department Store Group (i & £ &
f% 17 A BR A &) (SZSE Stock number: 000501) (since July 2020), an
independent director of Hubei Feilihua Quartz Glass Co., Ltd. (G#i1L3E
A H I A AR Q7)) (SZSE stock number: 300395) (since
August 2021), and an independent director of Oceanwide Holdings
Co., Ltd. (2 /& ¥ B % 10 4 IR 2 7)) (SZSE stock number: 000046)
(since December 2021).
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Moreover, Mr. Tang was an independent director of Zhejiang Reclaim
Construction Group Co., Ltd. (I TE B SEZREEBRMHBERAR])
(SZSE stock number: 002586) from December 2019 to November
2021, an independent director of Sino Great Wall Co., Ltd. (4N &5
Bt B PR A A]) (SZSE stock number: 000018) from December 2015
to December 2018, an independent director of Zhongbai Holdings
Group Co., Ltd. (FF B 1Z i% £ B % 9 B R 2 7)) (SZSE stock code:
000759) from December 2011 to December 2017, an independent
director of Shenzhen Huapengfei Modern Logistics Co., Ltd. CFIITH
£ i R IR AW A n A R & &) (SZSE stock code: 300350) from
August 2010 to August 2016, an independent director of Wuhan
Sanzhen Industry Holding Co., Ltd. (BUE = E 23 RIMD AR A7)
(SSE stock code: 600168) from June 2009 to June 2015 and an
independent director of Wuhan Zhongnan Commercial (Group) Co.,
Ltd. (EUZ A 7% 5 B AR (5 B BR 2 &) (SZSE stock code: 000785) from
May 2008 to May 2014. Prior to that, Mr. Tang served as an
independent director of Wuhan Accelink Technologies Co., Ltd. (E)%&
F AR D B R A 7)) (SZSE stock code: 002281) from September
2006 to September 2009 and an independent director of Hubei
Chutian Expressway Co., Ltd (HIb R XR R AR M BR A F]) (SSE
stock code: 600035) from April 2002 to April 2008. Mr. Tang has
been a professor of the Accounting Department of Economics and
Management School of Wuhan University since 2004 and a doctoral
tutor at Wuhan University (E\./ZKX2) since 2006. He served as the
dean of Accounting Department of Economics and Management
School in the same university from 2005 to 2015. He worked for the
postdoctoral research center of the accounting department of
Renmin University of China (A B AR AKE) from 2000 to 2002.

Mr. Tang received his bachelor’s degree from the Economics
Department of Wuhan University in June 1985, and then obtained a
master’s degree in economics and a doctoral degree in economics
from Wuhan University in September 1988 and January 1999
respectively. Mr. Tang was granted independent auditor
qualifications by the National Audit Office of the People’s Republic of
China in December 1992, and Certified Public Valuer gualification by
the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Valuers in December 1996.
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Ms. XIANG Ling (@ %), aged 40, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 5 June 2020. She is the chairman of the
Remuneration and Evaluation Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee.

Ms. Xiang graduated from the Law School of Hunan Normal
University (G453 Bl &8 K252t ) in 2003 with a bachelor’s degree
in law. She further obtained a master’s degree in Laws (International
Economic Law) from the Law School of Sun Yat-sen University (4 1L
X £)in 2006 and a doctoral degree of Judicial Science (Theory of
Law) CEEE T X218 5)241) from the Law School of Sun Yat-
sen University (A LU AZ2) in 2013.

Since July 2006, Ms. Xiang has been teaching at the School of Law of
Guangdong University of Finance. Her research mainly covers
contract law, company law, intellectual property law and
international economic law. Currently, she takes lead of 2 provincial-
level research topics, and has participated as a main participant in
the projects of National Social Science Foundation (BRI H &8
H), the projects of Humanities and Social Sciences Research
Foundation of the Ministry of Education (B BAXHRELIER)
and the projects of several provincial-level research topics. She has
published more than ten papers in core journals such as Political
Science and Law ((BURELAE)), Intellectual Property ((RIRREHE)),
Academics in China ((Z4f75)), Social Sciences in Guangdong ({ER
& R £Y)), Journal of Hunan University (34 B X 2 £ ) and
Presentday Law Science ({FFRIEE)).

Ms. Xiang participated and successfully graduated in the 97th
Independent Director Training (5597 #8 %8 32 & = 55 7I) held by the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange in September 2018 and was eligible to be

incumbent as an independent director of a listed company.
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Ms. Xiang is currently an executive director (% 7 I =) of the
Intellectual Property Committee (17 E 2 €) of the Guangdong
Province Law Society (BR & /AEE), a director (32F) of the Financial
Law Research Committee (£ & /& 2 #f 3¢ &) of the Guangdong
Province Law Society, a director of the International Law Research
Committee (B8 BX /% 2 #ff ¢ &) of the Guangdong Province Law
Society, a director of the Economic Law Research Committee (4%
7= 28 35 &) of the Guangdong Province Law Society, a director of
the Guangzhou Law Society, Tianhe District (BNt XA R E2 &),
a director of the fifth council of The Association of Registered Tax
Agents of Guangdong Province (BERA MR BB eEAEES
&), a consultant on the area of marine rights and interests (&%
= & A B =) of the South China Sea Branch of State Oceanic
Administration, a legal consultant of Guangdong Xuping Jewelry Co.,
Ltd. (BERBF & &5 R A A)) and a part-time lawyer of the Legal
Aid Center of Guangdong University of Finance (&R & B 25 A 2R
B D).

Mareover, Mr. Xiang was an independent director of Guangdong
Zhongnan Iron & Steel Co., Ltd. (£ 3 & /3 i & I 5 R 2 7))
(formerly known as SGIS Songshan Co., Ltd. (& ® % 0 4 (1 i%
BFR A7) (SZSE stock number: 000717) from June 2019 to October
2022.

Mr. LI Xuechen (Z2E ), aged 45, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 25 September 2020.

Mr. Li graduated from the College of Chemistry of the Nankai
University (f B A £) with a bachelor’s degree of Chemistry in
1999. He further obtained a master’s degree of Chemistry from the
Science Faculty of University of Alberta in 2003 and a doctoral
degree of Chemistry and Chemical Biology from the Division of

Science of Harvard University in 2006.

From 2007 to 2009, Mr. Li worked for a post-doctoral research at
the Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, USA, responsible for
research on chemistry and pharmacy. Mr. Li has been teaching in the
Faculty of Science of the University of Hong Kong, his research area
principally involves chemical biology and medicinal chemistry since
July 2008.
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Mr. Li has been a member of The Hong Kong Young Academy of
Sciences since January 2020. In 2017, Mr. Li was awarded a
Croucher Senior Research Fellowship by the Croucher Foundation. In
2018, Mr. Li received the Outstanding Researcher Award from the
University of Hong Kong.

SUPERVISORS

As at the date of this Annual Report, the information of the

Supervisors is as follows:

BT _TF— ﬁi FREEERES
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RZZ-N\F FELERBFBRERTH
AT 7T EE R SR o

E=
BEAFREH  BEFOEANMT

Start of term of office

upon expiration of

the term of the current

session of the Board

Name Date of appointment of Supervisors Position
rEEEEAHERZE
nE BZEEH BEEEHERE Bify
Mr. TANG Jinlong 6 June 2019 4 June 2021 Chairman of the Board of
Supervisors
FEeELE ZZE-NRFRAKRH ZE—FRAWEA EEETE
Mr. WANG Shengchao 21 July 2017 4 June 2021 Employee representative supervisor
ERsERELE —+tF+tAZ+—H ZT=—FANA BIARES
Mr. LUO Zhonghua 16 June 2017 4 June 2021 Supervisor

BRESTE S o Y R AN
Mr. WANG Shengchao (E i), aged 40, is an employee
representative Supervisor and the chief of the quality division of the
Company. He joined the Company in May 2012 as a quality controller
of the quality division, and served as the vice director of quality
assurance of the quality division of the Company since April 2015.
Mr. Wang held the position of the guality assurance director of the
quality division of the Company from May 2016 to June 2017, and
served as the deputy chief of the quality division of the Company
from July 2017 to June 2019 and served as the chief of the quality
division of the Company since July 20189.
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Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Wang worked as a researcher of
new traditional Chinese medicines in Hebei Yiling Pharmaceutical
Group (RfdbLAsa 88 %5 &) from July 2008 to March 2010, a
pharmaceutical analysis researcher in Pharmaron (Beijing) New
Medicines Technology Co., Ltd. (BEEE(LRX (At R)FT BT A R A 7))
from April 2010 to May 2011, and an inspection engineer and
inspection supervisor of the quality department in Lepu (Beijing)
Medical Equipment Co., Ltd. (% (3t 7) B &2 (D B R A 7)) from
June 2011 to May 2012.

Mr. Wang graduated with a master’s degree in science from
Shenyang Pharmaceutical University (&[5 251 K22 ) in July 2008.

Mr. LUO Zhonghua (& £ %), aged 39, is currently the shareholder
representative Supervisor of the Company. He joined Dongguan HEC
Medicine Development and Research Co., Ltd. (BRZEERES Y B Aff 3
BBR 72 7)) (a subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co.,
Ltd. CRIITIERG Y E R AR A A)), the controlling shareholder
of the Company), since June 2005 to engage in the research and
development of APIs. He is currently the head of the generic drug API
synthesis department and deputy head of the generic drug division
in Dongguan HEC Medicine Development and Research. He has been
the legal representative and general manager of YiChang HEC
Pharmaceutical Manufacturing, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company since February 2018, and is responsible for the preparation
of the production base of biochemical APlIs.

Mr. Luo graduated with a bachelor’s degree in pharmaceutical
engineering from the Central South University in June 2005, a
master’s degree in pharmaceutical analysis from Sun Yat-sen
University in 2015 and a doctoral degree in biology pharmaceuticals
from South China University of Technology (£33 T A 2%) in August
2020.
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Mr. TANG Jinlong (£ #8), aged 54, he was appointed as a Supervisor
of the Company on 6 June 2019 and has been a chairman of the Board
of Supervisors since then. He joined the Company in July 2001 as
deputy head (&I&6+) of the development department of the Company
and served as the chairman of the Board of Supervisors since 6 June
2019. He was the head of development department of the Company
from June 2003 to July 2004 and chief engineer of the Company
from August 2004 to January 2008. Mr. Tang was the deputy general
manager of Yidu HEC Biochemical Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (E#05 5
JHE L BIEEEBR A F]) from March 2006 to December 2010 and the
factory manager of Hecheng factory (&% BE &) from January
2008 to December 2010. Since June 2015, Mr. Tang is the director of
HEC Pharm. Since February 2018, Mr. Tang is the chairman and legal
representative of YiChang HEC Biochemical API Co., Ltd. (EE &%
2 EE2ERAA) and the director of YiChang HEC
Pharmaceutical Manufacturing. Mr. Tang is the standing committee
member of 6th, 7th and 8th Yidu City Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (E#H B & £).

Mr. Tang has obtained a bachelor’s degree in chemistry and
pharmacy ({L 28228+ Ef7) in Wuhan Institute of Technology (&
ET2AE) in June 1990.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this Annual Report,
the information of Senior Management is as follows:

SREEAE

RIFEHARBSACEAN  BREE
ABHERMT -

Date of joining Date of
Name the Group appointment Position Responsibility
#E MAZREE B H EZEEH Bt BE
Mr. JIANG Juncai 4 May 2015 4 May 2015 General manager QOverall day-to-day management
BT ESE —E-AFhAMA —E-h1FhAMA R REBNHEEE
Mr. WANG Danjin 27 February 2006 4 May 2015 Deputy general manager Operational management
FAEEE ZEERFAZ+tA ZE-RFRHAMA &l 4 g HEER
Mr. LI Shuang 7 August 2005 4 May 2015 Deputy general manager Operational management
FREE “EZRENALH “E-hFhANA &l e HEER
Mr. ZHANG Qiang 23 February 2018 25 February 2019 Chief financial officer  Financial management
RIS “E-\fZAZ+=H ZT-AF-A-+thHE WKEE WEER
Mr. PENG Qiyun 1 July 2016 15 October 2018 Secretary of the Board  Day-to-day operation of the Board
THERE —T-R¥t+tA—-H —T-\ETATHER EFEWE EZEMARLEE

For the biography of Mr. JIANG Juncai (J971), Mr. WANG Danjin (£
F#) and Mr. LI Shuang (£%&), please refer to “Directors” in this
section.

Mr. ZHANG Qiang (3R 38 ), aged 47, is the chief financial officer of the
Company. Mr. Zhang joined the Company in February 2018 and was
appointed as the chief financial officer of the Company on 25
February 2019 and is responsible for the financial management of
the Company.

Mr. Zhang has been the head of finance department of the Company
since February 2018. Mr. Zhang has 21 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and financial management. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. Zhang acted as an assistant auditor of Yichang
Changjiang Accounting Firm* (B & KT E&TAIEFT) from March
1999 to September 2001. He acted as the financial auditor of
Yichang County Military Audit Bureau* (EE M 2AE[RETD) from
October 2001 to May 2005 and served as the head of the finance
department of HEC Pharm from May 2005 to February 2018.

BREBOTEE  EAREERFRES
MERE  w2HAM [EF] 80 -

REBEE 4758 0 AARNFIBTFHRE o 5R
EER-ZZE—NF_AMAARRA  B=
E-NF-_A-t+HBEZRETAARQAH
BHE  AEANRMBEREH -

REAB T N\F - AREART I
MK REERET G LUHBERER
A 21 F&EH - MAKRBZH - KL
FH-NANANFZRE-_TZT—FHLAE
FEER IS EBMBIERER - KT
EEH-EEF+RAEETRAFRHAE
FEHEMHERETRUBET YA =
EERERAE-ZE- N\E_AEFES
HIGHIABEE ©

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

55 EFEMEREEAEGHMT

Mr. Zhang graduated from Wuhan University of Hydraulic and
Electrical Engineering (FUZ/KFE /1 K2) with a college degree in
financial accounting in June 1997. Mr. Zhang is an intermediate

accountant and a PRC certified public accountant.

Mr. PENG Qiyun (& E), aged 33, is the secretary of the Board. He
joined the Company in July 2016, and has served as the assistant to
secretary of the Board since then, and served as the secretary of the
Board since October 2018.

Mr. Peng graduated from Qingdao University with a bachelor of
science degree in mathematics and applied mathematics in June
2013, and obtained a master’s degree in finance from Guangdong

Finance College in June 2017.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. PENG Qiyun (2 E)

For the biography of Mr. Peng Qiyun (23 %), please refer to “Senior
Management” in this section.
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Mr. WONG Wai Chiu

Mr. WONG Wai Chiu was appointed as a joint company secretary of
the Company on 25 February 2022. Mr. Wong is an associate director
of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Wong
has extensive experience in compliance and company secretarial
work for listed companies. Mr. Wong is a fellow of the Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute, a fellow of the Chartered
Governance Institute in the United Kingdom, a member of CPA
Australia, a member of the Hong Kong Trustee Association and a

Certified Trust Practitioner.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors hereby presents the Annual Report and the
audited financial statements of the Group (the “Financial
Statements”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 to Shareholders.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors currently consists of eight Directors,
comprising four executive Directors, one non-executive Director and
three independent non-executive Directors. The incumbent Directors
during the year ended 31 December 2022 and as at the date of this
Annual Report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. JIANG Juncai
Mr. WANG Danjin
Mr. CHEN Yangui
Mr. LI Shuang

Non-executive Directors
Mr. TANG Xinfa (Chairman)
Mr. Eddy HUANG (resigned on 30 September 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. TANG Jianxin

Ms. XIANG Ling

Mr. LI Xuechen

Mr. ZHAO Dayao (resigned on 30 September 2022)

Mr. Eddy HUANG resigned as a non-executive Director due to his
other business commitments.

Mr. ZHAO Dayao resigned as an independent non-executive Director
due to his other business commitments.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company is a PRC pharmaceutical manufacturing company that
focuses on the development, manufacturing and sale of
pharmaceutical products in the therapeutic areas of anti-virus,
endocrine and metabolic diseases, cardiovascular and anti-infection
diseases. For further information of the principal business of the
Company, please refer to the section “Business Review” of this
Annual Report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

As of 31 December 2022, the total share capital of the Company was
RMB879,967,700, divided into 879,967,700 shares of RMB1.00
each. Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year 2022 are set out in Note 26(c) to the Financial
Statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

DEBENTURES IN ISSUE

The Company did not have any debentures in issue for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Proceeds from H Share
Convertible Bonds” on pages 105 to 109 of this Annual Report, the
Company did not enter into any equity-linked agreement, nor did
any equity-linked agreement exist during the year ended 31
December 2022.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has purchased appropriate liahility insurance for its
Directors, Supervisors and senior management. The permitted

indemnity provisions are set out in such liability insurance.

Save as disclosed above, no permitted indemnity provision was
made by the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 and no
permitted indemnity provision was in force as at the date of this

Annual Report.

EES

RZB-_—F+_A=+—8 ARQAE
f& & & A R #879,967,7007C © O &
879,967,700 R B IR A E A R ¥ 1.00TH
f&fh - BAARARRRARZZTZ_FEN
FENFFIE - SR WmERMTE26(0) °

BE HEIBEARXF LH
Bt

ARAREEMMBEAARBRE-B ==
FH- A=+ ALFERBERE
S B A A AUE (T L -

CRITEESE

BE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HItFE "
AN FA AT B BT TEHERE »

IR R 89 175

B R ¥R 55 105 2 109 B A& [HAL Al 84k
BHAERIB] —fFABREEN  HEZ
T FF+RA=+—HIEFE  ARQF
WA ET AR R AR - INEE AR
ERMAM R o

BT RIERX

ARBIEREF EELAREEAERR
BEENEERR - BRFABEGRXNR
EHNZEETRRA -

BB BE T —_F+ R
=t—RLFE ARALEEHERA
WEM - BERAFHRAY  SIEEFT
FERER -

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

PLEDGING OF SHARES BY THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

On 22 April 2022, the Company was informed by Sunshine Lake
Pharma, the controlling shareholder, that it has pledged
226,200,000 Domestic Shares in the issued share capital of the
Company held by it in favour of a third-party lender as security for a
loan provided by the third-party lender to Sunshine Lake Pharma.

On 14 October 2022, the Company was informed by HEC (Hong Kaong)
that it has pledged the 226,200,000 H shares in the issued share
capital of the Company held by it in favour of an independent third-
party lender for a loan provided by the independent third-party
lender to Sunshine Lake Pharma.

LOAN AGREEMENTS OR FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE OF
THE COMPANY

The Company did not provide any financial assistance nor guarantee
to its affiliated companies for the year ended 31 December 2022,
which gives rise to a disclosure under Rule 13.16 of the Listing Rules.
The Company did not enter into any loan agreement with covenants
relating to specific performance of its Controlling Shareholder nor
breach the terms of any loan agreements for the year ended 31
December 2022.

SHARE SCHEME

The Company did not adopt any share scheme.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS AND TAX RELIEF OR
EXEMPTION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and the laws of the PRC, the
Company is not subject to any pre-emptive rights requiring it to
propose new issues to its existing shareholders in proportion to their
shareholdings. In addition, the Company is not aware of any tax
relief or exemption available to any existing Shareholder by reason
of his/her holding of the securities of the Company.
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RESULTS

The audited results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on
page 167. The financial condition of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position on pages 168 to 169. The
consolidated cash flow of the Company and its subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 December 2022 is set out in the Consolidated Cash
Flow Statement on pages 171 to 172.

Discussion and analysis about the operating performance and
significant elements affecting the results of operations and financial
condition of the Company during the year are set out in Management

Discussion and Analysis of this Annual Report on pages 16 to 60.
BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are provided
on pages 17 to 22 and page 60 of this Annual Report, respectively.
Description of possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may
be facing can be found on pages 58 to 59 of this Annual Report. No
particulars of important events affecting the Group that have
occurred since the end of the financial year. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance
indicators is provided on pages 23 to 30 of this Annual Report.

In addition, further information of the Company’s environmental
policies, performance and initiatives can be found in the section
heading “Environmental Policies and Performance” of this Report of
the Board of Directors. The Company’s compliance with relevant
laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Company are provided in the section heading “Compliance with Laws
and Regulations” of this Report of the Board of Directors. An account
of the Company’s relationships with its employees, customers and
suppliers are disclosed in the section heading “Relationship with
Stakeholders” of this Report of the Board of Directors.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (for the year ended 31
December 2021: Nil).

As at the date of this Annual Report, there was no arrangement
under which a Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any
dividends.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS AND RECORD
DATE

In order to ascertain the Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the AGM of the Company for the year of 2022 to be held on
Friday, 2 June 2023, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Tuesday, 30 May 2023 to Friday, 2 June 2023 (both

days inclusive), during which no transfer of shares will be registered.

In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all
unregistered H shareholders of the Company shall lodge transfer
documents together with the relevant share certificates with the
Company’s H Share Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration before
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 29 May 2023. The record date for the
entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM is Tuesday, 30 May 2023.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Company and its subsidiaries during the year of 2022 are set out in
Note 10 to the Financial Statement.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the
year 2022 are set out in Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity, of which details of reserves available for distribution to
equity Shareholders are set out in Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity. The Company’s reserves available for distribution
to equity shareholders as at 31 December 2022 represents the
retained profits of approximately RMB2,641.35 million.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group made external donations of
approximately RMB0.01 million (excluding personal donations of

employees).
BANK BORROWINGS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings and other borrowings of the Company
and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 22
to the Financial Statements.

INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors, Supervisars and senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 61 to 76 of this

Annual Report.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers all the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

The Company has entered into service contracts with the Directors.
The principal particulars of these service contracts are (1) each of
the contracts is for a term of three years commencing on the date of
approval of their appointment at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 4 June 2021 until the expiry of the third session of
the Board; and (2) each of the contracts is subject to termination in
accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts may
be renewed under the Articles of Association and applicable rules.

The Company has entered into contracts with the Supervisors in
respect of, among others, compliance with relevant laws and
regulations, the Articles of Association and provisions of arbitration.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Supervisors has
entered into a contract of service with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statuary compensation.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The remuneration of each executive Director are determined
pursuant to the decisions of the Shareholders’ general meeting, and
with reference to the duty, responsibility and performance of the
executive Directors, results of the Group and other factors which
may be considered as relevant and appropriate. The non-executive
Directors do not receive remuneration from the Company. The
remuneration of independent non-executive Directors are
determined with reference to their duties and responsibilities within
the Company, the Company’s remuneration policy and the prevailing
market conditions.
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Details of the emoluments of the Directors and Supervisors in 2022
are set out in Note 7 to the Financial Statements. None of the
Directors or Supervisars waived any emoluments during the year
ended 31 December 2022. During the Reporting Period, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director, any Supervisor
or any of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or

upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Details of the emoluments of each senior management of the
Company (excluding Directors who also hold executive positions) in

2022 are set out below:

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits
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Contributions

to defined

contribution

retirement
benefit  Discretionary

in kind schemes bonuses 2022 Total
e 2y EHRMTRK i St 3
REWEFN BRI BisIEAL ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Mr. Zhang Qiang Chief financial officer 268.84 17.66 193.88 480.39
RIS B aaEs
Mr. Peng Qiyun Secretary of the Board and
joint company secretary 209.00 15.84 145.47 370.31
THELAE EFENERBMERAAME
Total 477.84 33.50 339.35 850.70
#st
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

At the end of the year of 2022 or at any time during the year, there
were no transactions, arrangement or contracts of significance
subsisting in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party, directly or indirectly, and in
which any Director or Supervisor (or an entity connected with any
Director or Supervisor) had a material interest.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company, its holding
company, any of its subsidiaries nor fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or

any other body corporate.
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year of 2022, none of the Directors or their associates had
any competing interests in any business that constitutes or may
constitute direct or indirect competition with the Company’s

businesses.

UPDATE OF DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS
INFORMATION

Ms. XIANG Ling ceased to be an independent director of Guangdong
Zhongnan Iron & Steel Co., Ltd. (E R B MR LR D B R 2 7))
(formerly known as SGIS Songshan Co., Ltd. (ER &SR ILEHD B R
72 a])) (SZSE stock number: 000717) on 21 October 2022.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no other change in the
information of each Director and supervisor that is required to be
disclosed under Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules since the Company’s
latest published interim report until the date of this Annual Report.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, to the knowledge of the Directors, the
following Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the Company
had interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFQ), which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including those taken or
deemed as their interests and short position in accordance with
such provisions of the SFQ), or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register kept by the
Company referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to
the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:

EX EERBEITRAER
R HEROREEEDE
BENEERAR

R-B-_—F+_A=+—H ®HEEM
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BEETHEABEREESF B EIEXV
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Number of

Shares/  Approximate  Approximate

underlying  percentage of percentage of

Shares held relevant class total issued

(shares) of share capital  share capital

BER®/ HBEENRE SRTRAAR

Name Types of Shares Capacity HEROHE OHLE2E HELBESH

] R 40 B =27) G (%) (%)

Directors EE

TANG Xinfa H Shares Beneficial owner 130,400 (L) 0.019% (L) 0.015% (L)
JERTE H A% BEREAA

CHEN Yangui H Shares Beneficial owner 66,400 (L) 0.010% (L) 0.007% (L)
R H A% BEREAA

LI Shuang H Shares Beneficial owner 66,800 (L) 0.010% (L) 0.007% (L)
FR HA ERERA

WANG Danjin H Shares Beneficial owner 67,200 (L) 0.010% (L) 0.007% (L)
=z HA& BERFEAA

JIANG Juncai H Shares Beneficial owner 66,800 (L) 0.010% (L) 0.007% (L)
B H A% BEREAA

LI Xuechen H Shares Beneficial owner 4,000 (L) 0.00061% (L)  0.00045% (L)
2R HA EREAA
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Name Types of Shares Capacity
#E g bl E47)

EESHE

Number of
Shares/ Approximate Approximate
underlying  percentage of percentage of
Shares held relevant class total issued
(shares) of share capital  share capital
BERG HBEEIRE BSRITREEE
HEROBE ®BEBLEIE OHEIEIH

(B%) (%) (%)

Supervisors 5%

WANG Shengchao H Shares Beneficial owner
Ry e H A% EREAA
LUO Zhonghua H Shares Beneficial owner
BBE H A% EalEAA

(L) — Long position

The calculation is based on the total number of 879,967,700 shares in issue of the
Company as at 31 December 2022, comprising 226,200,000 Domestic Shares and
653,767,700 H Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, to the knowledge
of the Directors, none of the Directors, Supervisors ar chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including those
taken or deemed as their interest and/or short position in
accordance with such provisions of the SF0), or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
kept by the Company referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Cade, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

32,000 (L) 0.004% (L) 0.003% (L)

66,800 (L) 0.010% (L) 0.007% (L)

(L) — 18

SFEDRBEARRR -_ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—HHE
1T I 1p 42 £1879,967,700f% M 5 - B
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EREWE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, to the knowledge of the Directors, the
persons (other than the Directors, Supervisors or chief executive of
the Company) who have an interest or short position in the Shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO and as recorded in the register required to be kept by the

Company under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

EFERRRRMDVER

KRB ZF+_H=+—8H m®EEM
H TIAL(ES  BEFEIARaHEST
BN BBRIN) AR B9 S A BA AR 1 A
EERBESRBEGRAEXNVEEZ2RE
3B MARFEENERSOAE - KD
BAIRIER 5 R EIEAIZE 336 16E T
FERANBINECMOERSOAR

Number of
Number of underlying
Shares/ sharesheld  Approximate  Approximate
underlying under equity  percentageof  percentage of
Shares held derivatives  relevant class total issued
(shares) (shares) of share capital ~ share capital
BRALTAE
BERS IERE HBEEIRE SRTREAEHE
Name of Shareholders Types of Shares  Capacity HBRAEE HERGHE OHLEINE WEKESH
DEEE BRAER 5t (&) (&) (%) (%)
Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd.2? Domestic Shares  Beneficial owner 226,200,000 (L) - 100% (L) 25.70% (L)
ERRGHEZEBR DTS NER EREBA
H Shares Interest in 226,200,000 (L) - 34.59% (L) 25.70% (L)
HA% controlled
corporation
SR AR ER
HEC (Hong Kong) Sales Co., Limited®* H Shares Beneficial owner 226,200,000 (L) - 34.59% (L) 25.70% (L)
EERGHHERBR DT HAR BREEA
Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development H Shares Interest in 248,015,200 (L) - 37.93% (L) 28.18% (L)
Co., Ltd. 2 Hi% controlled
AIMRGAEXERERAA corporation
ZEH AR ER
Shaoguan Xinyuneng Industrial Domestic Shares  Interestin 226,200,000 (L) - 100% (L) 25.70% (L)
Investment Company Limited 2 NER controlled
BENEEEREARAR? corporation
ZHEH AR ER
H Shares Interest in 248,015,200 (L) - 37.93% (L) 28.18% (L)
HE& controlled
carporation
AR R
Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Domestic Shares  Interest in 226,200,000 (L) - 100% (L) 25.70% (L)
Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd.? NER controlled
BREE A EEETEEERAR corporation
ZEH AR R
H Shares Interest in 248,015,200 (L) - 37.93% (L) 28.18% (L)
HER controlled
corporation
Rt EE RS
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== A= - /_—l:
5= % = S
Number of
Number of underlying
Shares/ sharesheld  Approximate  Approximate
underlying under equity  percentageof  percentage of
Shares held derivatives  relevant class total issued
(shares) (shares)  of share capital share capital
BARASTA
BERS/ IARE HBREIRE CRTREEE
Name of Shareholders Types of Shares  Capacity HBRGEE HERGHE OHLEINE WEKESH
RREH LGkl 51 (&) (&) (%) (%)
Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing Domestic Shares  Interestin 226,200,000 (L) - 100% (L) 25.70% (L)
Technology Development Co., Ltd.2 NER controlled
AREE B RGH AREERER AR corporation
R AR R
H Shares Interest in 248,015,200 (L) - 37.93% (L) 28.18% (L)
HA& controlled
carporation
G L
Ms. GUO Meilan® Domestic Shares  Interest in 226,200,000 (L) - 100% (L) 25.70% (L)
Figr LS NER controlled
corporation
ZEH AR R
H Shares Interest in 248,015,200 (L) - 37.93% (L) 28.18% (L)
HAR controlled
corporation
RS EERR
Mr. ZHANG Yushuai® Domestic Shares  Interest in 226,200,000 (L) - 100% (L) 25.70% (L)
RER S AES NER controlled
corporation
SR EEER
H Shares Interest in 248,015,200 (L) - 37.93% (L) 28.18% (L)
HA& controlled
carporation
ZEH AR R
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ESEWE
= T 3
Number of
Number of underlying
Shares/ sharesheld  Approximate  Approximate
underlying under equity  percentageof  percentage of
Shares held derivatives  relevant class total issued
(shares) (shares)  of share capital share capital
HRALT&
BERD/ I8KE HBEEIRE CRTREALHE
Name of Shareholders Types of Shares  Capacity HBRGEE HERGHE OHLEINE WEKESH
RREH LGkl 51 (&) (&) (%) (%)
Ms. HUA Xiaoyi” Domestic Shares  Interestin 226,200,000 (L) - 100% (L) 25.70% (L)
EE—gt7 NER controlled
carporation
R AR R
H Shares Interest in 248,015,200 (L) - 37.93% (L) 28.18% (L)
HA& controlled
carporation
AR R
North & South Brother Pharmacy H Shares Beneficial owner 161,542,800 (L) - 24.70% (L) 18.35% (L)
Investment Company Limited® HR BREEA
RILRBRRBARRAA® H Shares Beneficial owner 150,000,000 (5) - 29%() 17.04%0)
H& BREEA
North & South Brother Investment H Shares Interest in 161,542,800 (L) - 24.70% (L) 18.35% (L)
Holdings Limited® HAR contralled
corporation
SR EEER
H Shares Interest in 150,000,000 (S) - 22.94% (S) 17.04% (S)
HA% controlled
carporation
ZEH AR R
Mr. MO Kit® H Shares Interest in 161,542,800 (L) - 24.70% (L) 18.35% (L)
ERRES HER controlled
carporation
AR R
H Shares Interest in 150,000,000 (S) - 22.94% (S) 17.04% (S)
H% controlled
corporation
AR R
Stephen A. SCHWARZMAN® H Shares Interest in - 170,828,436 (L) 26.13% (L) 19.41% (L)
Hf% controlled 170,828,436 (S) 26.13% (S) 19.41% (S)
corporation
Rt EE RS
Blackstone Inc.? H Shares Interest in - 170,828,436 (L) 26.13% (L) 19.41% (L)
HA% controlled 170,828,436 (S) 26.13% (S) 19.41% (S)
carporation
R EEER
Blackstone Dawn Pte. Ltd. H Shares Beneficial owner - 167,411,867 (L) 25.61% (L) 19.02% (L)
H& ERBEEA 167,411,867 (S) 25.61% (5) 19.02% (5)
(L) — Long position (L) — A
(S) — Short position (S) — KB
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The calculation is based on the total number of 879,967,700 shares
in issue of the Company as at 31 December 2022, comprising
226,200,000 Domestic Shares and 653,767,700 H Shares.

Notes:

Mr. TANG Xinfa is a director of Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd..

The shareholding information of the Shareholders as at 31 December 2022 are
based on the information recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 352 of the SFO.

As at 31 December 2022, Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd. directly
owned 27.97% equity interest in Guangdong HEC Technology Holding Co., Ltd.
and Guangdong HEC Technology Holding Co., Ltd. (which directly held 21,815,200
H Shares) was a controlled corporation of Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development
Co., Ltd.; and Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd. indirectly owned
18.35% equity interest in Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd., and HEC (Hong Kong)
Sales Co., Limited (which directly held 226,200,000 H Shares) is wholly-owned
by Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd. (a controlled corporation of Shenzhen HEC
Industrial Development Co., Ltd.). Therefore, Shenzhen HEC Industrial
Development Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Guangdong HEC Technology Holding Co., Ltd. and HEC (Hong Kong) Sales Co.,
Limited (248,015,200 H Shares in total).

Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd. owned
42.34% equity interest in Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd. and
58.00% equity interest in Shaoguan Xinyuneng Industrial Investment Company
Limited, which owned 27.00% equity interest in Shenzhen HEC Industrial
Development Co., Ltd., therefore Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Yuneng
Electric Industrial Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the Shares which are
interested by Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd..

Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing Technology Development Co., Ltd. owned
30.66% equity interest in Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd. and
42% equity interest in Shaoguan Xinyuneng Industrial Investment Company
Limited, which owned 27.00% equity interest in Shenzhen HEC Industrial
Development Co., Ltd., therefore Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing
Technology Development Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the Shares which
are interested by Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd..

EREWE

FEDIREBARARRZZEZ_F+=H
=+ — B/ EITIRM 42%81879,967,700
f& S H - 8 1E226,200,000 W E f% &
653,767,700 B H & o
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Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd. pledged 226,200,000 Domestic Shares to a third-
party lender as collateral for the loan provided to it by the third-party lender.

HEC (Hong Kong) Sales Co., Limited pledged 226,200,000 H Shares to a third-
party lender as collateral for the loan provided to Sunshine Lake Pharma by the
third-party lender.

As at 31 December 2022, Ms. Guo Meilan (“Ms. Guo”) owned 74.63% equity
interest in Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing Technology Development Co.,
Ltd., therefore Ms. Guo is deemed to be interested in the Shares which are
interested by Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing Technology Development
Co., Ltd..

As at 31 December 2022, Ms. Guo owned 72.11% equity interest in Ruyuan Yao
Autonomous County Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd., therefore Ms. Guo is
deemed to be interested in the Shares which are interested by Ruyuan Yao
Autonomous County Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd..

As at 31 December 2022, Mr. ZHANG Yushuai owned 27.59% equity interest in
Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd., therefore
Mr. ZHANG Yushuai is deemed to be interested in the Shares which are interested
by Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd..

Ms. Hua Xiaoyi is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Yushuai and, therefore, is deemed to
be interested in the Shares which are interested by Mr. Zhang Yushuai under the
SFO.

As at 31 December 2022, North & South Brother Investment Holdings Limited
owned 100% equity interest in North & South Brother Pharmacy Investment
Company Limited and is deemed to be interested in the Shares which are
interested by North & South Brother Pharmacy Investment Company Limited. Mr.
MO Kit owned 100% equity interest in North & South Brother Investment
Holdings Limited and therefore, he is deemed to be interested in the Shares
which are interested by North & South Brother Investment Holdings Limited.

This represents the Shares to be issued upon the exercise of the conversion right
attached to the H Share convertible bonds, which price being initially HK$38 per
H Share, subject to adjustment. The price was adjusted to HK$19 per H Share due
to the completion of bonus issue of Shares on 10 July 2020. The conversion price
was further adjusted to HK$14 per H Share according to the adjusted net profit
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021. Stephen A. SCHWARZMAN
through Blackstone Inc. (formerly known as The Blackstone Group L.P.) and its
directly and indirectly controlled entities are deemed to be interested in the
unlisted derivatives — convertible instruments in relation to 61,678,055 Shares
(which are adjusted to 167,411,867 Shares due to bonus issue of Shares and the
adjustment of the conversion price) held by Blackstone Dawn Pte. Ltd., in
relation to 354,020 Shares (which are adjusted to 960,911 Shares due to bonus
issue of Shares and the adjustment of the conversion price) held by Blackstone
Dawn Holdings ESC (Cayman) Ltd. and in relation to 904,717 Shares (which are
adjusted to 2,455,659 Shares due to bonus issue of Shares and the adjustment
of the conversion price) held by BCP VIl Dawn ESC (Cayman) NQ Ltd.

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors
were not aware of any interests or short positions owned by any
persons (other than the Directors, Supervisors or chief executive of
the Company) in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company
which are required to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which are required to be
recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of all or
any substantial part of our business was entered into by the
Company or existed in 2022.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has conducted certain non-exempt connected

transactions during the year of 2022.

Pursuant to Rule 8(1) of Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules, the issuers
are required to disclose details of connected transactions that are
not exempted from the annual reporting requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in accordance with Rule 14A.71.
Details of the non-exempt connected transaction of the Company
entered into during the year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows:

On 23 December 2022, the Company (as the transferor), Shenzhen
HEC Industrial (as the transferee) and Sunshine Lake Pharma (being
the target company) entered into an equity transfer agreement,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to transfer and Shenzhen
HEC Industrial agreed to acquire the capital contribution in the
amount of RMB27,720,405 (representing 9.9134% of equity interest)
of Sunshine Lake Pharma held by the Company at a consideration of
RMB2,312,319,650.
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The Disposal aims to address the cross-shareholding formed
between Sunshine Lake Pharma and the Company for clarity of
equity interest of both parties, thus to facilitate the business
operation and development of both parties in the future. The
Company proposes to use the proceeds from the disposal of the
Target Equity for replenishment of working capital of the Company,
thereby further improving the profitability of the Company.

Sunshine Lake Pharma is entitled to control the exercise of
approximately 51.41% of the voting rights of the Company and is
therefore a controlling Shareholder and a connected person of the
Company. Shenzhen HEC Industrial is the holding company of
Sunshine Lake Pharma. Therefore, as an associate of Sunshine Lake
Pharma, Shenzhen HEC Industrial constitutes a connected person of
the Company by virtue of being the holding company of the
controlling Shareholder of the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions between the
Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial constitute connected

transactions of the Company.

Since the highest applicable percentage ratio (as defined in the
Listing Rules) in respect of the Equity Transfer Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder exceeds 25% but is lower
than 75%, the Equity Transfer Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constitute a major transaction of the
Company and is subject to the reporting, announcement and
Independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14
of the Listing Rules. The abovementioned transactions were
approved by the Independent Shareholders at the 2023 first
extraordinary general meeting convened and held on 28 March
2023.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 23
December 2022 and 28 March 2023 and the circular of the Company
dated 10 March 2023 for details.
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Continuing Connected Transactions BHERERS
The Group has conducted certain non-exempt continuing connected AEBER - - —FRNETT & TIHEHRE
transactions during the year of 2022: FEMER S
Actual
Annual caps transaction
for2022 amountin 2022
S RZEBEZZFH
FELR BERXZEH
Continuing connected transactions Connected persons RMB’000 RMB’000
BEBERS BEAL AREEFIT ARBFT
Energy Purchase Framework Agreement ~ Shenzhen HEC Industrial 56,000 42,769
BLRERIBIEZR B2 YRGB R
APIs Purchase Agreement Shenzhen HEC Industrial 40,000 29,777
[RE R B 2 YRS E %
Packaging and Production Materials Shenzhen HEC Industrial 45,000 40,229
Purchase Framework Agreement
B R AEEMBHR R Pl
Equipment Purchase and Civil Shenzhen HEC Industrial 37,000 24,569
Construction Framework Agreement
REBE N2t THER = RYIRGHEE
Entrusted Processing Framework Shenzhen HEC Industrial 103,066 73,140
Agreement
ZREMTHESE ek RINRS B
Leasing and Other Services Shenzhen HEC Industrial 27,000 8,824
Framework Agreement
HEREMREIER RYIRGHEE
APIs and Pharmaceutical Products Sales Shenzhen HEC Industrial 15,012 11,174
Framework Agreement
JRRHBE K B on S SR 2R RYIREGHEE
Entrusted Production and Inspection Shenzhen HEC Industrial 59,000 39,843
Services Framework Agreement
LRTAEEROR RIS ER B YIRS HEE
(1)  Energy Purchase Framework Agreement (1) REREKBERGE
On 27 April 2022, the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial RZEZZFMNAZ++H  AAF
entered into the Energy Purchase Framework Agreement, BRI RS B 35T S s IR ER BB AE 2R
pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase electricity W - Bt AARIRERRYIRES
and steam power required for its production from Shenzhen HEXBEEHESTEMTENE I RE
HEC Industrial with an annual cap of RMB56,000,000 for the e BERRBEEBEETHEE
year ended 31 December 2022. IS A=TRAILEFENFE

IR A AR ¥ 56,000,0007T °
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APIs Purchase Agreement

On 27 April 2022, the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial
entered into the APIs Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which
the Company agreed to purchase certain APIs such as
Aripiprazole, Rivaroxaban, Escitalopram Oxalate and
Clarithromycin from Shenzhen HEC Industrial with an annual
cap of RMB40,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Packaging and Production Materials Purchase Framework
Agreement

On 27 April 2022, the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial
entered into the Packaging and Production Materials Purchase
Framework Agreement, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to purchase specific packaging materials and
production materials from Shenzhen HEC Industrial with an
annual cap of RMB36,000,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022.

As at the nine months ended 30 September 2022, the
transaction amount under the Packaging and Production
Materials Purchase Framework Agreement has amounted to
approximately RMB28,767,200, representing utilization of
approximately 79.9% of the Original Annual Cap of
RMB36,000,000 with only approximately one-fifth of the
Original Annual Cap available for the production to be carried
out in the fourth quarter of 2022. In order to satisfy the
production needs of the Group for the fourth quarter of 2022,
the Directors proposed to increase the annual cap under the
Packaging and Production Materials Purchase Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2022. After taking
into account of the expected sales volume of the drugs
manufactured by the Group and the inventories of the Group,
the Company increased the annual cap under the Packaging
and Production Materials Purchase Framework Agreement by
RMBS,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022.
Accordingly, the annual cap under the Packaging and
Production Materials Purchase Framework Agreement for the
year ended 31 December 2022 has been revised to
RMB45,000,000. For details, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 27 October 2022.

(2

(3)
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Equipment Purchase and Civil Construction Framework
Agreement

On 27 April 2022, the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial
entered into the Equipment Purchase and Civil Construction
Framework Agreement, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to purchase certain equipment and civil construction
services from Shenzhen HEC Industrial with an annual cap of
RMB37,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Entrusted Processing Framework Agreement

On 27 April 2022, the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial
entered into the Entrusted Processing Framework Agreement,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase
pharmaceutical processing services for its certain
pharmaceutical products, including Olmesartan Tablets,
Moxifloxacin Hydrochloride Tablets, Clarithromycin Tablets,
Aripiprazole Tablets, Levofloxacin Tablets, Rivaroxaban Tablets,
Duloxetine Enteric-coated Capsules, Escitalopram Oxalate
Tablets, Xadiafil Tablets, Aripiprazole Orally Disintegrating
Tablets, Entacapone Tablets, Febuxostat Tablets, Apixaban
Tablets, Mitoglol Sustained Release Tablets, Atorvastatin
Calcium Tablets, Rongliflozin and other APIs from Shenzhen
HEC Industrial with an annual cap of RMB103,066,200 for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

Leasing and Other Services Framework Agreement

On 27 April 2022, the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial
entered into the Leasing and Other Services Framewaork
Agreement, pursuant to which Shenzhen HEC Industrial will
provide office buildings, warehouse, inspection and testing
service, conference accommodation and other services to the
Company with an annual cap of RMB27,000,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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APls and Pharmaceutical Products Sales Framework

Agreement

On 27 April 2022, the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial
entered into the APIs and Pharmaceutical Products Sales
Framework Agreement, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to sell APIs such as Esomeprazole Magnesium,
Oseltamivir Phosphate, Olanzapine, Entacapone, Febuxostat
and chemical pharmaceutical products to Shenzhen HEC
Industrial with an annual cap of RMB15,012,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Entrusted Production and Inspection Services Framework

Agreement

On 27 April 2022, the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial
entered into the Entrusted Production and Inspection Services
Framework Agreement, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to provide production and inspection services to
Shenzhen HEC Industrial. The scope of the entrusted
production and inspection services includes provision of
production, inspection and testing services to Dong An Tai,
Dong An Qiang, Peramivir, Galantamine, Baloxavir, Paliperidone
Palmitate, other generic drugs, other new drugs, insulin
degludec APIs and injection, insulin degludec/insulin aspart,
insulin degludec/liraglutide injection and intermediates of
generic drugs with an annual cap of RMB59,000,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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Review by and Confirmation of Independent Non-executive
Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions, and confirmed that such
transactions were:

(i)  carried out in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(i) made on normal or better commercial terms (as defined in the
Listing Rules); and

(iii)  carried out according to the terms in the relevant transaction
agreements, which are fair and reasonable, and in the interests
of the Shareholders as a whole.

External auditor’s report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (revised),
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its letter to the
Board in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed
by the Group on page 95 to 98 of this Annual Report in accordance
with Listing Rule 14A.56, including confirming that, in respect of

such continuing connected transactions:

(@ nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the continuing connected transactions have not

been approved by the Company’s board of directors;

(b)  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes
them to believe that the transactions were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;
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(c) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions; and

(d) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing
connected transactions, nothing has come to their attention
that causes them to believe that the continuing connected
transactions have exceeded the relevant annual cap.

A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided to the Stock
Exchange by the Company.

Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in
Note 29 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. Apart from the
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions as
disclosed in this Annual Report, none of the related party
transactions constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
which are subject to announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements. The Company has complied with disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
respect of the connected transactions and the continuing connected
transactions as set out in this Annual Report.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The Company had entered into a non-competition agreement on 6
December 2015 with HEC Pharm, Linzhi HEC Pharmaceutical
Investment Co., Ltd. (MRZ 5 e B2 %L E BB A 7)), Dongguan HEC
Industrial Development Co., Ltd. GREM RS KB EERE AR A F),
Shenzhen HEC Industrial, Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Yuneng
Electric Industrial Co., Ltd. (FLREKEB/AZEET T EEARBR AR,
Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing Technology Development
Co., Ltd. (FL/R ¥ Ik B8 B X B X B R B R 22 7)), Mr. ZHANG
Zhongneng (3RFF AE) and Ms. GUO Meilan (EF5R8).

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Non-
competition Agreement and had determined that Mr. Zhang Yushuai,
the Then Controlling Shareholders and their subsidiaries have not
been in breach of the Non-competition Undertaking during the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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AMENDMENT TO NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT

As the Company and Sunshine Lake Pharma (which was a controlled
subsidiary of the Controlling Shareholders of the Company by the time
entering into the 2021 Non-Competition Agreement (as defined
below)) will make more specific arrangements in relation to the
business cooperation, the relevant contents of the 2015 Non-
Competition Agreement will no longer be applicable to Sunshine Lake
Pharma. Therefore, the Controlling Shareholders of the Company
proposed to amend the 2015 Non-Competition Agreement to stipulate
that the relevant contents of the 2015 Non-Competition Agreement
will no longer be applicable to Sunshine Lake Pharma. On 19 March
2021, the Company (i) entered into the 2021 Non-Competition
Agreement with HEC Pharm, Yichang HEC Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* (&
g H 5 i B % % E R A a) (formerly known as Linzhi HEC
Pharmaceutical Investment Co., Ltd.* (AR 5155 221 E IR A A)),
Dongguan HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd.* (BRZEMRG K EE
% &’ B BR 2 7)), Shenzhen HEC Industrial, Ruyuan Yao Autonomous
County Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd.* (IR B AR EAEE
FEEERAA]), Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing Technology
Development Co., Ltd.* (FLREEZBAZ M AR R EEFR A R),
Ms. Guo Meilan (3B#%) and Mr. Zhang Yushuai (3R&R1) (the “2021
Non-Competition Agreement”), pursuant to which, the provisions
involving Sunshine Lake Pharma (as a controlled subsidiary of the
controlling shareholders of the Company) were excluded from the
2021 Non-Competition Agreement. Other terms of the 2021 Non-
Competition Agreement remain the same as the terms of the 2015
Non-Competition Agreement; (ii) entered into the Sunshine Lake
Pharma Non-Competition Agreement with Sunshine Lake Pharma (the
“Sunshine Lake Pharma Non-Competition Agreement”), pursuant to
which, the Company and Sunshine Lake Pharma (a) undertook and
procured their respective subsidiaries to undertake certain scope of
non-competition and commitments with the counterparty and its
subsidiaries; and (b) agreed to cooperate in sales of pharmaceutical
products within the PRC; and (iii) entered into the Gift Agreement on
Equity Interests with Shenzhen HEC Industrial (the “Gift Agreement on
Equity Interests”, together with the 2021 Non-Competition
Agreement and the Sunshine Lake Pharma Non-Competition
Agreement, collectively the “Revised Non-Competition Agreements”),
pursuant to which, the controlling shareholders of the Company
intended to transfer 10% of the equity of Sunshine Lake Pharma to
compensate the Company through themselves or a third party
designated by them.
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On 25 June 2021, the then shareholders of the Company (other than
Guangdong HEC) approved the Revised Non-Competition Agreements
at the 2021 first extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

On 10 August 2021, the Company received a notice from Shenzhen
HEC Industrial that it has designated its controlling subsidiary,
Yichang HEC Research Co., Ltd.* (B & RF5 L ZEMZEF R 2 7]) (being
the direct controlling sharehaolder of Sunshine Lake Pharma), to
transfer 10% of the equity of Sunshine Lake Pharma to the Company.
As at the date of this Annual Report, Sunshine Lake Pharma has
completed the relevant registration procedures in respect of the
aforesaid change in shareholding interests with the market

regulation department.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 19 March 2021, 25 June 2021 and 10 August 2021 and the
circular of the Company dated 28 May 2021. On 25 June 2021, the
shareholders of the Company (other than Guangdong HEC) approved
the Revised Non-Competition Agreements at the 2021 first
extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

On 10 August 2021, the Company received a notice from Shenzhen
HEC Industrial that it has designated its controlling subsidiary,
Yichang HEC Research Co., Ltd.* (B & R[5 B 2B R A F]) (being
the direct controlling shareholder of Sunshine Lake Pharma), to
transfer 10% of the equity of Sunshine Lake Pharma to the Company.
As at the date of this Annual Report, Sunshine Lake Pharma has
completed the relevant registration procedures in respect of the
aforesaid change in shareholding interests with the market

regulation department.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 19 March 2021, 25 June 2021 and 10 August 2021 and the
circular of the Company dated 28 May 2021.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total amount of
procurement from the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted
for 31.31% of the total amount of procurement of the year. Among
the five largest suppliers for the year of 2022, Sunshine Lake
Pharma, Yichang HEC Biochemical Manufacturing and Yichang HEC
Power Plant are subsidiaries of Shenzhen HEC Industrial; the single
largest supplier was Sunshine Lake Pharma and our purchase from
that company accounted for 12.58% of the total purchase amount

during the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total amount of sales to
the five largest customers of the Group accounted for 24.07% of the
total revenue of sales of the year. The sales to the largest customers
accounted for 13.12% of the total revenue of sales of the year.

Save as disclosed above, during the year of 2022, to the knowledge
of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close associates, or
Shareholders of the Company (which, to the knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the number of issued Shares of
the Company) had interests in the five largest suppliers or customers

of the Company.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, at no time during the year of
2022 had the Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into any
contract of significance with the Controlling Shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries, nor had any contract of significance been entered
into for the services provided by the Controlling Shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Please refer to the Note 5(b) to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for detailed information on the retirement and employee
benefits scheme.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

As a company listed on the Stock Exchange, the Company always
strives to maintain a high level of corporate governance and had
complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
a public float of no less than 25% of the issued shares during this
year and up to the latest practicable date prior to the date of issue
of this Annual Report, which was in line with the requirement under

the Listing Rules.
USE OF PROCEEDS
Proceeds from the Global Offering

According to the final results of the Global Offering, the net proceeds
raised from the Global Offering are approximately HK$1,307.5
million (approximately RMB1,095.4 million).

In view of the relatively low interests rate on deposits and in order
to enhance the efficiency of use of the net proceeds from the Global
Offering and avoid exchange loss, based on the latest construction
budget for the new oral formulation production plant and new
insulin production plant, the Board resolved on 22 December 2017
to reallocate the unutilised net proceeds originally allocated to (i)
new oral formulation production plant and (ii) promotional and
marketing activities of approximately RMB701.4 million for (i) the
new insulin production plant and (ii) working capital and general
corporate purposes, including the payment of the patent royalties in
connection with Oseltamivir Phosphate and cash dividends to the
Sharehalders.
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As at 31 December 2022, details of utilization of the net proceeds
raised from the Global Offering are as follows:

EESHE
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FIS R FREMFEAFBIT ¢

Revised allocation Utilized amount  Unutilized amount as

ofuseof  asat 31 December at 31 December

net proceeds 2022 2022

(Approximate (Approximate (Approximate

RMB million) RMB million) RMB million)

REZE-F-_F REE-Z_-F

FrSSEER t=A=t-H +=A=t+-H

ARENEETIE MEBRLE MWABREE

(WARMEER) (WAR®EER) (WARBEETR)

New oral formulation production plant HOREEEETR 300.0 300.0 0
New insulin production plant HRERAELH 328.7 328.7 0
Promotional and marketing activities HERZHEED 136.1 136.1 0
Working capital and general corporate purposes ~ ZiE&E & L—REERR 3306 3306 0
Total st 1,095.4 1,095.4 0

The net proceeds raised from the Global Offering were fully utilized
during 2022.

Proceeds from H Share Convertible Bonds

On 14 August 2018, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement the (“Subscription Agreement”) with certain entities
ultimately controlled by Blackstone Inc. (formerly known as The
Blackstone Group L.P.) (the “Blackstone Fund SPVs”), pursuant to
which, the Blackstone Fund SPVs have conditionally agreed to
subscribe for, and the Company has conditionally agreed to issue,
the H share convertible bonds with an aggregate principal amount of
US$400,000,000 (the “H Share Convertible Bonds”).

The H Share Convertible Bonds, which bear interest at the rate of
3.0% per annum and may be converted into 82,631,578 conversion
shares at the initial conversion price of HK$38 per share (assuming
full conversion of the H Share Convertible Bonds), representing
approximately 18.41% of the existing issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this Annual Report and approximately
15.55% of the total issued share capital as enlarged by the issue of

the conversion shares.
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The proceeds from the issue of the H Share Convertible Bonds are
intended to be used for the purposes of the acquisition of drugs and
other pharmaceutical products (including APIs), capital expenditure
on production facilities, expansion of sales and distribution networks
and other purposes subject to the prior written consent of the
subscriber.

The issue of H Share Convertible Bonds represents an excellent
opportunity for the Company to embrace market opportunities and
enhance its market positions in the pharmaceutical industry. At the
same time, the Group plans to tap this opportunity to introduce
Blackstone Inc. (formerly known as The Blackstone Group L.P.) and
its affiliated companies as a long-term strategic investor to help the
Company carry out drug acquisitions, advance its development
strategy, operation and management, strengthen international
cooperation, and improve corporate governance and investor

relations.

All the conditions precedent for the issue and subscription of the H
Share Convertible Bonds under the Subscription Agreement have

been fulfilled and that completion took place on 20 February 2018.

On 20 February 2019, the Company issued a tranche of 1,600 H
Share Convertible Bonds with an aggregate principal amount of
USD400,000,000. Each has a face value of USD250,000. The
Company has received the net proceeds from the issue of the H
Share Convertible Bonds, after deduction of expenses payable in
connection with the issue of the H Share Convertible Bonds, of
approximately USD396.44 million, with net proceeds from each of
the H Share Convertible Bonds amounting to approximately
USD247,778.

On 5 June 2020, the conversion price of the H Share Convertible
Bonds has been adjusted from HK$38 per conversion share to HK$19
per conversion share as the Shareholders have approved the bonus
issue of shares at the 2019 annual general meeting. Based on the
total outstanding principal amount of the H Share Convertible Bonds
of USD400,000,000, the maximum number of shares that will be
issued upon conversion of all the outstanding bonds at the adjusted

caonversion price is 165,263,156 shares.
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Proceeds from the H Share Convertible Bonds had been used up fully
utilized during 2020.

During the Reporting Period, the Company implemented various
safeguard measures for repayment in accordance with the
Subscription Agreement. The Company fully paid interest to
Blackstone Fund SPVs on time, and there was no interest payment
default. The willingness to repay the debt was normal, which fully

protected the legitimate interests of Blackstone Fund SPVs.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the instrument dated 20
February 2019 in respect of the Bonds (the “Bond Instrument” and
such terms and conditions, being the “Conditions”), the Company
may at any time and from time to time purchase the Bonds at any
price in the open market or otherwise. In accordance with the
Conditions, on 8 September 2022, the Company entered into a bond
purchase agreement with holders of the Bonds (the “Sellers”),
pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase certain Bonds (i)
in the aggregate principal amount of US$95,337,821 from the Sellers
at the total purchase price of US$127,317,844, or (ii) in the
aggregate principal amount of US$110,675,641 from the Sellers at
the total purchase price of US$147,906,079. The total purchase
price was determined with reference to the calculation formula in

respect of Early Redemption Amount under the Bond Instrument.

As of the end of the Reporting Period, the outstanding principal
amount of the H Shares convertible bonds was US$304,662,179.

The conversion price was further adjusted to HK$14 per H Share
according to the adjusted net profit of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Subsequent to the Reporting Period, the Company has further
repurchased certain H Share Convertible Bonds in the aggregate
principal amount of US$28,911,534 in January 2023, US$21,559,389
in February 2023 and US$21,559,389 in March 2023, and
US$38,547,623 in April 2023, respectively.
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The Company entered into a bond purchase agreement the Sellers
on 13 January 2023, pursuant to which the Company agreed to
purchase certain Bonds (1) in the aggregate principal amount of
US$28,311,534 from the Sellers at the total purchase price of
US$40,000,000 on or before 31 January 2023 (the “First Trench
Repurchased Bonds”) ; and (2) in the aggregate principal amount of
US$43,118,778 from the Sellers at the total purchase price of
US$60,000,000 on or before 28 February 2023 (the “Second Trench
Repurchased Bonds”). The total purchase price was determined
after arm’s length negotiation between the Company and the
Sellers.

On 27 February 2023, the Company further entered into a
supplemental agreement with the Sellers in respect of the Second
Trench Repurchased Bonds (the “Supplemental Agreement”), under
which the Company and the Sellers agreed to revise the date of
repurchase of part of the Second Trench Repurchased Bonds.
Pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement, the Company agreed to
complete the repurchase of the Second Trench Repurchased Bonds
on or before 15 March 2023. The total purchase price for the Second
Trench Repurchased Bonds remained unchanged at US$60,000,000.

On 9 March 2023, the Company entered into a third bond purchase
agreement with the Sellers, pursuant to which the Company agreed
to purchase certain Bonds (i) in the aggregate principal amount of
US$38,547,623 from the Sellers at the total purchase price of
US$54,075,477 on or before 3 April 2023; and (i) in the aggregate
principal amount of US$194,161,057 from the Sellers at the total
purchase price of US$278,191,332 on or before 30 June 2023 (the
“Partial Repurchase of Bonds”). The total purchase price for the
Partial Repurchase of Bonds was determined after arm’s length
negotiation between the Company and the Sellers.
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As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Partial Repurchase of Bonds
has not yet been completed. Upon completion of the Partial
Repurchase of Bonds, the principal amount of the Bonds will be
repurchased in full and the Seller will no longer have any interest in
the Bonds and/or any rights arising thereof. Accordingly, no further
Shares will be issuable by the Company pursuant to the terms of the
Bonds after the completion of the Partial Repurchase of Bonds.

Save as disclosed above, none of the conversion rights under the H
Share Convertible Bonds had been exercised as at the Latest
Practicable Date.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 14 August
2018, 15 October 2018, 20 February 2019, 16 June 2020, 8
September 2022, 13 January 2023, 27 February 2023 and S March
2023 and the circular of the Company dated 11 September 2018 for
details.

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company was not
engaged in any litigation or arbitration of material importance and
no litigation or claim of material importance is known to the
Directors to be pending or threatened against the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee includes two independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. TANG Jianxin and Ms. XIANG Ling and one non-
executive director, namely Mr. TANG Xinfa. With professional
qualification and experience in finance, Mr. TANG Jianxin was
appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to make independent
recommendations on the effectiveness of our financial reporting
procedures, internal control and risk management systems and
maintaining good relationship with external auditors of the Group,
so as to assist the Board, supervise the audit process and perform
other responsibilities and related duties assigned by the Board. The
Audit Committee will meet with the external auditors of the
Company and in-house auditors, and review their plans, internal
audit procedures, their results of audits and review of the risk
management and internal supervision system.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s 2022 annual results
announcement, the Annual Report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 prepared in
accordance with the IFRSs.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Company is committed to promoting the sustainable
development of the environment and the society. In recognition of
the potential climate impact due to manufacturing of
pharmaceutical products, the Company strives to enhance the
environmental performance of its pharmaceutical products
manufacturing and development through eco-friendly operational
measures as well as supporting a number of external charters with
regard to energy efficiency and carbon reduction. In addition, during
the Reporting Period, the Group had continually increased
investment in R&D, upgrading its technology, improved production
process, focused on the establishment of drug quality system,
extended the life cycle of pharmaceutical products and lowered the
cost in order to offer safe, efficient, affordable pharmaceutical
products and services. The Group constantly strengthened
environment protection, optimized the production process and
improved the utilization rate of the production facilities for the
purposes of energy saving, emission reduction and environment
protection. The Group emphasized harmaonious development with
nature to protect the sustainable development of the environment.
The Group also improved clean production as well as environmental
protection construction, and proactively supported environmental

protection and charitable matters in the community.
COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance with such
requirements could lead to the termination of operating licences.
The Group has been allocating system and staff resources to ensure
ongoing compliance with rules and regulations and to maintain
cordial working relationships with regulators effectively through

effective communications. During the year of 2022, the Group has
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complied, to the best of our knowledge, with all relevant rules and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company, including
but not limited to the Company Law of the PRC, the Securities Law
of the PRC, the Code of Corporate Governance for Listed Companies,
the Listing Rules, Drug Administration Law of the PRC, the Measures
for the Administration of Drug Registration and the Good
Manufacture Practice of Drugs.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognizes that our employees, customers and
business associates are keys to our sustainable journey. We strive to
achieve corporate sustainability through engaging our employees,
providing quality services for our customers, collaborating with

business partners and supporting our community.

The Company places significant emphasis on human capital. The
Company provides a fair workplace, promoting non-discrimination
and diversity to our staff, together with competitive remuneration
and benefits, as well as a range of opportunities for career
advancement based on employees’ merits and performance. The
Company administers its employee health and safety management
system and ensures the adoption of the principles across the Group.
The Company provides regular trainings for staff to keep them
abreast of the latest developments in the market and industry, in
the form of both internal trainings and trainings provided by experts

from external organizations.

To enhance customer satisfaction and promote a customer-oriented
culture within the Company, we take ‘Customer First’ as one of our
core values. We value the feedback from customers through daily
communication, regular inspections and etc. We have also
established the mechanism about customer service, support and
complaints. When dealing with a customer complaint, we treat it as
an opportunity to improve our relationship with the customer,
addressing the concern in a timely manner and in accordance with

international standards.
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We believe that our suppliers are equally important in driving quality
delivery of our products. We proactively collaborate with our
business associates (including suppliers and contractors) to deliver
quality sustainable products and services. We have included certain
requirements in our standard tender documents. These
requirements include regulatory compliance, labour practices, anti-
corruption and other business ethics. We assure the performance of
our suppliers through supplier approval process and by conducting
factory audits and site visits and spot checks on the delivered goods

at site during the contractual periods.
AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 have been audited by KPMG who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the AGM.
A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as the Company’s
auditors will be proposed for the Shareholders’ approval at the AGM.
The Company did not change the auditor in the preceding three

years.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Summary of results of operation and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 4 in this

Annual Report.

On behalf of the Board

YiChang HEC ChangJiang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
TANG Xinfa

Chairman

Hubei, the PRC

24 March 2023
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In 2022, all members of the Board of Supervisors complied with the
requirement of the Company Law of the PRC, the Articles of
Assaociation, as well as relevant regulations to diligently and honestly
perform their duties. They independently exercised their power
under the law to ensure the standard operation of the Company and
protect the interests of the Company and the investors. The Board
of Supervisars supervised the Company’s operation plans, use of
proceeds from financing activities, connected transactions,
production and operation activities of the Company, financial
position and performance of duty of the Directors and senior
management of the Company as well as the operation of
subsidiaries, and facilitated the compliant operation and healthy
development of the Company. The report of main works of the Board

of Supervisors for this year is set forth below:

1. BASIC ASSESSMENT OF THE COMPANY’S
OPERATION AND MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES AND
PERFORMANCE IN 2022

In 2022, the Board of Supervisors strictly complied with the
requirements of the Company Law of the PRC, the Articles of
Association, the Rules of the Procedures of the Board of
Supervisors as well as relevant laws and regulations to
honestly perform its supervise duties in pragmatically
protecting the interests and rights of the Company and the
many minority Shareholders.
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After having attended each of the meetings of the Board of
Directors and the general meetings in 2022, the Board of
Supervisors is of the opinion that the Board of Directors has
earnestly implemented resolutions of the general meetings
and faithfully performed fiduciary duties, it has not conducted
any acts which would damage the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders. Each resolution of the Board of Directors
has been in compliance with the requirements of the Company
Law of the PRC and other laws and regulations as well as the
Articles of Association. The Board of Supervisors supervised
the production and operation activities of the Company during
its session period. It considers that the management members
of Company earnestly implemented every resolution of the
Board with due diligence and conducted no acts of violation in

the course of business.

DETAILS OF MEETINGS OF BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS

During the Reporting Period, the Board of Supervisors held two

meetings in aggregate:

(1) 0On 21 March 2022, the first meeting of 2022 of Board of
Supervisors was convened and approved the resolutions
in relation to Work Report of Board of Supervisors for
2021, and 2021 Final Accounts Report of the Company.
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(2)

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

0n 26 August 2022, the second meeting of 2022 of Board
of Supervisors was convened and approved the
resolution in relation to the interim results
announcement for the six months ended 30 June 2022,
interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2022,
and The Proposal Regarding the 2022 Interim Dividend

Distribution Plan.

THE SUPERVISORY OPINION FROM THE BOARD
OF SUPERVISORS ON RELATED MATTERS OF THE
COMPANY IN 2022

1)

Financial Conditions of the Company

The Board of Supervisors conducted inspection with
regard to the financial conditions of the Company’s own
segment and its subsidiaries after having taken into
account the actual situation of the Company in ways of
hearing reports from financial department and regular
auditing and other methods, thus strengthening the
supervision over the Company’s financial affairs. The
Board of Supervisors is of the view that the Company and
each of its subsidiaries have established their own
independent financial departments with separate
financial books and have conducted auditing
independently, and that they have complied with
Accounting Law of the PRC as well as relevant financial
regulations and rules. In 2022, the financial management
of the Company and each of its subsidiaries was carried
out on a standard basis and the accounting statements
gave a true and accurate picture of the actual situation

of the Company and each of its subsidiaries.
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(2) Details of Connected Transactions

During the Reporting Period, the ordinary connected
transactions between the Company and its connected
persons have all been considered and approved on the
meetings of the Board of Directors or general meetings (if
applicable) of the Company. The connected transactions
were carried out in accordance with contracts or
agreements in arm’s length with no damages to the

interests of the Company.

4. COMPREHENSIVE OPINION FROM BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS ON THE COMPANY’S SITUATION IN
2022

(1) During the Reporting Period, members of the Board of
Supervisors earnestly performed duties and supervised
the Board of Director’s performance of duties and its
implementations of the Company’s decision procedures
by attending meetings of the Board of Directors. The
Board of Supervisors is of the view that each resolution
and decision procedure has been arrived by the Board of
Directors in due compliance of the requirements of the
Company Law of the PRC, the Articles of Association and
the Rules of the Procedures of the Meetings of the Board

of Directors and are legal and effective.

(2) During the Reporting Period, the senior management
members of the Company fulfilled their duties in
accordance with the Articles of Association and relevant
laws and regulations of China. With aims to protect the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders, they
earnestly implemented the resolutions of the general
meetings of the Company, fulfilled obligations of
fiduciary and due diligence so as to facilitate the
Company to carry out a standard operation, democratic
decision, management science, clear target and
continuing innovation, having achieved favorable

economic benefits without acts of violation.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

(3) The Board of Supervisors has earnestly reviewed the
financial reports for 2022 and other relevant
information. It considers that such reports give an
objective view of the Company’s financial conditions and
operating results. The operating results of the Company
for 2022 are true and accurate and the control over cost
is effective.

(4) Opinion Regarding the Company’s Self-Appraisal on its
Internal Control: The Company has, taking into account
of the Company’s actual situation, established and
developed an internal control system that covers all
areas of the Company according to the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules, Company Law of the
PRC and Articles of Association. Such system has ensured
that the Company’s operating activities are in a normal
and ordinary course and has safeguarded the security
and integrity of the Company’s assets. The institutional
framewaork of the internal control of the Company is
complete and the internal auditing department and
personnel allocation are in place, which has ensured that
the implementation of and supervision over key activities
under the Company’s internal control are sufficient and
effective. In 2022, no circumstances under which the
Company would violate the Guidelines for Internal
Control of Listed Companies and the internal control
system of the Company occurred. The Board of
Supervisors considers that the Company’s self-appraisal
on its internal control gives a comprehensive and true
picture of the actual situation of the internal control of
the Company.

Chairman of the Board of Supervisors
TANG Jinlong

Hubei, the PRC

24 March 2023
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The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report.

The Group strive to maintain high standards of corporate governance
to enhance Shareholders’ value and safeguard Shareholders’
interests. The Company’s corporate governance principles emphasize
the importance of a quality Board, effective internal controls and
accountability to Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company had complied with all the code provisions of the
corporate governance code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Company will review its corporate governance practices regularly
to ensure its compliance with the corporate governance code.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its code regarding Directors’ and Supervisors’
dealings in the Company’s securities.

The Company has made specific enquiry to all of the Directors and
Supervisors and all of the Directors and Supervisors have confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code for the year ended 31
December 2022.

AEBEYNEFSRELEERR R
BREELRERR#ELD - ARAF 2B

ERRARASEEERS  BERAMEE
KABRRAEZERNE -
TEERER
BE-_T-_—_F+-_A=+—HLHFE
AW ANAR]EE ST £ AR AR 8% 1 0 Fr R
m T EER ST RIREIFTA SRR -
ARAHE Rt EEEERTR - AR

N ~

st
IR
o
o>
e

mR

yasT Rl e

B TEBESERESMET
HR G ZBREFR

$ATE%%imﬁWWﬁ+%ﬁmﬁﬁ
TAEAHEHEEREEZEEANGE
HRSFAl o

RRGEMEBESFRESEHEES
HMEBESREFHOER  BHER
HE-_T-_—_F+-A=-+—HLEFER
EriZ4Esrhl o

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s strategic
development, and determining the objectives, business strategies
and policies of the Group. The Board also monitors and controls
operating and financial performance in pursuit of the Group’s
strategic objectives.

On 4 June 2021, the resolution in respect of the re-election of the
third session of the Board of Directors was considered and approved
at the annual general meeting of the Company. With the approval at
the annual general meeting, Mr. JIANG Juncai, Mr. WANG Danjin, Mr.
CHEN Yangui and Mr. LI Shuang were re-elected as the executive
Directors of the third session of the Board of Directors, Mr. TANG
Xinfa and Mr. Eddy HUANG were re-elected as the non-executive
Directors of the third session of the Board of Directors, and Mr. TANG
Jianxin, Mr. ZHAO Dayao, Ms. XIANG Ling and Mr. LI Xuechen were
re-elected as the independent non-executive Directors of the third
session of the Board of Directors. The Directors of the third session
of the Board of Directors will serve for a term of three years. On 30
September 2022, the Company has received the written resignations
tendered by Mr. Eddy HUANG, a non-executive Director, and Mr. ZHAQ
Dayao, an independent non-executive Director, with effect from 30
September 2022. The Board of Directors currently consists of eight
Directors, comprising four executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors. The
incumbent Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 and
as at the date of this Annual Report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. JIANG Juncai
Mr. WANG Danjin
Mr. CHEN Yangui
Mr. LI Shuang
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Non-executive Directors
Mr. TANG Xinfa (Chairman)
Mr. Eddy HUANG (resigned on 30 September 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. TANG Jianxin

Ms. XIANG Ling

Mr. LI Xuechen

Mr. ZHAO Dayao (resigned on 30 September 2022)

The Directors have no financial, business, family or other material/

relevant relationships with each other.

The biographies of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Profiles of Directors, Supervisars and Senior Management” of this

Annual Report.

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company. The principal particulars of these service contracts are: (a)
each of the contracts is for a term of three years commencing from
4 June 2021 (being the date of their election or appointments
approved by the annual general meeting of the Company held on 4
June 2021) until the expiration of the third session of the Board; and
(b) each of the contracts is subject to termination in accordance
with their respective terms. The service contracts may be renewed
in accordance with the Articles of Association and the applicable

rules.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board at all times complied
with the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise.

The Company has received written confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Director of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines as set out in the
Listing Rules.
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BOARD DIVERSITY

The Company recognises the importance of board diversity to the
Company’s management and operation, which shall promote the
Company’s governance level and decision-making ability as a key
factor for the realization of the Company’s strategic goals and long-
term development. When selecting members of the Board, the
Company has fully considered diverse factors, including but not
limited to gender, age, position, educational background,
professional background and other factors. While the ultimate
decision on all Board appointments would be based on the
professional qualifications of the Director candidates, relevant
experience in the Company’s business and their potential
contributions to the Board, considerable weight would be given to

ensuring a diverse Board with balanced composition.

The Company values gender diversity. As at the date of this Annual
Report, the Board has 12.5% female Directors (1 female out of 8
Directors). The Board is committed to improving greater gender
diversity and will increase the proportion of female Directors. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee and
the Board considered that the composition of the Board was
balanced and diversified.
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An analysis of the Board’s current composition based on the

measurable objectives is set out below:

Gender
4 5l
Number of Individuals

AE

Age
FiR

Number of Individuals

AE

Position

A
Number of Individuals

A

Educational background
gﬁ 555

Number of Individuals

A

Professional background
BEXER

Number of Individuals
A

HHmT

REAGEREHESSRBARN DN

Male Female
5 z
7 1
40-50 Above 50
40-50 5% 505% A £
5 3
Executive Non-executive Independent
Director Director non-executive Director
HITES FHITES BAFHITES
4 1 3
Doctor Master Bachelor
Bt Bt B+
3 3 2
Science Law Economics Arts
B B sme X2
5 1 1
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Articles of Association states the functions and powers of the

Board, including:

. To convene the general meetings, submit relevant matters to
the general meetings for passing, and report on its work to the
Shareholders;

. To implement the resolution of the general meeting;

. To decide on the business plans and investment schemes of
the Company;

. To formulate the Company’s proposed annual financial budget
and final accounts;

. To formulate the Company’s profit distribution plan and plan
for making up for losses;

. To formulate proposals for the increase or reduction of the
Company’s registered capital, and plans for the issue of
corporate bonds or other securities and the listing plan;

. To draw up plans for material assets acquisition or disposal,
purchase of the Company’s Shares, or merger, demerger,
dissolution or change of the form of the Company;

. To decide on the establishment of the Company’s internal

management organization;
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To appoint or remove the Company’s general manager and
secretary of the Board; to appoint or remove other senior
management officers pursuant to the general manager’s
nominations, and to determine the abovementioned matters
relating to the remuneration, incentives and punishments of

the senior management officers;
To formulate the Company’s basic management system;

To formulate proposals for any amendment to the Articles of

Assaciation;

To decide on the matters such as merger, division,
reorganization or dissolution of the Company’s wholly-owned

subsidiaries and subsidiaries;

To change the use of the placement to the extent beyond the
decision of the general meeting as required by laws and

regulations;

To decide on the establishment of special committees under

the Board and to appoint or remove its person-in-charge;

To propose at the general meetings a resolution in respect of
candidates for independent Directors and replacement of
independent Directors;

To propose at the general meetings for the appointment,
renewal or removal of accountants’ firm conducting auditing

for the Company;

To hear the work report and inspect the work of the general

manager;
To manage information disclosure of the Company;

To formulate the equity incentive plan;
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. Save as otherwise required to be decided by the general
meetings under laws and regulations and the Articles of
Association, the Board exercises its power to make decisions on
external investments (including capital increase and equity
transfer of the invested enterprises), financing, risk

management and trust management, external guarantees, etc.;

. To decide on other major affairs of the Company, save for
matters to be resolved at the general meetings as required by
the Company Law of the PRC and the Articles of Association;

. To exercise other functions and powers as granted by the
Articles of Association or the general meetings of the Company;
and

. To conduct other matters as required by PRC laws and

regulations.

In addition, the Board performs corporate governance function,

including:

. To establish and review the Company’s corporate governance

policies and codes;

. To review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Company’s Directors,

Supervisors and senior management;

. To review and monitor the Company’s policies and codes in
connection with compliance with laws and regulatory

requirements;

J To establish, review and monitor the codes of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and

employees;

. To review the Company’s compliance with the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices and the disclosures made in

the Corporate Governance Report.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and codes; the training and
continuous professional development of the Directors, Supervisors
and senior management of the Company and the policies and codes
in connection with compliance with laws and regulatory
requirements. Also, the Board reviewed the Company’s compliance
with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices and the

disclosures made in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Group’s management team, which possesses extensive operating
experience and industry knowledge, has been delegated by the
Board with the authority and responsibility for the day-to-day
management of the Group. During the year, the Board considered
and approved the annual budget and its performance under
management supervision together with the business reports from
the management. The Board also reviewed and approved the annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2022, the interim results for
the six months ended 30 June 2022 and other critical business
operations. The Board also assessed the internal control and the

financial matters of the Group.

In order to ensure independent views and input are available to the
Board, the Company has formulated relevant mechanisms, including
formulating updated Articles of Association, terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee and director nomination policy from time
to time, which cover the Company’s nomination and appointment
process of the Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors), election procedures and criteria, connected Directors’
abstention from vaoting and the right of independent non-executive
Directors to propose independent opinions on the Board resolutions.
The independent non-executive Directors shall notify the Board in
writing of any changes in the Company’s circumstances that may
affect their independence as independent non-executive Directors as
soon as practicable. In addition, the Directors are free to engage
external independent professional advisers to assist them to
discharge their duties as they think fit at the expense of the
Company. Directors are also free to invite any staff members to
attend meetings or engage with them directly for information as
they think fit. The Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the above mechanism and believes that it can

ensure independent views and input are available to the Board.
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In addition, this Corporate Governance Report has been reviewed by
the Board in discharge of its corporate governance function.

OPERATION OF THE BOARD

Meetings of the Board of Directors should be held at least four times

every year. Such meetings shall be convened by the Chairman.

In case of any of the followings, the Chairman should convene an

interim meeting of the Board of Directors within 10 days:

. When proposed by Shareholders representing one tenth of

voting rights or more;

. When proposed by ane third of Directors or more;

. When the Chairman deems it necessary;

. When proposed by two or more independent Directors;

. When proposed by the Board of Supervisors; or

. When the general manager proposes the convening of the

interim meetings of the Board of Directors.

To convene a regular or interim meeting of the Board of Directors, a
written notice shall be sent to all Directors and Supervisors 14 days
prior to the date of a regular meeting or 3 days prior to an interim
meeting. By written consent of all Directors present at the meeting,
the above time limit may not be observed. The office or other
department designated by the Board of Directors is responsible for
serving the written meeting notice to all Directors and Supervisors
by direct service, fax, e-mail or other means. If an interim meeting of
the Board of Directors needs to be held quickly due to urgent
circumstances, a meeting notice may be given at any time by
telephone or other oral methods, provided that the convener makes

an explanation thereof at the meeting.
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Meetings of the Board of Directors may be held only if more than
one half of the Directors are present. Each Director shall have one
vote. Unless specified otherwise in the laws, administrative
regulations or the Articles of Association, resolutions of the Board

must be passed by mare than half of all the Directors.

The Directors shall not vote the resolution on the approval of
contract, arrangement or other suggestions that they or their
associates maintain interests inside (which shall not be included in
the quorum of the relevant meetings). Even though such Directors
claim to vote, the votes will not be counted, unless otherwise
specified in laws, administrative regulations, relevant regulatory

regulations or rules.

In 2022, the Board held nine meetings and the attendance records

of Directors at the Board meetings were as follows:
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Meeting attended/
Number of Board meetings convened
during his/her tenure of office

Name of Directors: EEfE: HEEE REIANCHESEER A
Mr. TANG Xinfa EFTEE 9/9
Mr. JIANG Juncai BT Rt 9/9
Mr. WANG Danjin FAEREAE 9/9
Mr. CHEN Yangui PR S A& 9/9
Mr. LI Shuang T E 9/9
Mr. Eddy HUANG® EWLEED® 5/5
Mr. TANG Jianxin R E 9/9
Mr. ZHAQ Dayao®@ HAZESLED 5/5
Ms. XIANG Ling mEZ T 9/9
Mr. LI Xuechen FEBEAE 9/9

Notes:

(1) Mr. Eddy HUANG resigned as a non-executive Director on 30 September 2022.

) Mr. ZHAO Dayao resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 30
September 2022.

BIEE

(1) FRLEERZZE__FhLA=+ABIFH
TES -

() HBAEXEER-T-__FAA=+HBESE
SIEHITES -
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NOMINATION, APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTOR

The Company has formulated a formal and transparent procedure
for the appointment of new Directors to the Board. Nomination of
new Director is first considered by the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee and then
recommended to the Board for consideration. All newly nominated
Directors are subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
general meetings of the Company. Removal of members of the Board
is also subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the Company’s

general meetings.
DIRECTOR’S TRAINING

The Directors are continually updated on the statutory and
regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and
professional development for Directors will be arranged by the
Company where necessary. Individual Directors also participate in
the courses relating to the roles, functions and duties of a listed
company director or further enhancement of their professional
development by way of attending training courses or via online aids

or reading relevant materials.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. This is to ensure that they could make contribution to the
Board based on their possessing of comprehensive professional
attainment. In 2022, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development and provided to the Company a record of

training they received.
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The list below summaries the training received by the Directors for
the year ended 31 December 2022:

WTHyEEREE S -_—_F+_-HA
S+ RIEFEEEZ R

Attending seminar, conference and
workshop related to director’s duties/
reading materials like newspaper,
journals and updates relevant
to corporate governance

HERESHERBNFNE -

eRRWRE
REER - BN -
Name of Directors EEHR HAERCESTE HBEEHRER
Mr. TANG Xinfa B ET v
Mr. JIANG Juncai B EE 4
Mr. WANG Danjin FREEAE 4
Mr. CHEN Yangui PRIIEL A v
Mr. LI Shuang TERSTE 4
Mr. Eddy HUANG® EEED®
Mr. TANG Jianxin BEHEE v
Mr. ZHAO Dayao® HARZFESLED
Ms. XIANG Ling Bk v
Mr. LI Xuechen FEBEAE v
Notes: LiEss
(1) Mr. Eddy HUANG resigned as a non-executive Director on 30 September 2022. (1) EBPERLEECR-ZT-_—FNAA=1+HETIEHR
TEE
(2)  Mr. ZHAO Dayao resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 30 (2) HEAZEABRR-_E-_—FAA=+HHEEISE

September 2022.

SIITESE -
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CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND GENERAL MANAGER

The roles and duties of the chairman of the Board and the general
manager of the Company are separate and held by different persons
and have been clearly defined in the Articles of Association. Mr. TANG
Xinfa and Mr. JIANG Juncai act as the Chairman and the general
manager of the Company respectively.

Mr. TANG Xinfa, the Chairman and a non-executive Director, is

entitled to exercise the following functions and powers:

. To preside over Shareholder’s general meetings, to convene
and preside over meetings of the Board of Directors;

. To procure and inspect the implementation of the resolutions
of the Board of Directors;

. To sign the share certificates, corporate bonds and other
negotiable securities issued by the Company;

. To sign important documents of the Board of Directors and
other documents to be signed by the legal representative of
the Company, and to exercise the functions and powers of the

legal representative;

. To organize and establish various systems and harmonize the
operation of the Board of Directors;

. To hear the regular or non-regular work reports of the senior
management officers of the Company, and give guidance on
the implementation of the resolutions of the Board of
Directors;

. To nominate the list of the secretary candidates of the Board
of Directors; and

. Other functions and powers conferred by the laws, regulations
or the Articles of Association, and the Board of Directors.

/\_\LI/_/‘\'/'\—\
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Mr. JIANG Juncai, an executive Director and general manager of the

Company, is responsible to the Board of Directors and exercise the

following functions and powers:

To be in charge of the production, operation and management

of the Company, and report to the Board of Directors;

To organize and implement the resolutions of the Board of
Directors, annual business plans and investment schemes of
the Company;

To prepare the annual financial budget plan, and final account
plan of the Company, and make recommendations to the

Board of Directors;

To prepare the basic management system and plan for
establishment of the Company’s internal management
organization;

To formulate specific rules of the Company;

To request the Board of Directors to engage or dismiss other

senior management officers; and

To engage or dismiss the responsible managers except those

who shall be engaged or dismissed by the Board of Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has delegated certain responsibilities to various

committees. The Company has established three Board committees,

being the Nomination Committee, Remuneration and Evaluation

Committee and Audit Committee.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.
Currently, the Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. LI Xuechen (an independent non-executive Director), Mr.
TANG Jianxin (an independent non-executive Director) and Ms. XIANG
Ling (an independent non-executive Director), among whom Mr. LI
Xuechen serves as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
composition of the Board, assess the independence of independent
non-executive Directors and make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and removal of Directors.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered by the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board:

. Character and integrity.

. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
board diversity policy of the Company that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy.

. Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board.

. Whether the candidate would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing

Rules for an independent non-executive Director.

. Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,

independence and gender diversity.
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. Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of
the Company.

. Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy to achieve the
diversity of members of the Board and maintain an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board that are relevant to
the Company’s business growth. The Company recognizes and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in maintaining
the Company’s competitive advantage. The Company believes that
greater diversity of Directors is good for corporate governance and is
committed: (i) to attract and retain candidate(s) for Board with a
comhbination of competencies from the widest possible pool of
available talent; (i) to maintain a Board with diversity perspectives
at all levels, in particular, those are aligning with the Company’s
strategy and objectives; (iii) to assess regularly the diversity profile
of the Board and the progress on achieving diversity objectives, if
any; (iv) to ensure that the selection and nomination of Directors
positions are appropriately structured so that a diverse range of
candidates can be considered by the Company; and (v) to ensure
that changes to the Board’s composition can be managed without
undue disruption.

The board diversity policy will be reviewed periodically by the
Nomination Committee and the Board to ensure it remains relevant
to the Company’s needs and reflects both regulatory requirements
and good corporate governance practices.

The Nomination Committee reviews annually the structure, size and
composition of the Board and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy. In reviewing and assessing the Board
compaosition and the nomination of directors (as applicable), Board
diversity has to be considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications and skills, knowledge and industry and
regional experience.
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The Nomination Committee discusses and where necessary, agrees

on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board

and make recommendation to the Board. When determining such

measurable objectives, the Nomination Committee considers a

number of aspects, including but not limited to, the diversity of the

Board composition in aspects of gender, age, position, academic

background and professional background etc. The Nomination

Committee reviews the measurable objectives on a regular basis.

The Nomination Committee adopts the following procedures for

appointment/re-election of director:

(@) Appointment of New Director

@

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether

such candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate (where

applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to
the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for
election as a Director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is

qualified for directorship.
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Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of the

proposed election of Director at the general meeting.
(b) Re-election of Director at General Meeting

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring Director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring Director

continues to meet the criteria as set out above.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
then make recommendation to the Shareholders in
respect of the proposed re-election of Director at the

general meeting.

The Nomination Committee adopted the following conditions on the
nomination of Director candidates:

The Director should be elected or replaced by general meetings of
the Company. When a general meeting is held by the Company, the
Board, the Board of Supervisors or Shareholders who individually or
in aggregate holding more than 3% of the Shares may propose
resolutions to the convener of the general meeting in relation to the
election of Directors.

A candidate of Director must comply with the relevant qualification
set out in the Company Law of the PRC, the Articles of Association
and other applicable laws and regulations. The Board should have a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives

appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.
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The Nomination Committee adopts the following procedures on the
nomination of Director candidates:

Each Director candidate should be individually proposed. The
intention to nominate a candidate as Director and the written notice
of such candidate regarding his willingness to accept the nomination
shall be given to the Company no later than seven days prior to the

date scheduled for such general meeting.

When the general meeting proposes to discuss the election of
Director, the details of the candidate of Director should be fully
disclosed in the notice of general meeting, which shall at least

include the following:

(1) Personal information including but not limited to education

background, work experience and other appointments;

(2)  Whether there is any connected relationship between him/her
and the Company or the Controlling Shareholders and de facto

controller of the Company;

(3) The number of shares of the Company held by him/her; and

(4)  Whether subject to punishment by China Securities Regulatory
Commission and other relevant securities regulatory

autharities and sanctions by the stock exchange.

Where an appointment of Director comes into effect upon the
approval at the general meeting, an announcement must be

published in accordance with the relevant Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee is entitled to propose its nomination of
Director candidates to the Board according to the Articles of
Association, the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee

and other applicable laws and regulations.
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In 2022, the Nomination Committee held two meetings and has
reviewed the structure, combination and balance (including
expertise, knowledge and experience (including board diversity)) of
the Board, assessed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors. The attendance records of Directors at the Nomination

Committee meeting were as follows:

RZZZZF  REZEECDEBTMAE
AUV DRNEFENERE 6 HAK (8
ERE IBLAER(BEEFEE T
1£)  HEBULIFRTEFNBUIE -EF
HEREZESSH RANHENT

Meeting attended/Number of
Nomination Committee convened
during his/her tenure of office

HESE

Name of Directors BEEpA REABHREZESEEREY
Mr. LI Xuechen® ZREAES ) 1/1
Mr. Eddy HUANG® P E@ 1/1
Mr. ZHAQ Dayao® HAEELEO 1/1
Mr. TANG Jianxin® RS A® 11
Ms. XIANG Ling B4+ 1
Notes: Bt

D Mr. LI Xuechen, being an independent non-executive Director, was appointed as
the chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company on 3 October 2022.

(2) Mr. Eddy HUANG resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of the
Nomination Committee on 30 September 2022.

3) Mr. ZHAO Dayao resigned as an independent non-executive Director and the
chairman of the Nomination Committee on 30 September 2022.

4) Mr. TANG Jianxin, being an independent non-executive Director, was appointed
as a member of the Nomination Committee on 3 October 2022.

In 2022, the Nomination Committee reviewed the composition of the
Board in accordance with the requirements as stipulated in the
Corporate Governance Code and concluded that the Board comprised
members with diversified backgrounds and skills which ensured
balance and safeguarded the interests of Shareholders as well as
the public.

(1) BUFRTEEZTEEHREDTHN2022F 1073
AEZEAARANEEEEGER -

(2) EPEAEDHR2022F 930 HEHIIENITES
LIRERZEBEEZE -

(3)  HAZTEHRATR 202249 A 30 BE(TBIEH
TEERREEEGER -

(4)  BUERITEEEEFCEEN 202241043
AEZTARIREZEGNKE -

RIE-_—F  RBELESREBELEER
TFHREEMERTTNER  TRAES
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Remuneration and Evaluation Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration and Evaluation
Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule
3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration and
Evaluation Committee consists of three members, namely Ms. XIANG
Ling (an independent non-executive Directar), Mr. JIANG Juncai (an
executive Director) and Mr. TANG Jianxin (an independent non-
executive Director), among whom Ms. XIANG Ling serves as the

chairman of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee
are to advise on and formulate the remuneration and evaluation
policy in respect of Directors, senior management and other
managing members of the Group and make recommendations to the
Board.

In 2022, the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee held one
meeting, at which the policy and structure for all Directors’ and
senior management’s remuneration and the review of the
remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior
management were discussed. The attendance record of Directors at
the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee meeting was as

follows:
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Meeting attended/

Number of Remuneration and
Evaluation Committee convened
during his/her tenure of office

HESE

AMER S BTN

Name of Directors EE=E ERZEEEERNH
Mr. JIANG Juncai BT EAE 1/1
Mr. TANG Jianxin BRI EAE 1/1
Ms. XIANG Ling mEZ T 1/1
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In 2022, the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee assessed the
performance of executive Directors, reviewed the remuneration
policy, considered and approved the proposed 2022 Director’s fees
for the executive Directors and made recommendation to the Board

on the Directors’ fees for the non-executive Directors.
Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure
for formulating policies on remuneration of senior management of
the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 7 to the
Financial Statements.

Remuneration paid to the senior management (excluding the
Directors) by bands for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out

below:

Remuneration bands (RMB)
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WITERNERR  BREOFTMBER - B2 X
HE_S - —_FHROTEENESHLEES
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Nil to 1,000,000 2

TE1HE

Audit Committee EREEE®

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
and the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The Audit Committee currently consists of three
members, namely Mr. TANG Jianxin (an independent non-executive
Director), Ms. XIANG Ling (an independent non-executive Director)
and Mr. TANG Xinfa (a non-executive Director), among whom Mr.
TANG Jianxin serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to oversee the
financial reporting system and internal control procedures of the
Company, review the financial information of the Company and
consider issues relating to the external auditors and their

appointment.
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The work performed by the Audit Committee in 2022 included review
of the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021, interim results of the Group for the six months ended 30 June
2022 and listen to the report of risk management and internal
control system of the Company by Internal Audit and Risk
Department. The Audit Committee also reviewed the adequacy and
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system
and making recommendation to the Board for improvement of
internal control, credit control and risk management.

In 2022, the Audit Committee held two meetings and the attendance
records of Directors at the Audit meeting were as follows:

Al //\-h—\

PEEIAWME

EREEeR T - —FNIERIEEY
AEEHE_Z-_—F+A=+—HIL
FENFEES FAEFEZE_Z -
NAZTHRIEAEANFEZEERIERA
HEzRkERESPIE AN EREIR K
NBEZERGONRE - BREE TR
[\ B B BB Ko 1A BB Il R % LXEE?EEE%Z’
ARHBERNLET  FEESHRERE
BREFSROER -

EA T _F ERZBEECBTMAY
% BEFHRERZBE SR AR
ZZDT-

Meeting attended/
Number of Audit Committee convened
during his/her tenure of office

LEEgE
Directors BEEnE RERCBHERZESERERE
Mr. TANG Jianxin BEMTE 2/2
Mr. TANG Xinfa B R TE 2/2
Mr. ZHAQ Dayao® HARZFESLED 2/2
Ms. XIANG Ling® M+ @ 1/1

Notes:

@] Mr. ZHAO Dayao resigned as an independent non-executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee on 30 September 2022.

(2) Ms. XIANG Ling, being an independent non-executive Director, was appointed as a
member of the Audit Committee on 3 October 2022.

The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed the auditor’s
remuneration for 2022, the annual results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and recommended the Board to re-
appoint KPMG as the Company’s auditor for the year of 2022.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022. The Directors consider that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in business for the foreseeable
future and are not aware of material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ahility to continue as a going
concern.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management of the Company has provided to the Board such
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board to
carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s Consolidated
Financial Statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

It is the responsibility of the Board of Directors to ensure that the
Company maintains sound and effective internal controls to
safeguard the Shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets at
all times. We have adopted a series of internal control policies,
procedures and programmes designed to achieve effective and
efficient operations, reliable financial reporting and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. Highlights of our internal control
system include the following:
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Internal Audit. We put in place the internal audit charter that
clearly states the objectives, organisation, functions and
responsibilities, working scope and procedures of our internal
audit functions. We established an internal audit department
that is responsible for internal auditing and execution of
antibribery measures in accordance with the internal audit
charter. The internal audit department reports to our senior

management and the Audit Committee.

Risk Management. The Company has set up procedures in
respect of risk management to meet internal control targets.
The Company, on the basis of the target setting, identifies the
risks in the process of internal control through daily and
regular assessment procedures and methods, classifies the
risks and prepares the Company’s risk list, continually
conducts risk analysis, tracks the constantly changing business
environment and business activities and carries out dynamic
assessments. As the responsible unit of risk maonitoring, each
department of the Company establishes a risk monitoring
index system to conduct daily risk monitoring of the unit,
especially the key indicators of major risks. For the identified
risks, each department of the Company will formulate plans
and measures to response risks. Each department is
responsible for the implement of the risk corresponding plans.
The department of internal control management manitors the
results of the risk corresponding measures, forms risk
response evaluation reports. In addition, the department of
internal control management regularly summarizes, analyses
and evaluates the risk response situation of the Company as a
whole, compiles a report on the implementation of the
Company’s risk response and reports to the general manager’s
office.
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Internal Control Defects and Self-Appraisal. The Company
adopts qualitative and quantitative methods to establish
standards for defect identification. The Company’s internal
auditing department undertakes the responsibility to track and
review the implementation of the defects rectification found in
the supervision and evaluation, as well as the implementation
of the management recommendations and internal control
inspection rectification recommendations made by the
external auditors. The Company’s auditing department is
entitled to supervise and direct the rectification scheme, verify
the effectiveness and appropriateness of the control
measures, make recommendations for improvement and
requests relevant departments to make necessary
adjustments to the rectification measures to ensure the
realization of risk control targets. The management of the
Company authorizes relevant departments to investigate and
analyze the internal control defects identified during the
supervision process by the external regulatory and internal
and external auditors and carry out corresponding rectification
measures and reviews the implementation of each such
measure. The Company’s self-appraisal is a form of realization
of internal supervision and a process of comprehensive
evaluation on the effectiveness of internal control and

issuance of self-appraisal reparts on a regular basis.

Listing Rules Compliance. We have adopted various policies to
ensure compliance with the Listing Rules, including but not
limited to aspects related to corporate governance, connected
transactions, discloseable transactions, inside information and
securities transactions by the Directors. We have designated
staff to monitor our compliance with Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and regulations who have the power to
investigate relevant incidents if any and communicate with the
related authorities or advisers.
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. Code of Conduct. Our code of conduct explicitly communicates
to each employee our values, acceptable criteria for decision-
making and our ground rules for behaviour. Our code of
conduct also includes whistle-blowing policies to encourage
all employees to speak up against any sub-standard behaviour.
We also established an anti-money laundering management
group and a related working group that are respansible for
monitaring and supervising the implementation of our code of

conduct and our anti-money laundering policies.

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group to ensure that major risks that may impact on the Company’s
performance are appropriately identified and managed to provide
reasonable, though not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminating the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives. These measures are

regularly reviewed and updated.

The Board, on the basis of the target setting, identifies the risks in
the process of internal control through daily and regular assessment
procedures and methaods, classifies the risks and prepares the

Company’s risk list.

RYRVAY, vax

TEEBWME

o TTRSTAI - RIFINTT AT RIRRE R
BREESEERMNEE - ATEXH
REBERBPINERTTRER -
FIETTRSTRITME RSB EERR
HEERESERETMNTREBOT
o BT E R ROEEE/ME KA
IR AEEEREERMN
TRTR R ROAREBRATT o

EXoRBREARAREERRIF LA
A R i B % P BB B ZR A - DAARRE AT RE
FEARARRN T ERARET D EAI K
B AAIEH (HOREEEY) AR TS T
BRERBHIBR  UER(MIEHR) %
BEEREERNER - Lt ERHEESNT
PAtRES M B # o

EXCHEABERENER L BBHEEMN
TE HR B0 R A AR 2750 O DA 38 ) 7 #B 22 I
BT ER  §XRRRETSE
B - WEKARRHEREE -

FERE 2022 /| EERG AR TIEERMNER AR

145



146

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

;LIL/\—/\—\

1FE>= AJ#&EJ

The Company understands its obligations under the SFO and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information
should be announced immediately after such information comes to
our attention and/or it is the subject of a decision unless it falls
within any of the “Safe Harbours” as provided in the SFO. Meanwhile,
the Company has set up an inside information management system,
the insider internal reporting obligations, reporting procedures and
liability of disclosure of information of the personnel concerned has
been clearly stated, and the Company shall arrange self-examination
in a timely manner in accordance with the provisions of the relevant
regulatory authorities. The real-time monitoring performed by the
Company may involve the inside information, and should organize
intermediary agencies to determine whether the information
belongs to an inside information and practical, if it has fulfilled the
disclosure requirements, will soon organize the disclosure and will
strictly control the scope of the manitoring before the disclosure,
the volatility of share price will be monitored until the disclosure of
inside information is completed; if the disclosure requirements are

not satisfied, the Company will also maintain strict confidentiality.

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems are to safeguard assets, to ensure proper maintenance of
accounting records and provide reliable financial reporting, and to

ensure compliance with relevant legislation and regulations.

The Company reviews the internal control and risk management
systems twice a year. The Board has reviewed the internal control
and risk management systems for the year ended 31 December

2022 and confirmed its effectiveness and adequacy.

The Company’s internal audit function is performed by the Internal
Audit and Risk Department. It is responsible for conducting
independent reviews of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control and risk management systems. It also
assesses the risks inherent in particular business or functional
areas, including fraud or corruption, and conducts reviews or audits
to provide reasonable, though not absolute, assurance that

adequate governance and controls are in place to address such risks.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements
is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 154 to
166.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration paid/
payable to the Company’s external auditor, KPMG, is set out below:

/\_\LI/_/‘\'/'\—\
E/D#&:J

BB ET &

RATINE B AN B BB E AR A B ISR &
BAENBERECNEREHNFEISE
166 BM [ B AZEENRE | A -

TR EZ2_E_—_F+-_A=+—H
WEFE - TR FARR R YN EDIX ERAD
EEH TR ESATREB

Amount
RMB’000
ot}
AR® TR

Annual audit services FEEZRS
Non-audit services IEEZ RS

1,900
817

Total fees E R

2,717

The non-audit services were review service for interim results.
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GENERAL MEETINGS

During the Reporting Period, the Company held an annual general
meeting of 2021, H Shareholders class meeting and Domestic
Shareholders class meeting on 4 June 2022. An extraordinary
general meeting was held on 22 August 2022, an extraordinary
general meeting was held on 24 November 2022, and the attendance

records of the Directors at the general meetings were as follows:

BRRXE

R|MEHR AR T _—_F AN
ARTTZE_—FRFEAFARE  HEK
RRERAERANERKRRERRE - B
ZEZFNAZT BRI TERERRK
R RZE-_—F+—A=-TWMBEHET
THRERRERE  EFLERIASHNE
EERIAT -

Meeting attended/
Number of general meetings convened

during his/her tenure of office

HESE
Name of Directors BEEHS RERBHEBRRAERE
Mr. TANG Xinfa BB E 5/5
Mr. JIANG Juncai BT EAE 5/5
Mr. WANG Danjin FREEAE 5/5
Mr. CHEN Yangui PRIIEL & 5/5
Mr. TANG Jianxin BT AE 5/5
Mr. LI Shuang FREE 5/5
Mr. Eddy HUANG® EIPLEED® 4/4
Mr. ZHAO Dayao® HAZLEE® 4/4
Ms. XIANG Ling mERZ+ 5/5
Mr. LI Xuechen FERBEAE 5/5
Notes: W&t
1) Mr. Eddy HUANG resigned as an non-executive Director on 30 September 2022. 1) BRAEER_E-__FNAZTBEHIIEH

1TES -
(2)  Mr. ZHAO Dayao resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 30 (2) MAZEA4AER T -__FALA=THETHE
September 2022. YIFHITES ©
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corparate information, which
will enable the Shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions. The general meetings of the Company provide
a platform for face-to-face communication between the Board and
the Shareholders.

Shareholder rights

Right to propose to convene extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Shareholders request for
the convening of the extraordinary general meeting or meeting of

class Shareholders shall follow the procedure below:

Shareholders individually or jointly holding a total of 10% or more of
the shares carrying the right to vote at the meeting sought to be
held may sign one or more written requests of identical form and
substance requesting the Board to convene an shareholders’
extraordinary general meeting or a meeting of shareholders of
different classes and state the subject of the meeting. The Board
shall convene a Shareholders’ extraordinary general meeting or a
class meeting as soon as possible after having received the above-
mentioned written request. The shareholding referred to above shall
be calculated as of the day on which the written request is made.

If the Board fails to issue an announcement on the convening of
meeting within 30 days after receiving the above-mentioned written
request, the proposing Shareholders are entitled to submit a written
request to the Board of Supervisors on the convening of
Shareholders’ extraordinary general meeting or meeting of the class
Sharehalders.
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If the Board of Supervisors fails to issue an announcement on the
convening of meeting within 30 days after receiving the above-
mentioned written request, the Shareholders individually or
collectively representing 10% or more of the Company’s voting
Shares at the proposed meeting for at least consecutive 90 days
may convene the meeting on their own within four months after the
Board of Directors receives the request. The convening procedures
shall be the same as the procedures for the convening of

Shareholders’ general meeting by the Board of Directors.
Shareholders’ right to propose resolutions at the general meeting

Shareholder(s) individually or jointly holding 3% or more of the total
voting shares of the Company shall be entitled to propose an interim
resolution and submit the same to the convener. The convener shall
issue a supplemental announcement of shareholders’ general
meeting within 2 days after the receipt of such proposal and submit
such interim resolution to the shareholders’ general meeting for
consideration and approval. The contents of an interim resolution
shall fall within the authority of the shareholders’ general meeting
and maintain topics for discussion and specific matters to be
resolved.

The Company sets out the following contact details for the

Shareholders to communicate with the Company:

86-0769-81768866

www.hec-changjiang.com
penggiyun@hec.cn

Telephone number
Company website

E-mail address

MREFSHEWIMAERERE=1H
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FBERAREN IR 10% A L (& 10%) B9 %
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PIN/NET bR ]

B ARG 86-0769-81768866
NGIFER www.hec-changjiang.com
BE U penggiyun@hec.cn
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COMPANY SECRETARY

As at the date of this Annual Report, Mr. PENG Qiyun and Mr. WONG
Wai Chiu acted as joint company secretaries of the Company. For the
biography of Mr. PENG Qiyun and Mr. WONG Wai Chiu, please refer to
the section headed “Profiles of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” of this Annual Report.

During the Reporting Period, Ms. NG Wing Shan tendered her
resignation as the joint company secretary of the Company with
effect from 25 February 2022, and Mr. WONG Wai Chui has been
appointed as the joint company secretary of the Company on the
same day. Mr. WONG Wai Chui is an associate director of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited and his primary
corporate contact person at the Company is Mr. PENG Qiyun, another
joint company secretary. In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules, each of Mr. PENG Qiyun and Mr. WONG Wai Chui has
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has established the shareholder communication policy
(the “Shareholder Communication Policy”) to ensure that
shareholders’ views and concerns are properly addressed. The Board
also regularly reviews the Shareholders Communication Policy to
ensure its effectiveness. In accordance with the Shareholder
Communication Policy, the Company has set up a “Investor
Relations” section on its website (www.hec-changjiang.com) to
ensure that the Shareholders can obtain comprehensive, identical
and easily understandable information about the Company in a
timely manner, so that the Shareholders may exercise their powers
in an informed manner, and enable the Shareholders and potential
investors to strengthen communication with the Company.

The Board welcomes views of the Shareholders and encourages
them to attend general meetings to raise any concerns they might
have with the Board or the management directly. Board members
and appropriate senior management of the Group are available at
the general meetings to answer any guestions raised by the
Shareholders.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company has reviewed the
effectiveness and implementation of the Shareholder
Communication Policy. As a result of the above measures, the Board
believes that the Shareholder Communication Policy remains in force

and has been effectively implemented.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted the dividend policy on 14 December 2018, setting
out the principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply
in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net

profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

The Board adopt the policy that, in recommending the declaration of
dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future growth as well
as its Share value. The Company do not have any pre-determined
dividend payout ratio.

The Board is responsible for submitting recommendations in respect
of dividend payments, if any, to the Shareholders’ general meeting
for approval, subject to the Articles of the Association and all
applicable laws and regulations and the factors set out below.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the
Group when considering to recommend the declaration and payment
of dividends:

. Distributable profits;

o Financial condition;

. Cash flow;

. Expected future capital expenditure;

o Return to the Shareholders;

. Capital requirements;
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o Finance costs;

. The external financing environment; and

. any other factors that the Directors may deem relevant.

Depending on the conditions and factors as set out above of the
Company and the Group, dividends may be recommended by the

Board for a financial year or period:

. interim dividend;

. final dividend;

. special dividend; and

. any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem

appropriate.

Dividends shall be distributed by the Company to its Shareholders in
proportion to their respective shareholdings according to the
resolutions adopted at the Shareholders’ general meeting. The
Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or
by other means that the Board considers appropriate. Any dividend
unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall be reverted to the Company in

accordance with the Articles of Association.

AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

At the extraordinary general meeting held on 24 November 2022,
the Shareholders approved the adoption of the amended Articles of
Association, which came into effect on 24 November 2022. The
existing Articles of Association are published on the websites of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
YiChang HEC ChanglJiang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of YiChang
HEC Changliang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 167 to 306, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the
year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BEERBARTIEXZROBRATKRRE
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ReERER  UREESHBHREMT &
BEEEEERE -

BPIRR SEMBRRCREBRES
HREEE ((HEREEERESS ) EM
F B R B 7 ¥R 2 BN ([ BIBR B 75 3R 5
ADEEMAFHRR EEER_-ZF
TCFFT A=t BOEaMEIOR -
X BEEEEBEZALFENGESMBR
ARFEEHEERE  YEEREBRRIE
IR R EZ RAmE o

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”)
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the consaolidated financial statements in the People’s
Republic of China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.

2 MVR Y S G
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BN 2 AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

FEREEXEE %)

WA TR

Refer to Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements and the 2454 B FEHREHI553 M5 204 )% 205 B

accounting policies on page 204 and 205.

The Key Audit Matter
BREREE

RIS ETIRR o

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERTNEESE

Revenue of the Group mainly comprises sales of
pharmaceutical products to a large number of
distributors.
EXEENZEWAFEZBRERZE S H HE 4
mAIHA -

The Group enters into standard sales contracts
with each distributor and manufactures and sells
its products in accordance with the terms agreed
in the sales contracts.
EEEERDHBMEERRITRENHESLD
WRIRHE S WO TN IRIREE - HEZMm -

Once the products are delivered to the location
designated by the distributor, the control of the
goods are considered to have been transferred to
the distributor and revenue is recognised
accordingly.

EEVEXEDHEBETHMEE - AR
BHWABEEREOHE  BULBREERA -

Our audit procedures to assess the timing of revenue recognition
included the following:

HPEHE 2 R WA RSN EAIZT 4

. obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of
management’s key internal controls in relation to revenue
recognition;

. Tﬁﬁ&%ﬂ?f B L B RN AR IR E AR EZ A
B RRET - T RETTH B RRE

. inspecting sales contracts with customers, on a sample
basis, to understand the terms of the sales transactions
including the terms of delivery and acceptance and any
sales return arrangements to assess the Group’s revenue
recognition policies with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

s RBAMEREEEFPEINHEESN  THERWEEY
MRERFFHERSHIER  2EBRITEFERNREIA
At BEEEERKAEZHEE

. inspecting goods delivery notes and logistics records, on a
sample basis, to assess whether revenue transactions
recorded just before and after the financial year end date
had been recognised in the appropriate financial period on
the basis of the terms of sale as set out in the sales
contracts;

EBMERETEMEEBRYIRRE  UHETELHEEE
BERANENEZRARGEEREBEHEESHNATHH

& IR AC AT (ERERY BT TS Sk AR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A BEN RS

FEREEXEE %)

WA FERR B B ()

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
HEELEE EERPNEESE
The Group’s sales contracts are standardised and inspecting underlying documentation for manual journal

do not permit sales return except for where the
products are damaged or defective.
BREMBERLRREI - EEENRELH
ERHNTEXRE -

We identified the timing of revenue recognition
as a key audit matter because revenue is one of
the key performance indicators of the Group and
therefore there is an inherent risk of
manipulation of the timing of recognition of
revenue by management to meet specific targets
or expectations.

BRI & F WA ERRE T — [EREREZ
R AREEWAR EEEBERNEERR
Z— FHREEEERBERAEFWATERR LA
ERRTE AR BENEFRR

entries and adjustments relating to revenue raised during
the year which met specific risk-based criteria; and

. T d B A PSR W AR I & 45 F R R4 B F T
DEENRABE M R

. inspecting actual sales returns and credit notes recorded
after the financial year end and evaluating whether the
related adjustments to revenue had been recorded in the
appropriate financial period.

s REEEBRRARERZLFHEROLHEE PRI - I
AHAEIRR Y & E W AR R A R A ERER B 75 R 2R -
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BN 2 AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FEREEXEE %)

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables BEE W EAPEEBRRE

Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the 248 BHENE17RE 1875192

accounting policies on pages 187 to 192.

The Key Audit Matter
BREREE

BHEETBUR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERTNEESE

The carrying value of the Group’s gross trade
receivables as at 31 December 2022 totalled
RMB893 million, against which a loss allowance
of RMB11 million for expected credit losses
(ECLs) was recorded.
RIZBZZF+-A=+—H BEXENEFHRE
WHIEEmAEAARK8I3EETT « #HEZK
ERSRACEFENEREGBARKILIAES
IT o

Management measured the loss allowance at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL of the trade
receivables based estimated loss rates. The
estimated loss rates take into account the ageing
of trade receivable balances, the repayment
history of the Group’s customers, current market
conditions and forward-looking information.
According to the past experience of the Group,
the loss patterns for different customers are not
significantly different. Therefore, the receivables
are not segmented when calculating the loss
allowance.

EREREBLABEXRERNNE HEKFIAE
BEREBHNEREEEEN SR EERRER -
HEtBIEXG REHREFIAGHNEREK - &
SEEFPHNERESL - WITMRLATRMLER
RiE EEENBELR TREFPHEERN
WEEBAER - Bt BEAEEREER U8
HEWRIRETTOMAE -

Our audit procedures to assess the ECL allowance for trade
receivables included the following:
HPFHEE SRR REEEERENEIZFaE

. obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal
controls relating to credit control, debt collection and the
estimation of the loss allowance;

o TEWRFERERES - BB R ERRE AT IREE
B = ZAEIERIRE - T ETRA L

. evaluating the Group’s policy for estimating the credit loss
allowance with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standard;

«  ZERTEHERNOMRT T EEEGGHEEBER
EEIBER

. obtaining an understanding of the key data and
assumptions of the expected credit loss model adopted by
the management, including the historical default data and
the assumptions involved in management’s estimated loss
rates;

. THRERBRMNEHEEBEERXN T Z8E RREK -
BREELZOBBENERENMESBEREXRSRNRR
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2 MVR Y S G

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) BREXREE®)

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables (continued) ESEWREESHEEFERE (8)
The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

BREREE EERTNEEL

We identified the ECL allowance for trade e
receivables as a key audit matter because the
assessment of the loss allowance requires the
exercise of significant management judgement.
BMEAIHE SR IENEREEEEREER
—(EARREZEE  ARATAEBEERERTEE
REZHEEEHE -

assessing the appropriateness of management’s estimates
of loss allowance by examining the information used by
management to derive such estimates, including testing
the accuracy of the historical default data and evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions and forward-looking
information;

BARESEERBELARMEFAANER  FEERERL
EEEHN SR BERERLENEIRNERIE R
AHEE L IR R R B IREE R LEAM R K AT ERHE
HEE R

assessing the classification of individual balances in the
trade receivable ageing report by comparing the details in
the trade receivable ageing report with the underlying
goods delivery notes and invoices, on a sample basis; and
BBEREAR - L E 5 RWFIARE RSB MEREN
HEERER  FHEEZREFIARRKRBEEEREN R
EVERENE K&

re-performing the calculation of the loss allowance as at
31 December 2022 based on the Group’s credit loss
allowance policies.

BiE BEEENEEBRBERIK  EMFENR_ZT__
FT_A=T—HOEERERE -
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BN 2 AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FEREEXEE %)

Assessment of the impairment of intangible assets and goodwill EBEEERGENWRETG

Refer to Notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements 2[4z A EIREN 11 R 12 A RE 192

and the accounting policies on pages 192 to 195.

The Key Audit Matter
BREREE

E195BMEETHR -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERTNEESE

The carrying value of the Group’s intangible
assets and goodwill totalled RMB2,921 million as
at 31 December 2022.
RZZE-_—F+ZA=+—H E5ENEF
BENBEBERESHAARK 292158 -

Management performs annual impairment
assessment for its capitalised development costs
which were not ready for use and goodwill
acquired through business combination. For
other intangible assets, the management
performs impairment assessment if there are
any indicators of potential impairment, such as
the decrease of forecasted selling price due to
the significant decrease of tendering price in the
Centralised Procurement organised by the
authaorities.
EEEHHARAMERNERN AR ARES
EB a0t BB EETFERENE - sEM
BIVEEMS @ BEERSNHFEEANETR
BEFR(PIMEANEERFMBRBESNETK
BHRIZERAETREMEE)  SEHETY
BEETRERNE -

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of intangible
assets and goodwill included the following:

BAFHE B EE LB ERENE TR

. assessing the design and implementation of key internal
controls relating to impairment assessment in respect of
intangible assets and goodwill;

o AHMEEEPEELEERE GABO T 2RMEGINR
SR

. involving our internal valuation specialists in assessing the
appropriateness of the impairment assessment model with
reference to the prevailing accounting standards and the
discount rate applied in the discounted cashflow forecast
by benchmarking against those of other similar companies
in the same industry;

o EHMOARGEEZEREBER—TTENEMBLARE
THE - U2EZRTEFERNEHRASRETRAE
ROIRE SR ETEERNEE T

. challenging the key assumptions adopted by management
in the discounted cashflow forecasts by comparing future
revenue with the tendering price and procurement volume
in the Centralised Procurement or with the market price,
market capacities of the products or comparable products,
and comparing future costs of goods sold to historical
costs of comparable products of the Group and our
knowledge of the business;

o BBRBARRWEEEFREBORZERMIRBENEEM
A BURERNTISERRTSREETHE - URE
EEEMAARKRKAE &EER & L EEmOBEKA
ETHBEEBRBERMAEUEBN TR EREEENEHR
REenERATRANBERER
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B A BEN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) FAREZEE %)

BREERBENRESE(F)

Assessment of the impairment of intangible assets and goodwill

(continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BRERSEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERTNEESE

The management performs impairment e comparing the data in discounted cash flow forecast

assessment by comparing the carrying value of
the cash-generating unit (“CGU") against the
respective recaverable amount, which was the
higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use based on discounted cashflow
forecast to determine the amount of impairment
which should be recognised, if any.
EEERBCTRASAEBNSRSEL BN
((ReELSMC])WREERERIWDEHE
(A2 BEREEXAEEREBENKRSE)E
TTHBLETTIRERT L - FIAKETE & T LAHE R &
BEESRE(IE) -

Management is required to exercise significant
judgement in estimating the individual products’

future revenue, future costs and the discount e

rate used in calculation of the recoverable
amounts. The pharmaceutical industry is
dynamic and the reception of the market to the
Group’s products involves inherent uncertainty.
B EN AT ERNER AR - RRKAR
FHE AT E S BB AT E A A TR KSR IEH ERH
b o BEITETEHE mHEY EEEEMN
EXREESREBTHEERE -

We have identified the assessment of the
impairment of intangible assets and goodwill as
a key audit matter because determining the level
of impairment, if any, involves a significant
degree of management judgement in estimating
the recoverable amounts, which is inherently
uncertain and could be subject to management
bias.

HAFIER BB E M ERRERT 42 —(ERE
REZEE  REZETRENKRT (WE)FRE
BEMNMEET AR @ SR EREARAE - A
BEAETHERRTARIINEEERIOY
2o

prepared in the prior year with the current year’s
performance and making enquiries of management as to
the reasons for any significant variations identified to
assess how accurate the prior year’s discounted cash flow
forecast was and whether there is any indication of
management bias; and

& F—EFERENETRINERE TR EIRERFEH
RAETHE  TAHEREEMNERANEREZENR
AR E—EFENC T RBR S RE TR A EREE A
RREHFETMEREERANIR : &

performing a sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions
and considering the resulting impact on the impairment
assessment and whether there were any indicators of
management bias.

HEARBRETHRREDN - 1 EBATE L HIRENHE
TEALRATFHEEFNERERENTR -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RAMR IR OB RS
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
respansible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have

no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting

process.

FERE 2022 /| EERG AR TIEERMNER AR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
VR 2GR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person

for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from errar, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations

or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a

going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

2 MVR Y S G
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and,
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Cheng Chu Fai.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

24 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

e Bm AR E RS

for the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi)
(EZFF+A=1+—HIFE (UARBZ7))

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M AR¥T R AREFT
Revenue EER 3 3,744,952 913,788
Cost of sales HE KA (898,878) (430,089)
Gross profit EF 2,846,074 483,699
Other income/(losses) Hiplg A (EE) 4 (844,330) 85,961
Distribution costs ok =D (1,216,590) (521,667)
Administrative expenses THERRAX (338,452) (358,402)
Research and development costs IR N (129,614) (109,673)
Reversals/(recognition) on impairment BE(HR)E 5 &EM
loss of trade and other receivables FEMGRIE R B S 1E 3,995 (3,176)
Other operating expenses Hith &g M= (15) (119)
Profit/(loss) from operations LR, (EE) 321,068 (423,377)
Finance costs BhE A 5(a) (281,646) (243,807)
Profit/(loss) before taxation MEBLAER,(EE) 5 39,422 (667,184)
Income tax Frisai 6 9,817 79,460
Profit/(loss) for the year EREA(FR) 49,239 (587,724)
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive BERUTEENERERN,
income for the year attributable to: (BR)R2EWEAHE:
Equity shareholders of the Company RARERBR 76,603 (587,649)
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR M 2 13 (27,364) (75)
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive FREN(BFER) R
income for the year 2HEKNEHETE 49,239 (587,724)
Earnings/(loss) per share BREFN,(EE) 9
Basic and diluted ERKLEE RMBO0.09 RMB(0.67)
AR®0.09T | AR (0.67)7T

The notes on pages 173 to 306 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of
the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in

Note 26(b).

F173E306 B 2 M sk R xS ®mE
— 2B o BT Nk EA AR RS
SR B PG BEEIS - EAMIFE 26(b) ©
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CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
/\\/T\ 7T )\:iji;ﬂ/%

at 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi)
RZZBZZF+ZA=1+—8 (UAAREZ%)

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
+=A=+—H8 +=A=1+—H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Mz AR®BTR ARETTT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Fixed assets &l & B 10
— Property, plant and equipment — W% BE KK 3,169,613 2,858,808
— Ownership interests in leasehold —HFERZESE LM
land held for own use PREHERER 349,152 357,747
3,518,765 3,216,555
Intangible assets mLEE 11 2,920,646 3,271,990
Goodwill kS 12 - 75,896
Financial assets measured at fair value  RAREEHE B H#
through profit or loss (FVPL) FFABRNEmEE 14 - 1,789,621
Prepayments TE IR 15 295,760 64,825
Deferred tax assets BRI IAE B 25(b) 140,609 65,318
6,875,780 8,484,205
Current assets REEE
Inventories & 16 315,027 279,696
Trade and other receivables B 5N E M UG 17 1,036,916 546,791
Prepayments TEfFRIE 59,433 7,776
Financial assets measured at FVPL BARBEFEAHEE
AR SREE 14 290,000 -
Non-current assets held for sale FELEMERBDEE 14(i) 2,312,320 -
Restricted cash ERHRE 18 76,781 91,992
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEBEIER 19 923,543 1,131,121
5,014,020 2,057,376
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERFRIA 21 1,718,222 911,680
Contract liabilities aRBE 20 75,386 74,903
Bank loans and other borrowings RITER R EAMERK 22 223,343 48,477
Interest-bearing borrowings FHEER 23 2,906,963 -
Deferred income PRIE W 24 8,195 4,379
Current taxation BIHATR 8 25(a) 8,672 198,625
4,940,781 1,238,064

The notes on pages 173 to 306 form part of these financial 2 173% 3068 2 i sF R Z ST BK
statements. — &7
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AR A MBI AR

JIAVA AN e Ry

at 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi)
RZZEZZF+ZA=+—0 (UAREBZ7))

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
t=RA=t—-B +=A=1—H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
ihg=s AR¥TR ARETTT
Net current assets REEEFE 73,239 819,312
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBES 6,949,019 9,303,517
Non-current liabilities FRBAE
Bank loans and other borrowings RITER R EMER 22 691,529 544,900
Deferred income IEE U 24 187,489 137,730
Interest-bearing borrowings SHEEK 23 - 2,600,125
879,018 3,282,755
Net assets FEE 6,070,001 6,020,762
Capital and reserves EXRG#EE 26
Share capital [N 879,968 879,968
Reserves R 5,004,916 4,928,313
Total equity attributable to equity RAF R RELEER
shareholders of the Company 5,884,884 5,808,281
Non-controlling interests R ER 13 185,117 212,481
Total equity HER 6,070,001 6,020,762

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24

March 2023.

Tang Xinfa
JE 3 3%
Director

E=E

The notes on pages 173 to 306 form part of these financial

statements.

— B R IR T

Chen Yangui
Director

EE

— &b ©

MBHRREHAEEEN _FT_=F=H

o

F 1735306 B 2 B Z ST B hE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAEREDE

for the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi)
BHE-Z-_F+-A=1t—HBILFE UAREZ5)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARRAERRRER
Non-
Share Capital Statutory Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserve earnings Total interests equity
R& ERfRfE EERE REEAN @it FERER REAE
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

M AREFT ARETT ARETT  ARBTR AE®TR ARETTR ARETT
Note 26(c) Note 26(e)()  Note 26(e)(i)
W26 MIEE26E)N)  MIE26(e))

Balanceat1January202l ~R=-F=-%£-F—H
ke 879,968 1,105,582 328,696 2,576,857 4,891,103 212,556 5,103,659

Changesinequity for2021: —B-—EREREE

Loss and total comprehensive EREERZANELES

income for the year - - - (587,649) (587,649) (75) (587,724)
Assets obtained from the BRERREDRENEE
controlling shareholder 14 - 1,504,827 - - 1,504,827 - 1,504,827
Balance at 31 December 2021 R=%=—%
and 1 January 2022 +ZA=t-8R
ZE--F-f-H
igfets 879,968 2,610,409 328,696 1,989,208 5,808,281 212,481 6,020,762

Changesinequity for2022: =B EMEREE

Profit/(loss) and total FREFl/ (BB R
comprehensive income PENEER
for the year - - - 76,603 76,603 (27,364) 49,239

Balance at 31 December 2022 R=Z=—%
+=A=t-R
iokes] 879,968 2,610,409 328,696 2,065,811 5,884,884 185,117 6,070,001

The notes on pages 173 to 306 form part of these financial £ 173F 3068 2 i T X E S W*
statements. —ER4D o
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FRRTRER

for the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi)
HEZZ-_-F+-A=1T—ALtFE (UAREZ7)

2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—4F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

M AR®TFRT ARBTT

Operating activities RETEH
Cash generated from/(used in) operations &&&EL (FTH)HWESL 19(b) 1,955,336 (681,128)

The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) & (S21), " ERHFEAR

Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”)

HAME (THE ) EEMAEH

(paid)/refunded (TEFMBH]) 25(a) (255,427) 18,618
Net cash generated from/(used in) REESELE (AW

operating activities RE&FE 1,699,909 (662,510)
Investing activities REETE
Interest received 2B 6,739 11,346
Payment for the purchase of property, BEYE  BELERE

plant and equipment PRI 5138 (570,070) (356,285)
Payment for development cost 7 8% 52 P RRIE (75,120) (107,763)

Payment for the purchase of

BEEVEEMMNRIA

intangible assets (207,875) (115,636)
Decrease in restricted cash SIRGIE SR 15,211 129,199
Payment for purchase of financial BERAREBEFEAR

assets measured at FVPL S ABRNEMEE

CIERE (290,000) -
Proceeds received from disposal of HEWE  HEKERE

property, plant and equipment FriS 518 954 33

Net cash used in investing activities RETEFARESFE (1,120,161) (439,106)

The notes on pages 173 to 306 form part of these financial £ 173% 3068 2 i sF R Z ST BmK

statements.

—H5 -
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

realTnER

for the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Renminbi)
HEZZ-_F+A=1T—"HIEFE UAREZ%)

2022 2021
—Eg-= T —F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
ihE= AR®T R ARETT
Financing activities RUEEE
Proceeds from bank loans RITERATISHRIA 19(c) 367,937 444,955
Proceeds from borrowings under sale and 1478032 5 B
leaseback transactions FriS kI8 19(c) 150,000 -
Repayments of bank loans EBEETER 19(c) (162,275) (157,678)
Payments for capital element of ERMERR HEENEFH
obligations arising from sale and BAREBD TR
leaseback transactions 19(c) (12,500) -
Repurchase of convertible bonds BRI TR RES 19(c) (971,386) -
Interest paid EAALE 19(c) (112,743) (99,798)
Other borrowing costs paid BT E A AR A (38,560) -
Deposits paid for sale and ERERRZZNE LS
leaseback transactions (7,500) -
Net cash (used in)/generated BEEE (A, EEN
from financing activities HEFEE (787,027) 187,479
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents B £ % 3 & Z 18 B ZH 2 (207,279) (914,137)
Cash and cash equivalentsat 1 January RA—B—HWEREERRE
ZEER 1,131,121 2,044,967
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes /NEERE B (299) 291
Cash and cash equivalents at RtT=-A=+—HBWHRER
31 December Re%EEA 19(a) 923,543 1,131,121

The notes on pages 173 to 306 form part of these financial

statements.

F173E306 B 2 M sk R R EM B ®mE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards
(“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments IFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”). Note
1(c) provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current accounting periods reflected in
these financial statements.

(Br=BEHH -

BANRESIR)

1 EARSHEE

(a)

aBREH
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PR B 75 o5 2R R (T B BR B 75 4R
HEA] R AR EBR
SR ERIEEE ([BERETE
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18 5 B B B 5 3R 5 22 R~ BER
SRFEA(TEER &5 2RI A
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AEEBRBGEDIZHBRE
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TSR S ©

B EA R RS BMmE
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) o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

1

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 comprise the Company and its

subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
for other investments in equity securities (See Note 1(f))
and derivative financial instruments embedded in

convertible bonds that are measured at fair value and

explained in Note 1(0).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
RMB, which is the functional currency of the Group. The

financial statements presented in RMB has been rounded

to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these

estimates.

1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B HRR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongaing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
I[FRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty

are discussed in Note 2.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to
IFRSs issued by the IASB to these financial statements

for the current accounting period:

. Amendments to IAS 16, Property, plant and

equipment: Proceeds before intended use

J Amendments to IAS 37, Provisions, contingent
liabilities and contingent assets: Onerous contracts

— cost of fulfilling a contract

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the
amended IFRSs are discussed below:

(Br=BEHH -

BANRESIR)

1 ERSHBEX®

(b)

()

BB HREREE(E)

ZEMF REARREBES
B o W& sHARTMERTEE {4
AHERERTNEREERE
AIFREFT R e EZ RN E
R HEEHEETAERT HIRE
RARRBEGELEZE g
AR 1B 5T HA R Mok SR AR
MHER

B HE E e P B PR B 7 R R
BATEL M B RREERT
BB HI R IA R il BN FESE 1A
ERRBNME2 505

BIEREH

AEER AT RN ZEM
BHREAIA T EE 2R
B =R M BRI A s R
FIERT -

. BB RS ELEL6
VACHEIRE/ERY 1
K E%1E - T B BB AT

78 5

=7 e

. RERTERF 375 (&
RIAR) BB EAARE
RAREE : BREKN —
JETTE KRR AN

7K 55 B 30 4 B PR AE ] e R IR AR
St AT AT E R
B o RN IERT O BIFR B 75 3R
HFEAMFETHROT

FERE 2022 /| EERG AR TIEERMNER AR

175



176

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B -

1

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

BIAANRESIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Amendments to IAS 16, Property, plant and equipment:
Proceeds before intended use

The amendments prohibit an entity from deducting the
proceeds from selling items produced before that asset
is available for use from the cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment. Instead, the sales proceeds and
the related costs should be included in profit and loss.
The amendments do not have a material impact on these
financial statements as the Group does not sell items
produced before an item of property, plant and
equipment is available for use.

Amendments to IAS 37, Provisions, contingent liabilities
and contingent assets: Onerous contracts — cost of
fulfilling a contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous, the cost of
fulfilling the contract includes both the incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts.

Previously, the Group included only incremental costs
when determining whether a contract was onerous. In
accordance with the transitional provisions, the group
has applied the new accounting policy to contracts for
which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1
January 2022, and has concluded that none of them is

onerous.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the
Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and
any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent

that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate

share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B -

1
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BIAANRESIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between non-controlling interests and the equity

shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to

goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition of a financial asset or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an

investment in an assaociate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (See Note 1(j)(ii)) unless the
investment is classified as held to sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B HRR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity

interest in the acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets and liabilities measured as at the
acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain
purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash
generating units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the comhbination and is tested annually for
impairment (See Note 1()(ii)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in

the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.
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1

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)  Other investments in equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in equity securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries, associates and

joint ventures, are set out below.

Investments in equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the investment. The investments are
initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) for
which transaction costs are recognised directly in profit

or loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines

fair value of financial instruments, see Note 27(e).

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an irrevocable election to designate the
investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made
if the investment meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income
remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the
investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether

classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or

loss as other income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(8)

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (See Note 1(j)(ii)):

— Plant and buildings held for own use which are
situated on leasehold land (See Note 1(i)); and

—  Otheritems of property, plant and equipment.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour
and the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the
site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs
(See Note 1(w)).

Construction in progress is transferred to respective
items under property, plant and equipment when it is
ready for its intended use. No depreciation is provided

against canstruction in progress.

ltems may be produced while bringing an item of
property, plant and equipment to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management. The proceeds
from selling any such items and the related costs are

recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in

profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
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1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over

their estimated useful lives as follows:

—  Plant and buildings situated on leasehold land are

depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term

of lease and their estimated useful lives, being no

more than 50 years after the date of completion

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

— Machinery

— Motor vehicles

— Office equipment and others

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life
of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed

annually.

(h) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product or
process is technically and commercially feasible and the
Group has sufficient resources and the intention to
complete development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the costs of materials, direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Other development

expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in

which it is incurred.

15 years

10 years

5-8 years
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Development cost under intangible assets is transferred
to respective items under intangible assets when it is
ready for its intended use. No amortisation is provided
against development cost.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where
the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses
(See Note 1(j)(ii)). Expenditure on internally generated
goodwill and brands is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the assets’ estimated useful lives. The following
intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised
from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

— Patents 10-13 years

— Drug’s intellectual property rights 10 years
Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that
the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is
reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of change and
in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.
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B -

BIAANRESIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0]

Lease assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not to
separate non-lease components and accounts for each
lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for
short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less and leases of low-value assets. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-
by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with
those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as
an expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest
methaod. Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or rate are not included in the measurement of
the lease liability and hence are charged to profit or loss
in the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0]

Lease assets (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable,
the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-
use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (See
Notes 1(g) and 1(j)(ii)).

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is
accounted for separately from the right-of-use assets in
accordance with the accounting policy applicable to
investments in debt securities carried at amortised cost.
Any difference between the initial fair value and the
nominal value of the deposits is accounted for as
additional lease payments made and is included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset
has been reduced to zero.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i) Lease assets (continued)

The lease liahility is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a
lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted for
as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification. The only exceptions are rent
concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic and met the conditions set out in
paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 Lease. In such cases, the Group
has taken advantage of the practical expedient not to
assess whether the rent concessions are lease
modifications, and recognised the change in
consideration as negative variable lease payments in
profit or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual payments
that are due to be settled within twelve months after

the reporting period.

For sale and leaseback transactions, the Group considers
whether the initial transfer of the underlying asset to
the buyer-lessor is a sale. The Group applies IFRS 15 to

determine whether a sale has taken place.

When the transfer to buyer-lessor is a sale, the Group
derecognises the underlying asset and applies the lessee
accounting model to the leaseback — the Group
measures the right-of-use asset at the retained portion
of the previous carrying amount (i.e. at cost), and
recognises only the amount of any gain or loss related to

the rights transferred to the lessor.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0]

®

Lease assets (continued)

When the transfer to buyer-lessor is not a sale, the

Group continues to recognise the underlying asset, and

recognises a financial liability for any amount received

from the buyer-lessor.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (ECLs) on the financial assets
measured at amortised cost (including cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over

which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic

conditions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

®

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade and other receivables
are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, current
market conditions and forward-looking
information. According to the past experience of
the Group, the loss patterns for different
customers are not significantly different.
Therefore, the receivables are not segmented when
calculating the loss allowance.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in
credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date
of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs
when (i) the barrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if
any is held); or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days
past due. The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal or

interest on their contractually due dates;

— anactual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or

internal credit rating (if available);

(Br=BEHH -

BANRESIR)

1 ERSHBEX®

() FEEBEREERMEGE)

0]

RETHMTANEERSE
(%)

EEREBAE LT

AR TANEERR
B S HERIAKRE B AR
ETHE AEEELER
BEBRRNYFSERR
HIFHEM SR TAELE
IR o (FH BRI
B AEERS - WO)E
ARANKABEEAR S B &
BRERIEREMA (N
BB)FTHNEATR
AEEBXBXNEEER
BdMEMEEE S
HI90R - AIBERENZF
e AEEEEERER
SHNTERTHEER B
REEERIEES NN
BZ KRR D TR A &
SEVRTREMEEHL o

ARgME  FHEEERR
B ¥ia R IA KA & KiE
EAREERIATER

— AEERALMIMA
XM ASHFE

— TRIAEINBHA
MERFRCIAA
)R ERR R FERR
EZB

FERE 2022 /| EERG AR TIEERMNER AR

189



190

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

1

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

@

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

— anactual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account, except for investments in debt securities
that are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which
the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair
value reserve (recycling).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
Note 1(v)(ii) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less
loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial
asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written-off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the asset becomes 365
days past due or when the Group determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written-off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in

which the recovery occurs.

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an

impairment loss previously recognised no longer

exists or may have decreased:

—  Property, plant and equipment;

—  Ownership interests in leasehold land held

for own use;

— Intangible assets;

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

1

BERETTHE®)
() EEFEREEREE)
() RELMIANSHEE
(%)
E e

(ii)

= BRER ETRIREER
RN ETEUR-— 5 6o H Qi
DEEH) EREENE
fREE - ZIERBEHE
EEERH65BHAE
BHEEEBARBEESL
AELRMRSREMNIK
ATIRAE R FEMIRR £
e

BETR ULl S AT 3H 2 B B
A Ue [B] HA e A2 48 28 O FE R
ARERED e

HttERBEERE

A EBRINEE BRI
B HEHARFE - AR
BERPRBTRTIEER
REhERIRE K (BERIN)
R D ERNRERED
PEHEKAEE R

- UE -BELRE:

- REEERZEER
iz AR

- BYEE:



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of other non-current assets
(continued)

—  Goodwill;
—  Prepayments; and

— Investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, for
goodwill and intangible assets that are not yet
available for use, the recoverable amount is
estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit). A portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset (for example, head office
building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if the allocation can be done
on a reasonable and consistent basis, or to
the smallest group of cash-generating units
if otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B -

BIAANRESIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of unites) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value
in use (if measurable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favarable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B HRR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

@

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with IAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect
of the first six months of the financial year. At the
end of the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year
(See Notes 1(j)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period
in respect of goodwill are not reversed in a
subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss,
or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had
the impairment been assessed only at the end of
the financial year to which the interim period
relates.

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, in the process of production
for such sale or in the form of materials or supplies to be
caonsumed in the production process or in the rendering
of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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BIAANRESIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

0}

Inventories (continued)

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventaries is recognised as an expense in the period in

which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventaries is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the

period in which the reversal occurs.

A right to recover returned goods is recognised for the
right to recover products from customers sold with a
right of return. It is measured in accordance with the
policy set out in note 1(v)(i).

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (See Note 1(v)). A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding

receivable would also be recognised (See Note 1(m)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B HRR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Trade and other receivables

(n)

(0)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a
significant financing component and other receivables
are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs. All receivables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method and

including allowance for credit losses (See Note 1(j)(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair
value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice
amounts.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds that can be converted into ordinary
shares at the option of the holder, where a fixed number
of shares are issued for a fixed amount of cash or other
financial assets, are accounted for as compound financial
instruments, i.e. they contain both a liability component

and an equity component.

(Br=BEHH -

BANRESIR)

1 ERSHBEX®

(m)

(n)

(o)

85 R HMERRKIE

FE MR IR A AN 5% (8 R B S AR A
REF WA (B B R » W0 S2
NZBHRENEFLE R
5 - BB (B AR 7 B 4
ESEE

TEEEAREFINE SR
WHRIBENFIEER ZERE
E-BREABEHOINES
& U SR IR Ko H At B W R IR ) 2
BARBENRZRAFE -
P RUGIRBE R R ER A
FORRBHERAINE - BREE
EEERE (RHE10)0)

S g
EP=NEEA

ap

ARERDEAREBERRS
AR HEHE - RV EHER
% & B 8 K IR B 5H K K 5
R BREMRNFELIK K
BN MEFIRER SRR -

ERES

ARFENEEERSEBR
MR RE S - Wl EE S5
MRS EM SR EERTE
EHRBHRD - AERESS
MTAAREREEZEAE

o

oy Mg E D)

FERE 2022 /| EERG AR TIEERMNER AR

197



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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BIAANRESIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(0)

(p)

Convertible bonds (continued)

At initial recognition the derivative component of the
convertible bonds is measured at fair value and
presented as part of derivative financial instruments.
Any excess of proceeds over the amount initially
recognised as the derivative component is recognised as
the host liability component. Transaction costs that
relate to the issue of the convertible note are allocated
to the host liability and derivative components in
proportion to the allocation of proceeds. The portion of
the transaction costs relating to the host liability
component is recognised initially as part of the liability.
The portion relating to the derivative component is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The derivative component is subsequently remeasured at
fair value. The host liahility component is subsequently
carried at amortised cost. Interest expense recognised in
profit or loss on the host liability component is
calculated using the effective interest method.

If the bonds are converted, the shares issued are
measured at fair value and any difference between the
fair value of shares issued and the carrying amounts of
the derivative and liability compaonents are recognised in
profit or loss. If the bonds are redeemed, any difference
between the amount paid and the carrying amounts of
both components is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair
value. At the end of each reporting period the fair value
is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair
value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B HRR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q)

(r)

(s)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at invoice amounts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the
policy set out in the Note 1(j)(i).

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

Annual contributions to retirement benefit
schemes operated by the government in the PRC
are recognised in the profit or loss as and when
incurred, except to the extent that they are
included in the cost of inventories not yet
recognised as an expense.
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BIAANRESIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)

(®)

Employee benefits (continued)

(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when it recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the period comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the period, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liahilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into which
a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is,
those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from good will not deductible for tax purposes,
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are
not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that
the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.
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1

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t) Income tax (continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax

assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax
benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to
the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient

taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the

related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the
Group has the legally enfaorceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following

additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously; or
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Income tax (continued)

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of
the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liahility, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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BIAANRESIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u)

(v)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party,
a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The
amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to

the carrying amount of the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods, the provision of services or
the use by others of the Group’s assets under leases in
the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions
and recognises revenue on a gross basis, including the
sale of goods that are sourced externally. In determining
whether the Group acts as a principal or as an agent, it
considers whether it obtains control of the products
before they are transferred to the customers. Control
refers to the Group’s ability to direct the use of and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from
the products.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers:

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties such
as value added tax or other sales taxes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R It

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Revenue and other income (continued)

0]

Revenue from contracts with customers:

(continued)

a)

(b)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised once the products
delivered to the location designated by the
distributor as the control of the goods are
considered to have been transferred to the
distributor. Payment terms and conditions
vary by customers and are based on the
billing schedule established in the contracts
or purchase orders with customers, but the
Group generally provides credit terms to
customers within six months upon customer
acceptance. The Group takes advantage of
the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of
IFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration
for any effects of a significant financing
component as the period of financing is 12
months or less.

License fee

Distributors are required to pay license fees
for their right to access the Group’s patents.
The license fees is recognised as revenue
when the related sales occur.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Revenue and other income (continued)

(i)

Revenue from other sources and other income

€)

(b)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied
to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount
net of loss allowance) of the asset (See Note

1G)().

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statements of financial position initially
when there is reasonable assurance that they
will be received and that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as income
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the
same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group
for the cost of an asset are recognised
initially as deferred income and amortised to
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
useful life of the asset by way of recognised
in other income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w) Borrowing costs

(x)

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get
ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part
of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are

expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are

interrupted or complete.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in

profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the date on
which the Group initially recognises such non-monetary
assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates

ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.
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BIAANRESIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as
held for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying
amount will be recovered through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use and the asset (or
disposal group) is available for sale in its present
condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to be
disposed of together as a group in a single transaction,
and liabilities directly associated with those assets that
will be transferred in the transaction.

When the group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale
when the above criteria for classification as held for sale
are met, regardless of whether the group will retain a

non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all
individual assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is
brought up-to-date in accordance with the accounting
policies before the classification. Then, on initial
classification as held for sale and until disposal, the non-
current assets (except for certain assets as explained
below), or disposal groups, are recognised at the lower
of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
The principal exceptions to this measurement policy so
far as the financial statements of the Group and the
Company are concerned are deferred tax assets, assets
arising from employee benefits, financial assets (other
than investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures) and investment properties. These assets, even
if held for sale, would continue to be measured in
accordance with the policies set out elsewhere in note 1.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B HRR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(=B - BUAAREIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

(2)

Non-current assets held for sale (continued)

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for
sale, and on subsequent remeasurement while held for
sale, are recognised in profit or loss. As long as a non-
current asset is classified as held for sale, or is included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale, the
non-current asset is not depreciated or amortised.

Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).
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B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)
1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1

(z) Related parties (continued)
(b) (continued)

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BTSRRI ot
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAERPI - AUAREIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1 EARSHBER®)

(aa) o HWEH

(aa) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

The chief operating decision maker of the Group assesses
the performance and allocates the resources of the
Group as a whole, as all of the Group’s activities are
considered to be primarily dependent on the
performance on sales of pharmaceutical products.
Therefore, management considers there to be only one
operating segment under the requirements of IFRS 8,
Operating Segments. In this regard, no segment
information is presented for the year end 31 December
2022.

No geographic information is shown as the Group’s
operating profit is derived from activities of manufacture

and sale of pharmaceutical products in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Fr=BEHEAIN - BUAARESIR)
2 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 2

The key sources of estimation uncertainty and critical
accounting judgments in applying the Group’s accounting
policies are described below.

(@) Impairments

(i) In considering the impairment losses that may be
required for certain property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, goodwill and interests in lease
hold land held for own use and prepayment,
recoverable amount of these assets needs to be
determined. The recoverable amount is the greater
of the net selling price and the value in use. It is
difficult to precisely estimate selling price because
quoted market prices for these assets may not be
readily available. In determining the value in use,
expected cash flows generated by the asset are
discounted to their present value, which requires
significant judgment relating to items such as level
of revenue and amount of operating costs. The
Group uses all readily available information in
determining an amount that is reasonable
approximation of recoverable amount, including
estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of items such as

revenue and operating costs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(a)

(b)

Impairments (continued)

(i)  The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade
receivables by assessing the ECLs. This requires the
use of estimates and judgements. ECLs are based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions at the
end of reporting period. Where the estimation is
different from the original estimate, such
difference will affect the carrying amounts of trade
receivables and thus the impairment loss in the
period in which such estimate is changed. The
Group keeps assessing the expected credit loss of
trade receivables during their expected lives.

Development costs

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with
the accounting policy for research and development
(“R&D”) costs in Note 1(h) to the financial statements.
Critical judgement by the Group’s management is applied
when deciding whether the recognition requirements for
development costs have been met. This is necessary as
the economic success of any product development is
uncertain and may be subject to future technical
problems at the time of recognition. Judgements are
based on the best information available at the end of the
reporting period. In addition, all internal activities related
to the R&D of new products is continuously monitored by

the Group management.

(B =B A

F HUARESITR)

2 EtEETRHE e

(a)

(b)

A (48)

(i) AEEFEBFHAEREE
BB A E S RUGRIAR
EiEEE LEREER
et R - REEEE
BHERAKEBENE
ERBELR(EHEEKA
FERZETHE) LR
WS HIRE B A R RE
BEBIB NS - W5
AETBERER TG
TR EEEZERTE
5 EUGRIAR AR E (B A
kAL ARG EESHEE
ZHIRRRERSE - A%
EVSER YA C/OE R
FEAAREHERERE
BEREITAE o

R

B 3 X2 J0 3R B A% ok MY R
1(h) &9 B7F 7T E2 59 3 (1 B 3% )
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B - B EVE L ERE - T
EmFAEESRINESTEER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br 5

3

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

BHEAS  HAAREIIR)
REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and

sales of pharmaceuticals.

Disaggregation of revenue

Revenue represents the sales value of goods supplied to
customers and the license fee. Revenue is after deduction of
any trade discounts. The amount of each significant category

of revenue is as follows:

AEENETEXH R EREERH

£® o
=

EREDHF

EEREREAEPNERKETAE
WIHEEBE - EXFCHREIMES
- ZFELEFRNNSEN
T

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT
Revenue from contracts with customers JE BB B SR E £ E 155
within the scope of IFRS 15 HEANNWREEFEHZWA
Sales of anti-viral drugs HETREEY 3,116,059 559,973
Sales of endocrine and metabolic drugs — $5& RO MW R EEY 113,497 77,633
Sales of cardiovascular drugs SHE O IME B 150,114 96,148
Sales of anti-infectives drugs SHE LR LY 87,190 80,689
Sales of other medical products and HEHMEBEY LT E
license fee 278,092 99,345
3,744,952 913,788

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes three
customers (2021: three) with whom transactions have
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31
December 2022, including sales to entities which are known to
the Group to be under common control with single customer.
Revenue from these customers amounted to approximately
RMB1,915,486,000 (2021: RMB445,983,000). Details of
concentrations of credit risk arising from these customers are
set out in Note 27(a).

TEBRNEPRZIE BHEZZT
T F+ZA=+—HILFE B
—H(ZEZ—F —R)RXFHEBB
AEBEEFINNEFS (BIEARSE
EaEEE TP AR B
HE) REZSEPHNEXEBEOA
AR #1,915,486,0000( =& = —
F: AR #445983,0007T) ° B
ZEEFPEENEREERRFEH
RHEE27(@) °



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 OTHER INCOME/(LOSSES)

B FS R It

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BSH BN - HAAREFIR)
4 Hpg A (ER)

2022 2021
—s-- —E-—4F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M AR®Fr ARETT
Government grants BB
— Unconditional subsidies — EARMEE 8,525 56,468
— Conditional subsidies — BiEH®EE 24 8,195 8,865
Interest income FMBWA 6,739 11,346
Net loss on disposal of fixed assets  HERETEEE 2 FE18 (820) (19,072)
Fair value change on derivative AR ERESFHITE
financial instruments embedded TRITAN AR BEED
in convertible bonds 23(iv) (859,569) (14,161)
Fair value change on investmentin ~ BRARZEHIKREH
equity securities ~REEER 27(e) 522,699 19,237
Impairment loss on intangible assets EF&EE 2R ERE 11 (212,943) (25,984)
Impairment loss on goodwill ez REBE 12 (75,896) -
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain B3 (B18), W55 0) (241,432) 49,202
Others Hity 172 60
(844,330) 85,961
Note: ot
0} The amounts mainly represent foreign exchange (loss)/gain arising from 0} ZEeRFERREN-_Z__FR=-F
the translation of interest-bearing borrowings (see Note 23) which T FUETHENTREE(RME
denominated in USD in 2022 and 2021. 23) EAEMER (B518), Wa o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

5 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 5 BREANEF(EE)
Profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived at after charging/ AL ADEA S (EE) ik (GTA)
(crediting): AR EEEZEE
(a) Finance costs (a) BERAK

2022 2021
—Eg-= T —F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M5 AR®T T ARETIT
Interest on convertible bonds AlEmESF R 23(iv) 257,329 243,352
Interest on bank loans and IRITER M EMERFE
other borrowings 43,014 21,895
300,343 265,247
Less: interest expense capitalised J : FE2 TI2RE A2
into construction FBEFMAS*
in progress* (18,697) (21,440)
281,646 243,807

* The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of 4.40%-
5.39% per annum (2021: 4.90%-5.39%).
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(b)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBHEEAIN - FUARES|R)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 5 PBREADRER,(EE) @)

Staff costs (b) BIRAK

2022 2021

—E-= —EF-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AREETIT

Salaries, wages, bonuses and benefits &4 « T& - fE4AL &A@ H 612,185 321,399

Contributions to defined contribution EZE{tZGRKEFIET 2]
retirement benefit schemes 35,304 35,187
647,489 356,586

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised
by the local government authorities whereby the Group
is required to make contributions to the Schemes based
on certain percentages of the eligible employee’s
salaries. The local government authorities are
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to
the retired employees. The Group has no other material
obligations for payments of retirement and other post-
retirement benefits of employees other than the

contributions described above.

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution
plans are expensed as incurred and not reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees who leave
the plans prior to vesting fully in the contributions.

RIEFEMEBSDRRER
{5 A< S B 22 62 gy 3 U7 U A
[68 48 A 1 57 TE (R BUR K48 B ET
2(T5rE]) - Bt AEHEE
RREEREEFENRAD
e AT S 35K - 35 BUT
WA ERRKNES 2B
BRAREWEE - B Lt R
oh - REBEWEEMEANETE
AR B AR AR R E R IR 1R
=R

ARER B[R R B A A B
HIREERH MEER
FEES 2 B 5RAT R i FH 8T
BOL U KT & A 1B R X

FHN o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

5 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 5 BRBANEFR(EBE) @)
(c) Otheritems (c) HfbEHE
2022 2021
—E-= —EF-—F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M5 AR¥TR AREETIT
Depreciation e 10 150,554 104,288
Less: amount capitalised as W BERMEABEST NS
development costs (1,601) (3,792)
148,953 100,496
Amortisation s 11 228,404 186,300
Less: amount capitalised as B BEAMEAEY e
development costs - (26,980)
228,404 159,320
Auditor’s remuneration = ERAT BN &
— audit services — Eit iR 1,900 3,480
— non-audit services — FEERT RIS 817 1,587
Lease charges HEEH 6,905 7,847
Cost of inventories sold (i) BEFEKA®) 16 573,555 368,584
0) Cost of inventories include RMB240,130,000 (2021: 0} FERABEEETIRA - TE
RMB110,121,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation and REEATHBO I EARE
amortisation expenses, which amount is also included in the 240,130,000t (ZFT=—%F : A
respective total amounts disclosed separately above or in the K¥110,121,00070) * A L& %8
Note 5(b) for each of these types of expenses. INET A LS E M RES(b) BB B

FERB M RENARASENR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 hac et
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRBEEAIN - HUAAREDITR)
INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 6 #SAoBERHREMEZERKIER

OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER A TS
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit or loss (a) HEEZERHEHMZEARERA
and other comprehensive income represents: HEiIEE -
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
ihE=s AR®TR AREFT
Current tax BPERBE IR
Provision for PRC CIT for the year ANEEFREMEFESHEHE 25@) 59,351 (66,776)
Under-provision for PRC CIT in BEFERRLE
respect of prior years RSB ET 2 25(a) 6,123 11,989
65,474 (54,787)
Deferred tax ERERE
Origination and reversal of TR ESENEERED
temporary differences 25(b) (75,291) (24,673)
Total income tax iS4 (9,817) (79,460)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 6

OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

(b) Reconciliation between income tax expenses and
accounting profit/(loss) at applicable tax rates:

GEBREREMEZEKER
A FEH @)

(b)

FreBMxRBRERRRNE
HEFHER, (BB HHEk

2022 2021
—E-= —E—F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Mz AR®BTR ARKET T

Profit/(loss) before taxation BREADEF(BE) 39,422 (667,184)
Applicable tax rate A% 0 25% 25%
Notional tax on profit/(loss) BEADET(BB) K

before taxation HEIE 9,856 (166,796)
Under-provision for PRC CIT in BEFEPHEE

respect of prior years FriSTEETT 6,123 11,989
Tax effect of non-deductible TR HMRAZNRBE T E

expenses 46,891 6,358
Tax effect of preferential tax rate BN KRBT L (ih) (33,446) 50,448
Tax effect of additional deduction ZE4MNIER 2% B < &9

of R&D expenses Mg (16,506) (14,802)
Tax effect of additional deduction FBSMNARREREEHEES &

of expenditure for purchasing B4

machinery and equipment (13,779) -
Tax effect of utilisations of tax ~ B BEFERERIEL

losses for deferred tax asset MIBEENMBEER

not recognised in prior years Mg B (36,571) -
Tax effect of unused tax losses  REERIELRIBEEMN K

of deferred tax asset not FIRBIEBENT G

recognised z 27,615 33,342
Actual tax income BRHERA (9,817) (79,460)

(i) The PRC CIT rate is 25%.

(D] The PRC CIT Law allows enterprises to apply for the certificate of
“High and New Technology Enterprise” (“HNTE”) which entitles
the qualified companies to a preferential income tax rate of 15%.
The Company was recognised as “HNTE” and enjoyed a
preferential CIT rate of 15% for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 hac et
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRZHEBIN  AUARBIIR)
7 DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION 7 EEREZE

The details of directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration are EEREEMWSFBRBNT

disclosed as follows:

2022
—EC-CE

Contributions

to defined

Salaries, contribution

allowances retirement

Directors’ and benefits benefit  Discretionary

fees in kind schemes bonuses Total

ot

Foo2%  BHER
EHe  REWER  HBER BERA @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET ARBTT ARBTL ARBT ARBTT

Executive directors HITEE

Mr. Jiang Juncai BT RE - 600 23 651 1,274
Mr. Wang Danjin FHEEE - 481 23 413 917
Mr. Chen Yangui BREELE - 455 34 540 1,029
Mr. Li Shuang TRELE - 456 18 324 798
Non-executive directors FHTES

Mr. Tang Xinfa BHMBLE - - - - -
Mr. Eddy Huang (i) FEA() - - - - -

Independent non-executive BUFHITES

directors

Mr. Tang Jianxin BEMEE 100 - - - 100
Ms. Xiang Ling e 100 - - - 100
Mr. Zhao Dayao (i) HAZLLE() 408 - - - 408
Mr. Li Xuechen FERLE 340 - - - 340
Supervisors Ex

Mr. Tang Jinlong BeRLE - 482 23 410 915
Mr. Wang Shengchao FTHBLE - 290 15 150 455
Mr. Luo Zhonghua BEELE - 370 25 432 827
Total @t 948 3,134 161 2,920 7,163
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
et
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(B BAEEIHIN - HUARETR)
7 DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION 7 EEZREEME &)

(continued)
2021
—E-—F
Contributions
to defined
Salaries, contribution
allowances retirement
Directors’ and benefits benefit  Discretionary
fees in kind schemes bonuses Total
TERMHR
e R RINER
ko REMEF BE:5 Mg st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARETT ARETFT ARBETTL AREFTL
Executive directors YTES
Mr. Jiang Juncai BT RE - 490 23 519 1,032
Mr. Wang Danjin IRERE — 403 23 334 760
Mr. Chen Yangui BREELE - 378 34 543 955
Mr. Li Shuang TREE - 382 18 270 670
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Tang Xinfa BIEEE - - - - -
Mr. Eddy Huang (i) FWREQ) - - - - -

Independent non-executive BUFHTES

directors
Mr. Tang Jianxin BEMEE 100 - - - 100
Ms. Xiang Ling L) 100 - - - 100
Mr. Zhao Dayao (i) BAZELE() 680 - - - 680
Mr. Li Xuechen FEREYE 160 - - - 160
Supervisors Ex
Mr. Tang Jinlong BeErE - 324 23 472 819
Mr. Wang Shengchao FTHBLE - 234 15 100 349
Mr. Luo Zhonghua REERAE - 375 27 454 856
Total @t 1,040 2,586 163 2,692 6,481
(0] Mr. Eddy Huang resigned as non-executive director and Mr. Zhao Dayao (0] FPEER T -_—_FNA-_+HET
resigned as independent non-executive director on 20 September 2022. FEMITES > MBAELELENRBET

B IFMITES -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 RaR M A

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(=B - BUAAREIIR)

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 8 EBEFMAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one hEBReHFMHALS  Ep—F(=
(2021: two) are the director whose emoluments are disclosed T —F WB)REE BEHN
in Note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the WEAHF7 B EZ(ZE = —
other four (2021: three) individual is as follows: F o =F) ATHEFBREDT
2022 2021
—Eg-= T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREFT
Salaries and other emoluments e K E b B 2,875 1,110
Discretionary bonuses [l=pan 1,410 1,855
Contribution to retirement schemes IRIRET IR 73 48
4,358 3,013
The emoluments of the other four (2021: three) individual with HMEZ (ZZE=-—F: =Z):ma5
the highest emoluments is within the following band: AT FIATEHE -
2022 2021
—EC-CF = —F
Number of Number of
Individuals Individuals
A ANE
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7t & 1,500,000 % 7T 4 3
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B -

9

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

BIAANRESIR)

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is
based on the profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity
shareholders of the Company of RMB76,603,000 (2021:
loss of RMB587,649,000) and the weighted average of
879,967,700 ordinary shares (2021: 879,967,700

ordinary shares) in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share for the year ended 31
December 2022 and the year ended 31 December 2021
is same as the basic earnings/(loss) per share as the
potential conversion of the convertible bonds had an
anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings/(loss) per
share.

9

ZREF, (ER)
(@ SREFERFH (R

(b)

TEEREARAT(FIE)R
T LAZR X R B A AR R B A
wm A B ®B) AR
76,603,000 (= F = —4F : f§5
B AR 587,649,000 7T) M4
NE BT AR METFHIH
879,967,700 (=T = — F :
879,967,700F% L i@mA% ) HEE -

SRBERF(BE)

AR ERESETERY
BREXRRAN (BB AEKR
BEER  MBEZT ==

+- A=+t BHIEFEREZS
—E—F+ZA=+—H1
FENSREERFN,(HB)
BEREART]/(EE)HER -



10 FIXED ASSETS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R B o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B 2HEIEIIN - AARKEF|R)
10 EEEE

Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) BREEMNHIR
Ownership
interests in
Office leasehold
Plant and equipment Motor  Construction land held
Buildings ~ Machinery  and others vehicles  inprogress  Sub-total  for own use Total
BEEAZ
BAE HELH
BERET R RERER RE ERIR Mt FEEER &zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT
Cost: A
At 1 January 2021 AZE--5-F-B 1,021,434 349,208 228,266 2,252 1,186,638 2,787,798 375,782 3,163,580
Additions BE 54,147 5,021 3,699 - 421,410 484,277 19,966 504,243
Transfer from construction RERIRER
in progress 504,805 402,180 119,591 12 (1,026,588) - - -
Disposals RE (4,699) (3,677 (2,430) - (13,516) (24,322) - (24,322)
At 31 December 2021 WZE--F+-A=+-H 1575687 752,732 349,126 2,264 567,944 3,247,753 395,748 3,643,501
Additions RE 9,490 4,964 5,468 - 434,616 454,538 - 454,538
Transfer from construction BERIREYR
in progress 110,319 37,971 178,818 - (327,108) - - -
Disposals RE - (3,026) (3,203) - - (6,229) - (6,229)
At 31 December 2022 WZE-—#+-A=+—-H 1695496 792,641 530,209 2,264 675452 3,696,062 395,748 4,091,810
Accumulated depreciation: ZitE
At 1 January 2021 AZE2Z—-%-F—B (115,388) (111,446) (70,873) (430) - (298,137) (29,737) (327,874)
Charge for the year R (33969  (32051) (29,793 (Q11) - (96,024) (8,264)  (104,288)
Written-back on disposals REBEHE 878 2,412 1,926 - - 5,216 - 5,216
At 31 December 2021 RZE-—5+-A=+-H (148479 (141,085) (98,740) (641) - (388,945) (38,001) (426,346)
Charge for the year E3abily (51,779) (49,022) (40,943) (215) - (141,959 (8,595 (150,554)
Written-back on disposals R BRI - 1,986 2,469 - - 4,455 - 4,455
At 31 December 2022 WZZ-—#+-B=+-B (00258  (188,121)  (137,214) (856) - (526449)  (465%)  (573,045)
Carrying amount: REE:
At 31 December 2022 AMEZZEFCAZH-B 1,495,238 604,520 392,995 1,408 675452 3,169,613 349,152 3,518,765
At 31 December 2021 WZEZ-F+ZA=1—-H 1427208 611,647 250,386 1,623 567,944 2,858,808 357,747 3,216,555
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

10 FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(a)

Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

0)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

All property, plant and equipment owned by the
Group are located in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group was applying
for certificates of ownership for certain properties,
with carrying value of RMB544,900,000 (2021:
RMB415,843,000). The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the use of and the conduct
of operating activities at the properties referred to
above are not affected by the fact that the Group
has not yet obtained the relevant properties title
certificates.

As at 31 December 2022, amount of
RMB159,322,000 (2021: RMB83,828,000) of the
ownership interests in leasehold land held for own
use, amount of RMB409,075,000 (2021:
RMB258,397,000) of construction in progress, and
amount of RMB609,044,000 (2021:
RMB262,150,000) of plant and buildings were held
in pledge for bank loans (Note 22(a)).

The Group sold some of its machinery and
equipment to external parties and leased them
back for a term of 2 years. The Group determined
the transfers to buyer-lessor were not considered
as sales under IFRS15, thus the Group continues to
recognise the underlying assets, and recognises
financial liabilities for the considerations received
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
Note 1(i). No gain or loss were recognised from the
sale and leaseback transactions for the years
ended 31 December 2022. As at 31 December
2022, the carrying amounts of the plant and
buildings and machinery pledged for the
aforementioned sale and leaseback transactions
were RMB321,727,000 (2021: nil) (Note 22(b)).

10 BIEEE &)
BRE N E ()

(a)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 RaR M A

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(% S HEEEN -
10 FIXED ASSETS (continued) 10 EEEE &)
(b) Right-of-use asset (b) FEHAEEE

(i)  The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use

assets by class of underlying asset is as follows:

BANRESIR)

() REBEEERZDME
FEEEREFED TN

T

2022 2021

kSt —E=—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETIT
Included in fixed assets: BIERETEE

— Ownership interests in —HFERZEELH

leasehold land held FrB =

for own use 349,152 357,747

(i) ~ The analysis of expense items in relation to leases

(i) RIEREREEEENH

recognised in profit or loss is as follows: STHEEATOT
2022 2021
—E-CF = —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use Z/BEEEERZID
assets by class of underlying FREEENEER :
asset:
— Ownership interests in —RHEERCHEE T
leasehold land held FRE R
for own use 8,595 8,264
Expense relating to short-term ERRBHAEZAX
leases 6,905 7,847
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

228

(BR= AR - AUARKETITR)
11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 11 BREEE
Hepatitis C drugs Other Drugs
GLiE 3 Hit 2
Generic drug Insulin
Capitalised intellectual intellectual  Capitalised
development property property development
Patent costs rights rights costs Total
(4 e FAES (4
R OBEXE  AHEE  AREE BRI w3t
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
izt ARETT ARETT ARETR ARSTR ARBTT ARETR
Cost: B
At 1 January 2021 RZE=—4%—-A—H 848,021 142,851 831,642 42,580 1,030,310 2,895,404
Addition through internal BRNDRE L
development - 31,164 . . 105,404 136,568
Addition and transfer SEENEETE P
from prepayment 15 - - 638,115 - - 638,115
Transfer from development  BIZ S HERET
costs to patents - - - 108,383 (108,383) -
At 31 December 2021 i S
+-A=ft-H 848,021 174,015 1,469,757 150,963 1,027,331 3,670,087
Addition through internal BANDRE L
development - 497 - - 69,125 69,622
Addition and transfer BRI R
from prepayment 15 - - 20,381 - - 20,381
Transfer from development — BIEX PEHER
costs to patents - - - 110,106 (110,106) -
At 31 December 2022 A —a
+ZR=ft-H 848,021 174,512 1,490,138 261,069 986,350 3,760,090
Accumulated amortisation: R #isH
At 1 January 2021 RZE-—%—-H—H (102,301) - (81,028) (2,484) - (185,813)
Charge for the year FRMk (67,481) - (111,851) (6,968) - (186,300)
At 31 December 2021 RZE-—%
+-R=1t-H (169,782) - (192,879) (9,452) - (372,113)
Charge for the year FRMk (67,481) - (143,694) (17,229) - (228,404)
At 31 December 2022 i ——e
+-A=1+-H (237,263) - (336,573) (26,681) - (600,517)
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R It

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRAER - HUAREFIR)
11 BEREE &)

Hepatitis C drugs Other Drugs
A& HtbZy
Generic drug Insulin

Capitalised intellectual intellectual  Capitalised
development property property development
Patent costs rights rights costs Total

-E:X(4 {hEE REZ g4
R BEXH  ARER  AREE BRI At

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
M ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETxR
Impairment loss: HERS:
At 1 January 2021 RZE-—%—-H—H - - - - - -
Recognised in the year FRHER (iii) - - (25,984) - - (25,984)
At 31 December 2021 i e
+-A=1+-H - - (25,984) - - (25,984)
Recognised in the year FRHER (iif) (20,399) (22,599)  (169,945) - - (212,943)
At 31 December 2022 RWZZE==F
+-f=+-H (20,399) (22,599) (195,929) - - (238,927)
Net book value: REFE
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZF
+-A=+-H 590,359 151,913 957,636 234,388 986,350 2,920,646
At 31 December 2021 S
+-A=+—-H 678,239 174,015 1,250,894 141,511 1,027,331 3,271,990

FEHE 2022 /| EERGARIEXZRNERAF
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B -

11

BIAANRESIR)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

U]

(ii)

(ii)

The amortisation charge for the year was included in the
“cost of sales” and “general administration expenses” in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, except to the extent that they
are included in the development cost not yet recognised
as an expense.

Development costs were either in-process research and
development projects (“IPR&D”) acquired or development
cost capitalised in accordance with the accounting
policies for the research and development costs in Note
1(h) to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the intangible assets under
development were not yet ready for intended use.

Impairment review on the intangible assets of the Group
has been conducted by the management as at 31
December 2022. For the purpose of impairment test, the
recoverable amount of the intangible assets is
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use the cash flow projections based on the
financial forecasts approved by management, with
reference to professional valuation reports issued by
China Alliance Appraisal Co., Ltd. and Beijing KYSIN Assets
Appraisal Co., Ltd., independent firms of professionally
qualified valuers.

11

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

BEEE®)

(M

(i)

(iii)

AEEZHNBIHERGTARER
mhEmEERERAO[HE
AR [ —RITHRERFAX]
KM 2 R AR S 1B R
RBRFSRIBRSN ©

FA% S 18 2 B RO ETT R AT
HIEAE ([ETHAEER DX
RIFFEMBREMELNE
BT L B R E AL
MFE S H -

RZE_—_F+-A=+—
A ARPERFEEHRET
BER®E -

RZEZ_F+ZHA=+—
A AEEEEECUERE
EHITRESEE - BURE R
mE BEEENITHRESE
DIRERAEETEET - %%
FTEGRAEREREIER
BEAMNRSREEN - B2
EHREXESERGERMAR D
B R AL R R EE ER
ERATBIRIERHITEHNEE
FHEBRAREHANEEME

W& -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

B FS R It

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B RAER - UARETR)
11 B|BREEE &)

(i) (continued) iy (&)

1) Capitalised development costs 1) BRI H
Capitalised development costs represent IPR&D B HEE S
acquired or internal development cost capitalised ROMEFTHR A ESIE B of B 22
by pharmaceutical products as follows: EmERNEAEREX

BB

2022 2021

—Eg-= T —F

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

B EE AR%T AREFT

Rongliflozin L-Pyroglutamic =~ AR LK TI)F (a) 622,637 582,750

Liraglutide AIETR=—Y:) (a) 82,390 64,568
Emitasvir phosphate BEBRAORM &

follow-up compounds BELED (b) 186,979 186,979

Hepatitis C PIRF (©) 151,913 174,015

Insulin RS %= (d) 94,344 193,034

1,138,263 1,201,346

Capitalised development costs are tested for

impairment annually until the completion or

abandonment of the related research and

development efforts.

ERNMCHEhEFET
BERAE - EEFTERHN
ZAARRATE T -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BIAANRESIR)

(B =B -

11

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)

(continued)

1)

Capitalised development costs (continued)

(a)

Identifiable asset: Rongliflozin
L-Pyroglutamic, Liraglutide

In 2019, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement and a supplemental
agreement to such sale and purchase
agreement with Sunshine Lake Pharma Co.,
Ltd. (BER RS ZE B R A 7, “Sunshine
Lake Pharma”) which is a related party of the
Group and has become the controlling
shareholder of the Company since December
of 2021. Pursuant to which the Company
agreed to acquire and Sunshine Lake Pharma
agreed to dispose the IPR&D in relation to
two pharmaceutical products, namely
Liraglutide and Rongliflozin L-Pyroglutamic
within the PRC at a total consideration of
RMB1,645,600,000 (the “Proposed
Acquisition”). The payment terms comprised
an up-front payment of RMB550,000,000,
and three milestone payments of
RMB246,840,000 and a contingent payment
of RMB848,760,000 subject to the future
sales of the target products. The Proposed
Acquisition was effective after the
shareholder’s approval in January 2020. Up
to 31 December 2022, the Company have
made accumulated payment of
RMB555,680,000 (2021: RMB550,000,000)
and have recognised IPR&D as intangible
assets. The remaining payments will be
accumulated into the cost of the intangible
assets when the capitalisation criteria are
met or recognised as a cost of sales in line
with the underlying sales.

11 B|BREEE &)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 RaR M A

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)  (continued)

1) Capitalised development costs (continued)

(a)

Identifiable asset: Rongliflozin
L-Pyroglutamic, Liraglutide (continued)

The management regards Rongliflozin
L-Pyroglutamic and Liraglutide as a
separately identifiable asset and CGU in the

impairment test.

Based on the result of impairment test, the
recoverable amount of Rongliflozin
L-Pyroglutamic and Liraglutide calculated
based on value in use exceeded their carrying
amount as at 31 December 2022, no

impairment was recognised (2021: nil).

(% S HEEEN -
11 BEREE &)

iy (4&)

BANRESIR)

1) EXREEBXIEHE)

(a)

ARAEE: &R
[RREIF - 7
AR (&)

B 32 JE R B R
P ERRBRERRE
515 B M B E AR
REFOABERE
ENRGELEN -

1R 45 R E OB & 4
B RZ—T-_Z

+=ZA=+—8"
EEREEFEN
EARBERIF
K FIHL B AR AT 4
El&EREERR
8 - a2
/).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BIAANRESIR)

(B =B -

11

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)

(continued)

1)

Capitalised development costs (continued)

(b)

Identifiable asset: Emitasvir phosphate
follow-up compounds

On 22 July 2015, the Group entered into an
agreement with Sunshine Lake Pharma.
Pursuant to the agreement, the Group
acquired the right to use all the relevant
knowhow and patents relating to emitasvir
phosphate and follow-up compounds. As at
31 December 2022, this Emitasvir phosphate
follow-up compounds were in the phase IlI
clinical trial and is targeting to obtain the

new drug approvals and permits in 2024.

Based on the result of impairment test, the
recoverable amount of Emitasvir phosphate
follow-up compounds calculated based on
value in use exceeded its carrying amount as
at 31 December 2022, no impairment was
recognised (2021: nil).

11 B|BREEE &)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R B o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)  (continued)

1) Capitalised development costs (continued)

()

(d)

CGU of patents, capitalised development
costs and goodwill related to Hepatitis C
(collectively referred to as “Hepatitis C Asset
Group”)

The capitalised development costs of
Hepatitis C project and the patents of
Hepatitis C drugs are allocated to the Group’s
CGU of Hepatitis C Asset Group. Based on the
result of impairment test of Hepatitis C Asset
Group (see Note 12), impairment amounting
to RMB42,998,000 was recognised for
capitalised development costs of Hepatitis C
project and the patents of Hepatitis C drugs
during the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: nil).

CGU of specific property, plant and
equipment, capitalised development costs
and intellectual property rights related to
insulin (collectively referred to as “Insulin
Asset Group”)

Based on the result of impairment test, the
recoverable amount of Insulin Asset Group
calculated based on value in use exceeded its
carrying amount as at 31 December 2022, no
impairment was recognised (2021: nil).

(% S HEEEN -
11 BEREE &)

iy (4&)

BANRESIR)

1) EXREEBXIEHE)

(c)

(d)

ERFHABHNE
M BEFXREHERX
HEBENREE
BNV (SREI AN
&EAR D

ARFEEHE R
BT H R AT &
MEFDEERE
ERFEEHARN
MEELEBMN- B
BARFEEMARK
AR RER (R
H12) HEF
e
=t+—HIEFE(=Z
T —F:E) K
NAIBEAFIEE R
BEARERAESHK
P RF 529 5 5 1 3R
B E AR K
42,998,000 7T °

HEREZHBNE
EME BERR
EHNBRETELE
i EXREA#RX
R AR E R (R
[REXREEAR ]

B 4% R E ORI & A
B R-DZE-—
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EEZEEANK
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B -

BIAANRESIR)

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)  (continued)

2)

Generic drugs

As at 31 December 2022, generic drugs represent
29 generic drugs’ intellectual property rights. The
management regards each individual drugs’
intellectual property rights as a separately
identifiable asset and CGU in the impairment test.

Based on the results of impairment tests, the
recoverable amount for 18 out of 29 generic drugs
calculated based on value in use exceeded their
carrying amount as at 31 December 2022 and no
impairment was recognised during the year ended
2022.

Due to the price of generic drugs decreased after
they have been included in the national centralised
procurement, new market competitors were
introduced or the estimated distribution and
production cost increased, the estimated
recoverable amount of 11 (2021: 3) out of 29
generic drugs were less than their carrying amount
as at 31 December 2022.

11 B|BREEE &)

(i) (#8)

2)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B HRR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)  (continued)

2)

Generic drugs (continued)

The differences were approximately
RMB169,945,000 (2021: RMB25,984,000) in total
based on the impairment evaluation result, which
was recognised as impairment loss in the “other
income and loss” in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Based on the life cycle of drugs and the market
supply and demand of similar drugs, the life of the
generic drugs for impairment evaluation is at least
10 years after the drugs listing on the market. The
lifecycle of the generic drugs are 10 years in the
recoverable amount calculation in the impairment
test.

The calculations apply the cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by

management covering a three-year period.

The following sets out the key assumptions for the
value in use calculation of the 11 generic drugs:

(Br=BEHH -

BANRESIR)

11 B|BREEE &)

(i) (#8)

2)

A% (%)

BEFBENGER =58
R H AR ANRE
169,945,000 L(ZE=—
F: A R %25,984,000
o) RS ERREMm
2E W EF R A [ E MU
AREE] NERARE
E518 o

BREEYNSwmBEE KRR
BMEQNTMISHE - AE
BB AR RES D A
geY) LM E D105 o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BIAANRESIR)

(B =B -

11

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)

(continued)

2)

Generic drugs (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Revenue

Revenue is calculated based on the tax-
exclusive selling price and the sales volume,
after considering the factors such as market
competitors, product launch time, the price
and volume in the national centralised

procurement.

Costs of goods sold

The cost of goods sold includes the cost of
materials and the cost of processing fees, in
which the cost of materials is determined in
combination with the production data of
related units and the market price. The
processing cost is mainly determined by
reference to the manufacturing cost of the

similar drugs.

Discount rate

The discount rates used in the impairment
valuation is pre-tax discount rate 18.42%
(2021: 19.74%). and reflect specific risks
relating to the generic drugs.

11 B|BREEE &)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R B o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(=B - BUAAREIIR)

12 GOODWILL 12 HE
RMB’000
AREFT
Cost: A
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and R_ZE_—F—H—H-
31 December 2022 T —F+ZA=+—8K
T _F+ZHA=+—H 75,896
Impairment losses: REEE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and R-ZE-—F—H—H"
1 January 2022 —E_—F+-A=t+—-H8K
—2--F—H—H -
Recognised in the year FRER (75,896)
At 31 December 2022 RZB-_—_F+-A=+—H (75,896)
Carrying amount: BRMEE -
At 31 December 2022 R-ZB-_—_F+-_A=+—H -
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H 75,896
Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing LEHENRESEAENRERR
goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s CGU identified according to HEORBLELEHMERRRELE ST
country of operation and operating segment as follows: SEEXREEBK N HBIREESL
B
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRT ARETET

Hepatitis C Asset Group AAFE EE R - 75,896
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br 5

BRI AUAREIITR)

12 GOODWILL (continued)

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to the CGU of Hepatitis C Asset Group including
patents and capitalised development costs related to Hepatitis
C, and the recoverable amount of the CGU of the Hepatitis C
Asset Group was determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering
thirteen-year period with reference to professional valuation
reports issued by independent firm of professionally qualified
valuers, Beijing KYSIN Assets Appraisal Co., Ltd. As the patent
will expire at the end of 2033 and large number of generic
drugs will be launched in the market within one to two years
after the expiry of patent protection period in general, the
management estimated that the lifecycle of the asset group
will expire in 2035. The life cycle of the Hepatitis C Asset Group
is 13 years.

These calculations apply the cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a 8-year
period, because this is a new developing drug and will not have
a stable increasing rate as the World Health Organization
(“WHQ”) required that viral hepatitis C shall be completely
eradicated in 2030. The forecast sales for the 8-year period
are extrapolated based on the forecast market shares and
total market volume. Cash flows beyond the aforementioned
financial forecasts period are extrapolated using estimated
sales decrease rate of 63%, which was estimated on the basis
of the number of newly diagnosed patients shall decrease by
90% as viral hepatitis C shall be eradicated in 2030 required by
WHQO.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R It

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

12 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing

goodwill (continued)

The key parameters used for value-in-use calculations are as

follows:
1) Revenue

Revenue is calculated based on the tax-exclusive selling
price and the number of target patients relying on the
drug, after considering the factors such as market
environment, product launch time, patients population.
The total market volume in the future is determined and
predicted based on the forecasted sales volume and

market share.
2) Costs

The unit cost of the pharmaceutical products estimated
by the Company is based on the detailed cost
composition analysis and considering the necessary
profits considered by APl manufacturing enterprises and

drug manufacturers.

(=B - BUAAREIIR)

12 BEE)

BERENREELEQRENR
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1) &EH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

12 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing

12 BEE)

BERENREELEQRENR

goodwill (continued) (#&)
3) Discount rate 3) WE=E
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—F
Percentage of the pre-tax MATIRE TS L
discount rate 12.75% 12.25%

The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific

risks relating to the Hepatitis C Asset Group.

The values assigned to the key assumptions represent
management’s assessment of future trends in the
relevant industries and have been based on historical
data from both external and internal sources.

Based on the result of impairment test of Hepatitis C
Asset Group, the goodwill relating to the Hepatitis C
Asset Group has been fully impaired and further
impairment of the intangible assets in the Hepatitis C
Asset Group amounting to RMB42,998,000 are also
recognised in “other income/(losses)” during the year
ended 2022. The impairment loss of Hepatitis C Asset
Group relates to the delayed progress of the IPR&D of
Hepatitis C and the new market competitors introduced.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 RaR M A

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company has direct interests in

the following major subsidiaries, which are private companies.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

The particulars of the subsidiaries are set out below:

(Br=BEHH -

BANRESIR)

13 ARBLARIZRE

N—E——

F+-A=+—H AR

AU TEZHMBERR(BARLAR
BB EE RS - BHENB AR

BEINWT
Proportion
Place of of direct
incorporation Registered Paid-up ownership  Principal
Name of company and business capital capital interest  activities
HRALK BEEE
DEER Fd ok TRRA EHRA BHELA FEER
Yichang HEC Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* PRC RMB2,000,000 RMB2,000,000 100%  Sales of pharmaceutical
("EERBGRBEERAR products
HERBGHBEBRRAR HE ARE N 100% HEBEER
2,000,000 7T 2,000,000 7T
Yichang HEC Pharmaceutical PRC RMB450,000,000  RMB332,000,000 100%  Manufacturing and sales of
Manufacturing Co., Ltd.* active pharmaceutical
("EERBGHAEEERAA ingredient
HERBHRERRAF HE ARE N 100% 4ERHEERKE
450,000,000 7T 332,000,0007T
Dongguan Yangzhikang PRC RMB50,000,000  RMB50,000,000 100%  Sales of Pharmaceutical
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* products
(‘RETHzREEERAEARA)
REMBZRELEREEAT HE ARE N 100% HEREER
50,000,000 50,000,000 7T
Guangdong HEC Biological Pharmacy Co., Ltd.*  PRC RMB530,000,000  RMB439,532,109 100%  R&D of pharmaceutical
(HEC Biological Pharmacy, products, medical devices
"ERREGAENZEBERAR) and biotechnology
ERREXENBEERAT HE ARE = 100% BEED BERAK
(TRE A EE ) 530,000,0007L 439,532,097 R

FERE 2022 /| EERG AR TIEERMNER AR
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RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

13 RMBRARIZ2RE &)

Proportion
Place of of direct
incorporation Registered Paid-up ownership  Principal
Name of company and business capital capital interest  activities
ML R BEEE
ARER REmY R RA ERRA BELH FEEHR
YiChang HEC Pharmaceutical technology PRC RMB50,000,000 RMB46,500,000 93%  Medical consulting services
Marketing Services Co., Ltd.*
(EERGKBENREEREARLA")
HERBGHEERBHEEREERAR HE N ARE 93% BEAARE
50,000,000 7T 46,500,000 7T
YiChang HEC Bio-technology Co., Ltd.* PRC RMB30,000,000 RMB3,000,000 90%  Manufacturing and sales of
("HEREGXEMREBARAR") active pharmaceutical
ingredient
BERGRENRHLBRAR HE ARE ARE 90% 4EREERHE
30,000,000 3,000,000 7T
HEC TaiGen.* PRC RMB683,400,000  RMB683,400,000 60%  Research, development,
("REEGXASBERBEREALRA) production and sales of
drugs
RRRGAARBEREEREEAA Ll ARE ARE 60% - EERBEER
683,400,000 7T 683,400,000 7T
* The English translation of the above companies’ names is for reference *

only. The official names of these companies are in Chinese.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 ¥R MY Rt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(=B - BUAAREIIR)

13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 13 RMBARZERE #®)

TR AEEME—HFEEAIER
BB RRRGIEASTNER
TX2IMHBERRE R R AR

The following table lists out the information relating to HEC
TaiGen, the only subsidiary of the Group which has a material
non-controlling interests (NCI). The summarised financial

information presented below represents the amounts before HATR S %E -
any inter-company elimination.
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARETT
NCI percentage FEERESA D 40% 40%
Current assets mENEE 28,028 33,008
Non-current assets FERBEE 436,023 505,433
Current liabilities mEaE (1,595) (7,574)
Net assets FEE 462,456 530,867
Carrying amount of NCI R R EREE 185,117 212,481
Revenue EHER - -
Loss and total comprehensive income  FAEE R 2 EUALLEE
for the year (68,410) (187)
Loss allocated to NCI Dl E SRR EE R B8 (27,364) (75)
Dividend paid to NCI M IR s S AT AR B - -
Cash flows from operating activities KEEBHESRE 4,277 (18,159)
Cash flows from investing activities REEHRERE (6,061) (3)
Cash flows from financing activities REETHEESRE - -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BBHEEHI - HUARBIIR)
14 FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FVPL 14 RAAREEFEEHSEE
AEZHNETREE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
5 AR®T T ARETIT
Non-Current FRE
— Unlisted equity securities — FEMBRAFES 0 - 1,789,621
Current RE
— Investment in a trust investment — REFEIREETEINIEE
scheme (i) 290,000 -
() The unlisted equity securities are shares in Sunshine () SJELEMBEAZBSEABERRER

Lake Pharma, a company incorporated in Dongguan and
engaged in R&D and which became the Company’s
controlling shareholder in December 2021.

In 2021, the Company was granted with 10% equity
interest in Sunshine Lake Pharma (the “Target Equity”) at
nil consideration from Shenzhen HEC Industrial
Development Co., Ltd. OFIIERIGH EEEEBR QA A,
“Shenzhen HEC Industrial”) in connection with the
Company agreed to enter into a revised non-competition
agreement. The Company recognised the granted equity
interest as FVPL at its fair value of RMB1,770,385,000
when it obtained the control of the equity interest in
July 2021. Meanwhile, the Company recognised
RMB1,504,827,000 as capital reserve after netting off
tax payables of RMB265,558,000, which in relation to
this transaction.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

14 FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FVPL (continued)

U]

(ii)

(continued)

In December 2022, the Company (as the transferar),
Shenzhen HEC Industrial (as the transferee) and Sunshine
Lake Pharma (being the target company) entered into an
equity transfer agreement (the “Equity Transfer
Agreement”), pursuant to which, the Company agreed to
transfer and Shenzhen HEC Industrial agreed to acquire
the Target Equity held by the Company at a consideration
of RMB2,312,320,000, which was determined with
reference to the market value of total shareholders’
equity of Sunshine Lake Pharma prepared by an
independent professional valuer.

As at 31 December 2022, the Equity Transfer Agreement
has not taken effect as part of canditions precedent have
not been fulfilled. The Group transferred the financial
assets measured at FVPL of RMB2,312,320,000 into non-
current assets held for sale.

Financial assets measured at FVPL being classified as
held for sale are recognised and measured at fair value
(see note 1(y)).

On 27 December 2022, the Group invested in a trust
investment scheme established and managed by a trust
company as the trustee with the principal of
RMB290,000,000 and an initial investment period of nine
months. Pursuant to the agreement, the trust scheme is
designated to make the majority of its investments in
debt and equity securities, while the principal and return
of the investment are not guaranteed. Fair value of this
investment as of 31 December 2022 was estimated to be
RMB290,000,000.

(Br=BEHH -

BANRESIR)

14 BAAREBEFEBESE
ABEZNEREE#)

(M

(if)

(%)

RZBEZZF+=ZH ARF
(fEREZEAN) RIRERE
F(ERXBAN)EERREG K
2 (IERBIEAR) ]V RHE
EEha((REEERE]D -
Bt - ARRRZEZEMRY
REHEERBWEARR R
EMEERE REBEAARK
2,312,320,0007t - BEASETY
SEBEEGEMIRRE
ARG EXNRRE A
TEMETE -

RZEZ_ZF+H=1—
B BRI IR R E
BY - ARAEEE R R M R AR o
AEBBERANEBEFERL
ZHAABENEREEAR
#2,312,320,000 7TEE A {EH
EZHERBDEE -

>

N

—
<

BRARBEFEAEEZHTA
BT HEABELENS R
BERANBERRLTE (R
B 1(y)) ©

e

>

o

RZEZZF+ZHA=Z++k
H  ANEBRERH—HEET
RA(EAZTAN)BRILKER
WIEFEIRETE  ReBAA
R #290,000,0007C © # 1A 1%
BEHRANER - BEWE -
ErEETEl R E B ERLHIRE
REBRBRAEFELEL - BE
ERFBIRENA S REITR %
WEW_—_ZE-__F+_=A1
=t—BEMAREEMBTAA
[R# 290,000,000 7T °
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RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

15 PREPAYMENTS

15 FAfFRIAE

2022 2021

—Eg-= = —F

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

M AR®TR ARKEFT

Prepayments for intangible assets B EETEN KA 0 109,691 -
Prepayments for property, M - B R EEHTER IR

plant and equipment 186,069 64,825

295,760 64,825

() In 2018 and 2019, the Company entered into two N RZE-—NFERZZT—NEF

acquisition agreements with Sunshine Lake Pharma,
which was a related party of the Group and has become
the controlling shareholder of the Company since
December 2021, to acquire 33 pharmaceutical products’
know-how, intellectual property rights and ownership
rights (“Target Products”) from Sunshine Lake Pharma
with a total consideration of RMB2,131,635,000, which
comprised a prepayment of RMB1,065,817,000, several
milestone payments totalling RMB577,888,000 and
contingent payments of RMB487,930,000 subject to the
future sales of the Target Products.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had made
accumulated payments of RMB1,599,828,000 (2021:
RMB1,391,953,000) to Sunshine Lake Pharma. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, RMB20,381,000
(2021: RMB638,115,000) was transferred to intangible
assets after the National Medical Products
Administration approvals for 1 (2021: 10) out of the
Target Products has been obtained. After the transfers,
the outstanding prepayment to Sunshine Lake Pharma as
at 31 December 2022 was RMB109,691,000 (2021:

outstanding payable amounted to RMB77,803,000).
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PIN/N Tﬁfﬁ%ﬁﬁt?ﬁé%(ﬁli
SEEH YA -T-—F
+Z BRRKAARR RIERARE)
RT3 IR Ak - ABR(EB
A% 2,131,635,000 JC[A &R
R aE IR BE 33T E B AR
Mshe - MBEEREE
([BEER])  BREPIEE
fF 338 A K #1,065,817,000
AETERBNREEAR
577,888,000 7T M 3k PR - 5%
A R #487,930,0007T © 18 F
BEEEMRARKREEMT

RZE_—_F+ A =+—
H ALBEEZRHERER
H OB E X AR
1,599,828,000 L( =& = —4 :
A R #1,391,953,0007T ) * &
2-T-_—F+-fF=+—H
IHFE - AR®20,381,0007T
—EZ—F: AR #
6381150007&)E/\HX BiZE
mA—H(ZE=-—%: +18)
MBI 6 R ES R E T B A
EBABTEE - RERE RN
—E-_F+-A=+—HX
NTFERERGEENREE
A A A AR 109,691,000
TT(ZEZ—F : REBEMK
8 AR%77,803,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R B o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(=B - BUAAREIIR)

INVENTORIES 16 ®E&
2022 2021
—E-= B —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARBETT
Raw materials Rk 215,311 227,442
Work in progress =25 55,006 35,077
Finished goods BIFK 40,445 7,002
Goods in transit EiEm 4,265 10,175
315,027 279,696

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an

ERERSAXAABSNTEEER

expense and included in profit and loss is as follows: AT
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Mz AR®TR ARBTT
Carrying amount of inventories sold 2 &FEREE 519,773 266,224
Write-down of inventories FEMOR 53,782 102,360
Cost of inventaries sold BEFEKA 5(c) 573,555 368,584
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RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

17 BEZRHEMEWRIE

2022 2021

—E-= —EF-—F

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

MEE AR®TT ARETIT

Trade receivables H 5 IR 892,611 445,634
Bills receivable eSS 124,377 48,504
Less: allowance for doubtful debts ¥ : REE% 27(@) (11,171) (15,097)
1,005,817 479,041

VAT recoverable AT EIIEER 22,077 57,263
Other receivables H b e NG IA 11,886 13,428
Less: allowance for doubtful debts ¥ : REE%HE (2,864) (2,941)
31,099 67,750

Total st 1,036,916 546,791

(i)  Bills receivable with carrying value of RMB10,667,000
(2021: RMB6,460,000) were pledged as securities of
bank loans of the Group as at 31 December 2022 (see

Note 22(a)).

(i) Bills receivable with carrying value of RMB38,370,000
(2021: RMB13,116,000) were pledged as securities of
issuing bills payable by the Group as at 31 December

2022.

(i)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 RaR M A

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(=B - BUAAREIIR)

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade debtors and bills receivable (which are included in trade
and other receivables), based on the invoice date and net of
allowance for doubtful debts, is as follows:

17 ESREMEWEIE#)

SRR AT

REEBR - ERERR K ERE R
(Bt AE S MEAMEWGIR) RER
B EE MR R AR EH R AR i 0 AT 10

T

2022 2021
—Eg-= T —F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFT

Within 3 months 3MEAR 784,628 403,721
More than 3 months but within 1 year  #:@3{HAE1FER 221,137 69,403
More than 1 year BB 1F 52 5,917
1,005,817 479,041

Trade debtors are generally due within 30-90 days from the
date of billing. Bills receivable is due in 3 months ar 6 manths
from the date of hilling. The Group’s credit policy is set out in
Note 27(a). All of the trade and other receivables of the Group
are expected to be recovered within one year.

FEHE 2022 /| EERGARIEXZRNERAF
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B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

18 RESTRICTED CASH 18 ZRERE
2022 2021
—EC-CF T
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARETET

Security deposits RER 76,781 91,992
As at 31 December 2022, the restricted cash mainly R-FE-——FE+=-A=+—0 2R
represented pledges to banks for issuance of bills payables FIREEERMETENZERER
and letter of credit. BMARITR A EA o

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHERCASH 19 R4 GHE4ZEEREREM

FLOW INFORMATION BEE4RhEaER
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) HEeLRLEEEBEEEE:
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT AREBTT

Cash on hand FEEB® 6 -
Cash at bank SRITIRE 923,537 1,131,121

923,543 1,131,121
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 hac et
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRBEEAIN - HUAAREDITR)
19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHERCASH 19 RERIREZEERA R HA

FLOW INFORMATION (continued) EeREER )
(b) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before taxation to cash (b) BBADER(FiE) EEEA
generated/(used in) from operations: B (TR RENEER
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

M AR®TFR  ARBTET

Profit/(loss) before taxation B ATER, (E18) 39,422 (667,184)
Adjustments for: Bk
Depreciation e 5(c) 148,953 100,496
Amortisation i3 5(c) 228,404 159,320
Interest income FMBMA 4 (6,739) (11,346)
Finance costs BERA 5(a) 281,646 243,807
Loss on disposal of fixed assets ~ HEETE EENEE 4 820 19,072
Fair value change on investment BAFZEAZEN AR
in equity securities BEZ 4 (522,699) (19,237)
Fair value change in connection AR A AR EH
with derivative financial ZPTHEeHMmIAY
instruments embedded in AAEBEES
caonvertible bonds 4 859,569 14,161
Impairment provision B EERERE
for intangible assets 4 212,943 25,984
Impairment provision EERERE
for goodwill 4 75,896 -
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) [EH Uz (E18) B8 0) 241,731 (49,495)
Changes in working capital: EEESEY
(Increase)/decrease FEOEM, B
in inventories (35,331) 98,572
Increase in trade and B 5 I E At FEW FRIEIE N
other receivables (530,589) (216,095)
Increase/(decrease) in trade BN HEMENFIE
and other payables #h, O) 961,310 (379,183)
Cash generated rEmE/ (R RE
from/(used in) operations 1,955,336 (681,128)
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BT 15 R M 5T
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETIR)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHERCASH 19 RERBESZEEHRHEM
FLOW INFORMATION (continued) EeHmEER ®)

254

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) BMEITBFAMELEENEHER
activities
Bank loans Interest-
and other bearing
borrowings borrowings Total
BITENX
REMEN FEER @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR
Notes (Note 22) (Note 23)
st (H&E22) (HE23)
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-—_F5—F—H 593,377 2,600,125 3,193,502
Changes from financing cash flows: REREHRELH :
Proceeds from bank loans RITEREHE 367,937 - 367,937
Proceeds from borrowings under ~ £%FER FHIEF
sale and leaseback transactions  FRSFUE 150,000 - 150,000
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (162,275) - (162,275)
Payments for capital element of ~ EZBERFELMET
obligations arising from sale and BB ARE DK
leaseback transactions (12,500) - (12,500)
Repurchase of convertible bonds BB A &R {ER - (971,386) (971,386)
Interest paid ERFE (34,258) (78,485) (112,743)
Total changes from financing RERERELDAT
cash flows 308,904 (1,049,871) (740,967)
Other changes: Hin2s
Interest on bank loans and BITERRFTEERFE
interesting bearing borrowings 36,793 257,329 294,122
Fair value change on derivative A RIERESFNTESE
financial instruments embedded ~ T A& AR BEZE
in convertible bonds 23(iv) - 859,569 859,569
Interest on bill discounted Eﬁﬁfﬁi‘?ﬁﬁﬁﬂ g 4,202 - 4,202
Derecognition of bank loans BUERBRBTER 0) (28,404) - (28,404)
Exchange adjustment BN AR - 239,811 239,811
At 31 December 2022 i —
+ZRA=1t—H 914,872 2,906,963 3,821,835
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 RaR M A

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B RAER - UARETR)
19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHERCASH 19 RERBESZEEHRHEM

FLOW INFORMATION (continued) ESREERH
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) METHFMEECEENYHE
activities (continued) (%&)
Interest-
bearing
Bank loans borrowings Total
BITER FTEER @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT
Note (Note 22) (Note 23)

MisE (M3 22) (P 23)

At 1 January 2021 R-ZE_—%—-H—H 535,840 2,474817 3,010,657

Changes from financing cash flows: BEREFREED :

Proceeds from bank loans RITERFER 444,955 - 444,955
Repayment of bank loans BRETER (157,678) - (157,678)
Interest paid ERFIE (21,896) (77,902) (99,798)
Total changes from financing RERENEZDER

cash flows 265,381 (77,902) 187,479
Other changes: Hit 28
Interest on bank loans and BOEF R BEFAE

interesting bearing borrowings 5@) 21,895 243,352 265,247

Fair value change on derivative ~ HRARJERESNITESR
financial instruments embedded T EHA A BES

in convertible bonds 23(iv) - 14,161 14,161
Derecognition of bank loans IR IEFERBITER 0] (229,739) - (229,739)
Exchange adjustment B - (54,303) (54,303)
At 31 December 2021 S

+-A=+—-H 593,377 2,600,125 3,193,502

0) The amount represents the derecognition of bank loans of 0) ZeHFEREBRE_T -
discounted bills with recourse upon the maturity of respective +ZA=+-—BRZZ=_—F
bills receivable for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 31 TZA=+t—HILFEEHEK
December 2021. REFIHE - KIEEREAEN

BRERBZRITER
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RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

20 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 20 EHAE
Contract liabilities EHEE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARET T
Sales of goods HEER
— Billing in advance of performance — FAWARFK 75,386 74,903
Movements in contract liabilities BREENEE
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETIT
Balance at 1 January R—HA—B®&EH 74,903 56,152
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result E#ERF AU
of recognising revenue during the year  (GFAFHIELHEE)
that was included in the contract MEEXNEGHEERD
liahilities at the beginning of the year (63,804) (53,671)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result [ 78 Uk %€ 5018 M 2= A &Y
of billing in advance of sales EHaEE N 64,287 72,422
Balance at 31 December R+-—A=+—HBt&EH 75,386 74,903

The amount of contract liabilities expected to be recognised as
income after more than one year is RMB6,855,000 (2021:
RMB8,931,000). All of the other contract liabilities are

expected to be recognised as income within one year.
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B A5 RaR M A

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(=B - BUAAREIIR)

21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21 EZREMBENAREA
2022 2021
—E-= B —F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
P &E AR%TR ARETTT
Trade payable Z S RERHIA 70,765 76,908
Bills payable ZRENFIE 96,622 38,414
Amounts due to related parties FE A B R 5 5RIE 29(b)(ii) 13,409 83,816
VAT and other taxes payable FERTIEER R E TR 151,926 52,130
Accrued payroll and benefits JEET T EREH 185,638 88,216
Accrued expenses et & 740,417 233,664
Accrued royalty fee JERTRFRT G R E 261,585 100,916
Other payables for purchasing HiEEEE T EEKIE
fixed assets 172,111 198,936
Other payables HAbERTFRIE 25,749 38,680
Financial liabilities measured at ~ IRBE SR AT E 2 SR EE
amortised cost 1,718,222 911,680
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payable based on the NBHZAHARENE S KERERN
invoice date is as follows: RIBEREDITIAT -
2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETTT
Within 1 month 1EARA 72,397 19,264
Over 1 month but within 3 months BE1EAE3IEAR 54,071 28,910
Over 3 months but within 1 year HBiE3EAELIFA 39,179 52,270
Over 1 year HEiE1F 1,740 14,878
167,387 115,322
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B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

22 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS 22 RITERRHEMER
2022 2021
—E-—F —EF-—F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M5 AR¥TR AREETIT
Non-current JEENER
Bank loans |ITERK 22(a) 629,029 544,900
Obligations arising from sale and EREALNRFHEENER
leaseback transactions 22(b) 62,500 -
691,529 544,900
Current BR &R
Bank loans |ITERK 22(a) 147,901 48,477
Obligations arising from sale and EREALRFHEFENER
leaseback transactions 22(b) 75,442 -
223,343 48,477
914,872 593,377
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+ FYL
BRI 15 < N aE
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRBEEAIN - HUAAREDITR)
22 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 22 $RITE R HME R (2)

(a) Bank loans () MRITER
The analysis of the repayment schedule of bank loans is RITEFRNERERR ST
as follows: T:
2022 2021
—Eg-= T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBFT
Within 1 year or on demand 1FAFIEF K 147,901 48,477
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F&BE2FR 96,291 73,400
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FBESER 467,513 471,500
After 5 years 5% 65,225 -
629,029 544,900
Total st 776,930 593,377
At 31 December 2022, the bank loans were secured as RZE-_—_F+ A =+—
follows: B RITEFIERNT
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBFT
Unsecured it 40,055 -
Secured [ 736,875 593,377
Total Bt 776,930 593,377
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RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

22 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)
(a) Bank loans (continued)

(i)  The Group’s bank loans were secured as follows:

22 SRITERREMER®)

(@ WMITERE)

0)

REEMRITEFER L
T

2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 ARBT T AREFT

— Ownership interestsin =~ — ##{EE A2 HE L

leasehold land held Pt

for own use 10(iii) 159,322 83,828
— Construction in progress — fEZ T2 10(iii) 409,075 258,397
— Plant and buildings — BEREF 10(iii) 609,044 262,150
— Bills receivable (iv) — EWREE(v) 17(i) 10,667 6,460
1,188,108 610,835

Apart from the above secured assets, the bank
loans of RMB294,529,000 (2021: RMB87,875,000),
was additionally guaranteed by Shenzhen HEC
Industrial, a related party.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B HRR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

22 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

(a) Bank loans (continued)

(iD)

@iii)

As at 31 December 2022, the total banking
facilities amounted to RMB840,000,000 (2021:
RMB700,000,000). Such facilities were utilised to
the extent of RMB763,429,000 (2021:
RMB586,175,000). These facilities are subject to
the fulfilment of covenants relating to certain of
the Group’s balance sheet ratios and intended use
of the loans, as commaonly found in lending
arrangements with financial institutions. If the
Group were to breach the covenants the drawn
down facilities would become payable on demand.
The Group regularly monitors its compliance with
these covenants. Further details of the Group’s
management of liquidity risk are set out in Note
27(b). As at 31 December 2022, none of the
covenants relating to drawn down facilities had
been breached (2021: nil).

As at 31 December 2022, the bank loans of
RMB10,677,000 (2021: RMB6,460,000)
represented the bills discounted with recourse

which were repayable within one year.

(Br=BEHH -

BANRESIR)

22 BRITEFRREMER &)

(@ WMITERE)

(iv)

@iii)

RZEZZF+ = A
=+—H8 RITHERLE
& A R 840,000,000 7T
(ZZ2=Z—F: AR%
700,000,0007T) ° %5 &t
ERBANESEAARKE
763,429,000 L(ZF=—
#F: AR ¥586,175,000
To) o ZERMEBFEAR
SEETEEABRLEE
REFBREREERANE
RIEEK B AR - £
BB REL R
EEER - WAKEER
R BRIMEBER
BRI AEETHE
THEBFZEZHNIE
Mo AEERBE SR
BENE B EANW
F27(b) e RZ—ZT - =

+ZA=+—H" K217
WEEREDIRNEBES

MEZHE(ZE—F:
) o

RZZEBE-Z_F+ = A
=t - H AR®

10,677,000 7L KIERITE 5K
(ZT=—F: AR¥
6,460,000 7T.) 4§ B AL 3R B
BREREE HAR—F
WIEE o
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22 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

Obligations arising from sale and leaseback transactions

Obligations arising from sale and leaseback transactions
were repayable as below:

(b)

22 SRITERREMER®)

ERERRZEENRT

ERHOIRSEENEHAE
BT ¢

2022 2021

—Eg-= T —F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T R AREFT

Within 1 year 15R 81,042 -

After 1 year but within 2 years 1FRE2FRA 64,474 -
Total undiscounted obligations arising £ EIZ S EA K

from sale and leaseback RANRE BT

transactions 145,516 -

Less: total future interest expenses  J& : RZEF| S5 4858 (7,574) -

Total HREt 137,942 -

All obligations arising from sale and leaseback
transactions were secured by plant and buildings and
machinery as mentioned in Note 10(a)(iv), and were
guaranteed by Shenzhen HEC Industrial, Mr. Zhang
Yushuai and Mrs. Guo Meilan, the ultimate controlling
party of the Group as at 31 December 2022.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B HRR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

(Br=BEHH -

BANRESIR)

23 FTEMER

2022 2021
—E-= —EF-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREETIT
Convertible bonds ATEIRES
— Non-current — FERNER - 2,600,125
— Current — BHA 2,906,963 -
2,906,963 2,600,125
() On 20 February 2019, the Company issued a tranche of ) RZE-—NAFZA=Z+AH 'K

1,600 H share convertible bonds with an aggregate
principal amount of USD400,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB2,702,320,000 translated at the then
exchange rate). Each number of bond has a face value of
USD250,000 and a maturity date of 20 February 2026.
The bonds bear interest at 3.0% per annum payable
semi-annually in arrears on 30 June and 31 December of
each year. The bondholders have the right to convert the
bonds to the Company’s ordinary shares at a price of
HK$14 per conversion share, which subject to adjustment
in relation to the adjusted net profit for the year ended
31 December 2021. The bonds are unsecured.

As the convertible bonds do not contain an equity
component, the conversion option embedded in the
convertible bonds above is measured at fair value and
the liability component is carried at amortised cost. No
conversion of the convertible bonds has occurred up to
31 December 2022.

FERE 2022 / EE

N E1EE 1T 1HE 1,600 Y H A% AT
HnES AeesBEEHA
400,000,000 3= 7t (32 & By [ 5
BE HERHARE
2,702,320,0007T) - 1 &EH
) T 18 7 250,000 7T+ 2 58
ABE-_Z_<"F_A=-+H-
BEHFRFEMEIORTE » Wik
FFEHRARBFNAAA=TAHEK
T AZ+—BoHXft- &
FREABRIZEREBREKN
145%%5@F$ﬂﬂ%1$%;@%ﬁ2%$
MR RER BB E
:%:—¢+_ﬁ*+—5¢
FEMNSRALBMTETHE -
BH R EER o

/\—th

MRABRES T B #EE
7 BRA Lt AT R E 5
BERAREENAE MAR
O AEEERAGE - BE

mh

N

3 R T BT S -

REXRTEERNDERAF]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B -

23
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BIAANRESIR)

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued)

(ii)

(ii)

The bondholders have the right to redeem all or any
portion of the convertible bonds on or before the
maturity date upon occurrence of the breach of
covenants as agreed in the subscription agreement. In
2020, the bondholders informed the Group that the
aggregate capital expenditure incurred by the Group for
2020 exceeded RMB150,000,000 and such excess capital
expenditure was incurred without the consent of the
bondholders under the subscription agreement.
Accordingly, a covenant was breached with the effect
that the convertible bonds became repayable on
demand.

The Group had obtained 8 waiver letters from the
bondholders. The latest waiver letter dated on 30
September 2021 and pursuant to such letter, the
bondholders agreed to waive their right to issue an early
redemption on the convertible bonds until 1 January
2023.

On 26 September 2022, the Company repurchased
certain convertible bonds in the aggregate principal
amount of USD95,337,821 with total consideration of
USD127,317,844 (equivalent to RMB912,907,000).

23

STEER@E

(if)

(iii)

BEHFEABRERRERZB
ERRFBEERE LA
3,2 AT HE B 2 E ek E ] 2B 5 A
ERESF RZT_TF &
ERAEANGHNRER  A5H
RZE_EFEEMEATH
42 %8 8 ¥ A R ¥ 150,000,000
T BRRBBAEARTHTIRAK
REMZETESIFEAR
RIERTEES - Bt —18
Ao BEER  BUEAEIRE
HARBEREE -

P
I
=z
E

AEEEREGBSFFEANS
D PRE K o SRFTRODNER 1t
MR -_F-_—FNLA=1
B MREZEG BE5FHE
ARENEREERBELAER
BHEOEN  BEE-_T_=F
—H—Hlt-

R-_E-_—_FhAB_-+/,x8"
KRARBRARSRBRER
%3Wﬁﬂ%m%a$ﬂ%@
&% #BR(EAE127,317,844
Enx(MHEE N AR
912,907,000 7T) °



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

23 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued)

(iv)

v)

(Br=BEHH -

BANRESIR)

23 sTEERE)

The convertible bands recognised in the consolidated (iv) AEEGETBERIRERD
statement of financial position of the Group are analysed e EE ST
as follows:
Liability = Derivative
component component Total
TE
=L T A% st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETRT ARETT
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-_—F—HF—H 2,253,219 221,598 2,474,817
Change on derivative financial ~ #R A A EREHFMLTE
instruments embedded in SR T EMEH
convertible bonds - 14,161 14,161
Accrued interest (Note 5(a)) JEETF B (M 5E5@a)) 243,352 - 243,352
Interest paid BFE (77,902) - (77,902)
Exchange gain PE 5 2= (54,303) - (54,303)
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE-—F+_F4
=+—H 2,364,366 235,759 2,600,125
Change on derivative financial — #i AR B {E 5
instruments embedded in FTE SR T BMEE)
convertible bonds - 859,569 859,569
Accrued interest (Note 5(a)) FEETHB (MI5E5(a)) 257,329 - 257,329
Interest paid ERFLE (78,485) - (78,485)
Exchange loss P& 5 B8 239,811 - 239,811
Repurchase of convertible BBl A RES
bonds (Note 23(iii)) (M 5E 23(ii)) (658,709)  (312,677)  (971,386)
At 31 December 2022 A —
+=-A=+—H 2,124,312 782,651 2,906,963
Subsequent to the year end date, the Company entered (v) FHEB%E ARARHEEHREE

certain agreements with the bondholder to repurchase

all remaining portion of the convertible bonds on or
before 30 June 2023 (see note 31).

ATTETFHE R=F
T=FARA=tTH%ZAEL
ATEMESHME RIS (R
BizE31) »
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

24 DEFERRED INCOME 24 RIEIA

2022 2021

—E-= —EF-—F

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

P &E AR¥T T ARKET T

At 1 January w—A—A8 142,109 110,921

Additions NE 61,770 40,053

Credited to profit or loss FFAER 4 (8,195) (8,865)

At 31 December Rt+-—A=+—H 195,684 142,109
Net carrying amounts representing: BREFELS :

Current portion BNHEAER 2 8,195 4,379

Non-current portion FERNHEAEL 7 187,489 137,730

195,684 142,109

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, deferred income of the
Group mainly included various conditional government grants
for R&D projects of new or existing pharmaceutical products
and subsidies relating to purchase of fixed assets.

Deferred income relating to purchase of fixed assets are
recognised as income on a straight-line basis over the expected
useful life of the relevant assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R B o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBHEEAIN - FUARES|R)
25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 25 %A BBEMRRRANAES
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(@) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) HZEFBEMRARANEIFHIE
financial position represents: g
2022 2021
—E-C—F —EF-—F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥TR AREETIT
Provision of PRC CIT for the year SRR EDEFTEH
B 6(a) 59,351 (66,776)
Taxation for shares obtained B R I SR E SR Y
from controlling shareholder 1A 14 - 265,558
Under-provision for PRCCITin  BEFEFRHTE
respect of prior years FriSHiEE T2 6(a) 6,123 11,989
PRC CIT (paid)/refunded KEERN(ERM),BE
for the current year R B ERER (255,427) 18,618
(189,953) 229,389
Balance of PRC CIT at 1 January W —A—BHTE M
FriSiisser 198,625 (30,764)
Balance of PRC CIT at R+-—A=+—HBH
31 December Rl ZEPTIS B A B 8,672 198,625
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et
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(B BA1EBASN + AN RETIR)
25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 25 #Z4 B RETAMIFIER

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued) (#)
(b) Deferred tax assets recognised (b) CEIELEHREEE
The components of deferred tax assets recognised in the RERE B AR AT N ERNIE
consolidated statements of financial position and the MR TR E B WA K Sl D R A
maovements during the year are as follows: EREHMT :
Fair value
changein
connection
with
derivative
financial
instruments
embedded in
Provisions for convertible Excessed Provisions  Depreciation
Deferred  inventory and Accrued bondsand  advertisement forintangible for fixed
revenue  receivables expenses others expenses assets assets Total
AEHA
TEARER
EftzfrE
FEREYR $HIEY
Deferred tax arising from: RETHIRERELHE it ok EfER  QAEESD RERENX EVEERE EEEERE Eh

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETL  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  AR¥TR

At 1 January 2021 R-%--%-5-H VK] 3,481 61,384 (24,393) - - - 40,645
(Charged)/credited to () /4t AR
profit or loss (50) 13531 (52,483) 23844 33335 6,496 - 24,673
At 31 December 2021 and RZF=-F
1 January 2022 T-A=+-8k
“Z--5-f-H 13 17,012 8,901 (549) 33335 6,496 - 65,318
Credited)/(charged) to HA/ (1) B
profit or loss 384 (5019) 30,337 19,075 (8,722) 53,015 (13,779) 75,291
At 31 December 2022 W-%--%
T-A=+-H 507 11,993 39,238 18,526 24613 59,511 (13,779) 140,609
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Y PE Ead s
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(% BAEB - AN REEFIR)
25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 25 #Z4 B RETAMIFIER

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continueq) (#)

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised (c) FTFHRANELEHIBEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note BRI 1) PTE = FHEUR
1(t), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in HREEBBZIFHERERER &
respect of cumulative tax losses of RMB321,129,000 MBBATIME » T KAEE
(2021: RMB451,913,000) as it is not probable that future SR P e ER T ks B LA S 5 AT £ B
taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised RBzMIEEE  WAEELE
will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and MEBEFFHBEBEBEBARKE
entity. 321,129,000 L( = F = — % :

AR # 451,913,000 7T ) FERIE
EFRTEEE -

The unrecognised tax losses will expire in the following 1SR R A F I H 2 RIER T
years: TH 1A

2022 2021
—E-—F —EF-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFT
2023 —ZF-= 70,194 71,654
2024 —ZEpNEFE 41,145 63,212
2025 —E-RF 33,740 135,767
2026 TECRF 97,275 129,421
2027 —TtF 76,161 -
318,515 400,054
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B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a)

Movements in components of equity of the Company

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each compaonent of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. Details of the changes in the
Company’s individual components of equity between the
beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

26 EXR - ERKRE

(a)

RARZERFDED

A B A M2 1 2 )
R 4R 4K 7 B R AL
ARAEBEN - BHFENE
4R R AR 2 B B 3 249
ZBBRERTIWT -

Share Capital Statutory Retained Total
capital reserve reserve earnings equity
B ERGE EERE REEF ECY B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARBTT ARETT ARETR  ARET:x
Note 26(c)  Note 26(e)())  Note 26(e)(ii)
MizE26c)  FEE26(e)()  FiRE26(e)i)
Balance at 1 January 2021 RZE-—5—F—H&H 879,968 1,142,348 328,692 2,831,743 5,182,751
Total comprehensive income FRZENGLE
for the year - - - (432,351) (432,351)
Assets obtained from controlling ~ BERBEEEHEE
shareholder - 1,504,827 - - 1,504,827
Balance at 31 December 2021and R=E=—F+=-fA=1—H
1 January 2022 Sy e =
& 879,968 2,647,175 328,692 2,399,392 6,255,227
Total comprehensive income ERZENHEE
for the year - - - 241,960 241,960
Balance at 31 December 2022 W-E-—%+-F=1—H
b oS 879,968 2,647,175 328,692 2,641,352 6,497,187
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B %5 R B o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(=B - BUAAREIIR)

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued) 26 BEX  #EERKRE @

(b) Dividends by KE

No dividends have been declared by the Company during
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022.

=

BE—_T-——GER-—T——
+-—A=+—HILEE AN

AT RS IRAR S ©
(c) Share capital (&N
2022 2021
—EC-CE T
Number of Number of
shares RMB’000 shares RMB’000

BH#E AR®TR Bh#BRE AR®TT

Ordinary shares, issued BT REEH

and fully paid: L
As at 1 January and R—A—BRk
31 December +-A=+—8H

879,967,700 879,968 | 879,967,700 879,968

(d) Equity settled share-based transactions (d) HUESZEENROIGTRS

No share options were granted nor exercised during 2022

KRB _FR-_FT-—%F
and 2021.

BB RITE TR -
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BT 15 R M 5T
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETIR)

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued) 26 EX - HERKRE &)

C 1]

(e) Reserves (e)

0]

Capital reserve

The Company’s capital reserve mainly represented
premium arising from capital injection from equity
owners after the deduction of treasury shares
cancellation, assets obtained from the controlling
shareholder (see note 14) and the grant date fair
value of unexercised share options granted to NCI
of a subsidiary of the Group that has been
recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for share-based payments.

0]

ARt

RRABERFEEEERIE
HREFR D EHEERESE
BREZERATENR
B AIERBEREIENE
E(RHF14) REF R
BB A R IR AERS
MARITEREREREE A
HH AR EBE(BRERR
B tn A TR B & 5T IR
KT UARER) ©

(i) Statutory reserve (i) SEERFE
According to the Company’s Articles of Association, BEBEARRNAAIER -
the Company is required to appropriate at least AR ARB(FE QA
10% of its net profit as determined in accordance EVIEE A 10% H9F F)
with the Company Law of the PRC to its statutory EACAERBEE B2
surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches B E R AR A
50% of the registered capital. The appropriation to 50% ° BAZFEEML AR
this reserve must be made before distribution of a LERFEEASREREZ
dividend to equity owners. The statutory reserve RT#ETT o IKHERE Bt E
can be utilised, upon approval by the relevant 1% WEBEITRASRK
authorities, to offset accumulated losses or to REFZEMIRAE 2 25% 3%
increase capital of the subsidiaries, provided that FEHEETRRIEE R
the balance after such issue is not less than 25% of BN B AR ZE
its registered capital. AN
(f)  Distributability of reserves ) TDIREFEE

At 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount of reserves

available for distribution to equity shareholders of the

Company, as calculated under the provisions of Company
Law of the PRC, was RMB2,641,352,000 (2021:
RMB2,399,392,000).
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BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(8)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for its
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by
pricing products commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders returns that might be possible with
higher levels of bank loans and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes
in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose,
adjusted net debt is defined as total debt (which includes
interest-bearing borrowings and bank loans) plus
unaccrued proposed dividends, less cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash. Adjusted capital
comprises all components of equity, less unaccrued
proposed dividends.

During 2022, the Group’s strategy was to maintain the
capital in order to continue its operations, cover its
planned and/or committed capital expenditure and cover
its debt position.

(Br=BEHH -

BANRESIR)

26 EXR - #HERRE @)

(g)

aErEE

AEEEREANTEZEAE
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RGRE BESKREMHRE
HUREMMEEREERH
Mg o

AEEBERLERFERER
HERGEE NEZSRSRK
REFREEKFLEFZE
AR EREHNERNRANES
B2 7 R s
Me@BEBRAEmAER
B -

AEENRHBRFEHERERN
be R BB H BRI o BLUtm
FORARFEBIIRERR
BB (BERARBERRRITE
F) AMAREZZBRERRE
EEeFEBEBARZRSGIH
T KABRERNBEERNN
BHEBERDIBAR REEHZE, o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 At
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REEERIN  HAAREIIR)
26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued) 26 EX - FERKRE @)

(g) Capital management (continued) (g) BAXRE®E(E)
The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-equity ratios at 31 REBR_ZE__FR_Z

December 2022 and 2021 are as follows: T+ -A=+—B2&H
BRERE R EROT ¢

2022 2021
—E-= —EF-—F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
P &E AR%T R ARETT
Bank loans and other RITER R EAER —
borrowings — current BN EA 22 223,343 48,477
Bank loans and other RITER M EMER —
borrowings — non-current JERNEA 22 691,529 544,300
Interesting-bearing borrowings &8 &% 23 2,906,963 2,600,125
Total debt RIET 3,821,835 3,193,502
Less: Restricted cash A ZBRFIR e 18 (76,781) (91,992)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents Ji : 284 RIS HEER 19 (923,543) (1,131,121)
Adjusted net debt KRARGEKFE 2,821,511 1,970,389
Total equity s 6,070,001 6,020,762
Adjusted Capital REABER 6,070,001 6,020,762
Adjusted net debt-to-equity KRB FEXHERLE
ratio 46% 33%
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27

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B HRR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

Beside the covenants of bank loan disclosed in Note 22 (a)(iii)
and the annual capital expenditure agreed with convertible
bondholders mentioned in Note 23(ii), neither the Company
nor its subsidiary are subject to externally imposed capital

requirements.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(@) Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables. The
Group maintains a defined credit policy and the
expasures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis. The Group’s expaosure to credit risk arising
from cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions, for
which the Group considers to have low credit risk.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an

ongoing basis.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which the customers
operate and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant

exposure to individual customers.

26

27

(% B 5N -
EX - mERRE &)

BANRESIR)

B P R 22(a)(iii) P R BV IRTT B
1 B M 5 23(ii) A it 62 A BB AR (A 25 4
BAMERNFREEARZHIN - ARAF
R ELAL (R B BB S BRI SM BB e
M EARESR -

MBREBEERAAEE

AEERBREBBETEEERE
B -R#$EL - MEREBEAR - K
% 18 P TED S B0 % S T B B AR SR T A A
EEZERROT SRR EIEBER &
ERFRIT -

(@ fFERRE

EERBREEHF I TETE
KBTS MG A KB EEM
BAORAR AERENEER
RETEXRANE S REMER
HIE - AEBREARNEE
BE URHEERZEEER
e REFHAAKERSBE
ERBRBRENRT RS RE
B #AKRERERREEHE
MELANEERRBRAER - 18
EEREEERER LEFHE

ERREEERR -

AEEEENEERRIZS
NeREPMERFIEmTE
EREFEEMAEITRLE
X AREREEETRRET
ERAKEEBRENEFEKR
RS EAE o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B -

BIAANRESIR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has a concentration of credit risk of the total
trade receivables due from the Group’s largest debtor
and the five largest debtors as follows:

27

BBERERERAAEE

(%)

(a)

FERRE(E)

AEEMEERRED  BYK
AEEERKEBARAKRER
ARE 5 RWSIREEELIT -

2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—F

Due from FEU
— largest trade debtor — &EKREBA 22% 8%
— five largest trade debtors — AREBA 73% 40%

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Credit limit is established for each
distributor which represents the maximum open amount
or credit term without requiring approval from the Board
of Directors. The Group chases the customers to settle
the due balances and manitors the settlement progress
on an ongoing basis. The Group usually granted credit
term to distributors which was generally due within 30—
90 days from the date of billing. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade debtors
and bills receivable and other debtors at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the loss
allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases.

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade

(Br=BEHH -

BANRESIR)

27 HHEREERAAEBE

(%)

(a)

FERRE(E)

AEEZEFNEBEE WA
BHEEERNSRAEES
B U BR TR N PR M R 9B % EL At R
WM EIREE  BRESRE
TERBBEEGTESH - /A
RASEEBENEEBELR
TARRARELDRHEHEXN
TEEEEN  EXBEEH
MENEBEERETSE TN
AEETRZPER 2R —

WEnD e

AEEEZREFTENEER
0 & IEHEE R R

receivables: BRI TINERR :
2022
—E2-C—
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHEsEE REAE EERE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR%®TR
Within 6 months 6 & A A 0.5% 885,753 4,429
More than 6 months but within HE6EAELIFA
1 year 11% 72 8
More than 1 year but within 2 years @ 1FEH2FRN 45% 95 43
More than 2 years but within 3 years #BiB2 F{834F R 100% 500 500
More than 3 years Hid3F 100% 6,191 6,191
892,611 11,171
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 27 BREREERAAEE
VALUES (continued) (%)
(@) Credit risk (continued) (a) FERRE)
2021
—E-—F
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

EHIE R R FRmAaE EEREE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT ARBTET

Within 6 months 618 A A 0.5% 411,020 2,055

More than 6 months but within A6 EAELFR
1 year 11% 17,590 1,935
More than 1 year but within 2 years @ 1FEH2FRN 45% 10,758 4,841
More than 2 years but within 3 years #BiB2 {8 34F R 100% 1,515 1,515
More than 3 years il 3F 100% 4,751 4,751
445,634 15,097
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BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of
trade receivables during the year is as follows:

27

(B BA RPN  IUAARESIIR)
BHEBEERDAEBE

(%)
(@) FERRE)

FNE SRR KRR B RER
HIEBIIAT -

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARBTT

Balance at 1 January R—HA—BN&e 15,097 12,565
Impairment loss recognised FAERREFSE

during the year 896 3,059
Impairment loss reversed FRRLERERE

during the year (4,822) -

Amount written off during the year ~ F RS S5 - (527)

Balance at 31 December RT+=ZB=+—BH&e 11,171 15,097

Liquidity risk

The Company and its individual subsidiaries are
responsible for their own cash management, including
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising
of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to
approval by the Company’s board when the bank loans
exceed certain predetermined levels of authority. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash,
readily realisable marketable securities and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the

short and longer term.

b) HBELER

ARAEIREHBARAES S
MREEETIE BRREA
HIEHRIREMERBERAR
MIEFT R EFER(MRRITER
HHEBXLEREELR &
FEBARREZSNHAE)
AEBENBRZTEMEER

B2BR UREEFAER
RAMBRTE - NERETF TR
HY IR < {5 18 AN AT BB B 3R Y
FERES RARESIEZESH
KEAEREEZANERE
E - Uime R BMREHER
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RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of each report periods of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on

contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest

27 HHEREERAAEBE

(%)
(b) REBEEEE(E)

TEREVIAEE zEBMEAER
RHEMRBRT 2B
B DERBHARFREAESR
(BREBAQNEFAE ZH S

payments computed at contracted rates, if floating, oM AEEI R R BN

based on rates current at the end of the reporting

period) and the earliest date the Group can be required

BEMREFONRE) AR
AEERERZZFFAH

to:
2022
—E-CE
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHRTRRL R
Morethan  More than
Withinl  1yearbut 2yearsbut
yearoron  lessthan  lessthan  More than Carrying
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
1§ #B1F  #8F
RER B2 B5FR  BBESF wct BREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR ARWMTRT ARETR ARETR
Bank loans BITER 193,343 125,451 511,790 74,952 905,536 776,930
Trade and other payables B S REMEMZEA 1,718,222 - - - 1,718,222 1,718,222
Interest-bearing borrowings ~ if BfER 3,107,587 - - - 3,107,587 2,906,963
Obligations arising fromsale &R MBERIRFELHNEH
and leaseback transactions 81,042 64,474 - - 145,516 137,942
Total e 5,100,194 189,925 511,790 74,952 5,876,861 5,540,057
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B FS R It

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEBIN  AUARBIIR)
27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 27 MBEBEERAAREE
VALUES (continued) (%)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REBELE(E)
2021
—T-—F
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ENRFTRBR SR

More than ~ More than

Within1 ~ 1yearbut 2 yearsbut
yearoron  lessthan  lessthan  More than Carrying
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount

1FRg,  BBIF  BB2F
REK B2ER B5ER BiB5E st REE
RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETR
Bank loans BITER 78,317 100,157 526,663 - 705,137 593,377
Trade and other payables B5 REMEMNFTE 911,680 - - - 911,680 911,680
Interest-bearing borrowings &t EEH - 3,371,142 - - 3,371,142 2,600,125
Total o 989,997 3,471,299 526,663 - 4,987,959 4,105,182

()

The Group intended to repay the above outstanding
debts by using the proceeds from the disposal of the
Target Equity (see Note 14).

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s
interest rate risk arises primarily from bank loans. Bank
loans that are at variable rates and at fixed rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value
interest rate risk respectively. The Group’s interest rate
profiles as monitored by management is set out in (i)
below.

()

REBEHF T E BIZRENEAT
BREEE FMAEEES (R
MisE14) o

FRERE

MEEBRAS-HEERTANAD
REEHIAKXRSREHAD
35 ) 3 DA 7 OB B P 7 SR O
o NEEZ M EERERR
BIRTTER © 078 K EE M =X
RITEREARE D RIE R
ERENKERNATEEN
KRR TXOFHINERE
BEEERZASENEMRR -
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B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 27 BiEREERAAEBE
VALUES (continued) (%)
() Interest rate risk (continued) () AN=Ek(E)
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FIFAR

TRAMNHFERRAE
BERITE R Z FIFARDR -

The following table details the interest rate profile
of the Group’s bank loans at the end of the

reporting period:

282

2022 2021
—EB-CE —E-—F
Effective Effective
interest rate Amount  interest rate Amount
L ilR Ex:0] BRA= 28
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Fixed rate instruments: EEFEIL:
Convertible bonds AEAES 3.00% 2,906,963 3.00% 2,600,125
Obligations arising fromsale &% AL HEE
and leaseback transactions  HVE 4,95% 87,933 -
Floating rate instrument: BEIAR:
Bank loans BITER LPR+ LPR+
Obp ~ 85bp 10bp - 74bp
ENERAR ERERF %
MmoEER IN10fEES,
ESEEY 766,263 | Z74{HEZ 586,918
Obligations arising fromsale  E#RARR FELE LPR+220bp
and leaseback transactions ~ HIEH ERERRE
m220EEY 50,009 -
Total interest-bearing FEERREERSE
loans and borrowings 3,811,168 3,187,043
Net fixed rate instruments EEMETATSR
as a percentage of EIEEENEDL
total instruments 78.58% 81.58%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2022, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 25 basis points in
bank loans interest rates, with all other variables
held constant, would have increase/decrease the
Group’s loss after tax and retained profits by
approximately RMB1,594,000 (2021: increase/
decrease the profit of RMB1,122,000). Other
components of equity would not be affected by the
changes in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the impact
on the Group’s profit for the year and retained
profits that would arise assuming that there is an
annualised impact on interest expense by a change
in interest rates. The analysis has been performed
on the same basis as 2021.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through

shares issued upan initial public offering which give rise

to cash balances and time deposits, and sales and

purchase which give rise to receivables and payables

that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a

currency other than the functional currency of the

operations to which the transactions relate. The

currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Hong Kong

dollars, Euros and United States dollars.

(Br=BEHH -

BANRESIR)

27 HHEREERAAEBE

(%)

()

(d)

=@ (&)

(i) BBREDH

RZEZZF+= A
=+—R EmEEME
ERETENBERT &
ETIRITERF R

Ft/ NBE25EE R
B AREERRTEEE
RARB & F 5 B,
L&) A R #1,594,000 7T
(ZZEZ—F: 578
m/ wm L AR
1,122,0007T) © HAthhE s
BT e XF RS G

2.4
-

LS RE DA AR E
FR M LR BRI E
ERBERNEZFHS LN
ERXBRFEELLTE
EE - AEDHEBE-F
—FRREEET

BEHERE

AEETZRERAMEER
BT ELNR S EH NI
SN (BNER R 58 B XTS5 P8
KHIFEDIREE ) SHER E BT
R BB E A U N B R
AimASEERE - 5| B0t 1A
RENEETERET BT
SEIVE
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RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES (continued)
(d) Currency risk (continued)

(i) Exposure to currency risk

27 HHEREERAAEBE

(%)

(d)

The following table details the Group’s exposure at

the end of the reporting period to currency risk

arising from recognised assets or liabilities

denominated in a currency other than the

functional currency of the entity to which they

relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of

the exposure are shown in RMB, translated using

the spot rate at the year end date.

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in RMB)

BEm(E)

() EERE¥ER

TRAMAEENHE B
RETHRES BERBIAE

FERY

PN

Be &

BLASNE

BAHENEERRENE
MRk REIWME - A
BREBEUAAREIR - 12
FHRARGERRE -

ERSMERR AARSSIR)

2022 2021
—E-CEF —E-—F
United United
States Hong Kong States Hong Kong
Dollars Dollars Dollars Euros Dollars
ES BT e Bt BT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETRT AR®Tr ARETT ARETT ARETR
Trade and other receivables &5 & E eI FE - - 761 - -
Cashand cash equivalents R4 MBELZEER 16 1,398 445 1,119 4,389
Trade and other payables B SR E MR (104,469) - - - -
Interest-bearing borrowings  FEEH (2,906,963) - | (2,600,125) - -
Net exposure arising HAEERARER
from recognised assets N
and liabilities (3,011,416) 1,398 (2,598,919) 1,119 4,389
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B FS R It

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued)

(i)

(Br=BEHH -

BANRESIR)

27 HHEREERAAEBE

(%)

(d) E¥mkg(E)

Sensitivity analysis (i) HBRESN
At 31 December 2022, it is estimated that a N—_E-__—_F+ =8
general appreciation/depreciation of 5% in RMB, =+—R EmEEME
with all other variables held constant, would have ERFIAEMBERT - 1F
increased/decreased the Group’s net profit for the STARMEEAETE
year and retained profits as below. 5% BERAEERNF
ROFFE RAR B & 9 Rl
BB e

2022 2021

—E-= T —F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R AREFT

United States Dollars E 127,985 110,454
Euros BT - (48)
Hong Kong Dollars BT (59) (187)
The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in bl R D AT R E X
foreign exchange rate had been applied to re- BHEAREHNGTENR
measure the financial instruments held by the HHIR S AL BMERINE
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency BEBAOAEBZEENSR

risk at the end of the reporting period. The analysis
excludes differences that would result from the
translation of the financial statement of foreign
operations into the Group’s presentation currency.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2021.

TR - ZOoMTEE#E
SNEBMBREBE /AR
SERIEBELENE
e ALbofrig@a—=F
—FRGEERETT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 27 BHEREERAREE
VALUES (continued) (&)
(e) Fair value measurement (e) AREEFE
(i) Financial instruments and liabilities measured at (i) BAAEBESENSERT
fair value ARAE
Fair value hierarchy AAEBEER
The following table presents the fair value of the TRINTRIRE B RIZLE
Group’s financial instruments measured at the end BHEEEGENAEES
of the reporting period on a recurring basis, MIANAARE 58
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy BER I EHREENS
as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The 13 AL EEER
level into which a fair value measurement is EN=BARBEER -
classified is determined with reference to the NABETEN S HKF
observability and significance of the inputs used in T2EMERMTAREA
the valuation technigue as follows: HENABEEREE S
BEEWNT :
. Level 1 Fair value measured using o B1h EFRE1HBA
valuations: only Level 1 inputs i.e. fE: BBEAENAR
unadjusted quoted prices EBE HEHE
in active markets for AEMEREEN
identical assets or liabilities BEMEETS
at the measurement date. RARERAENR
. Level 2 Fair value measured using o B2 FERE2REAH
valuations: Level 2 inputs i.e. HE: BiE0L2AE
observable inputs which & Bk eeES
fail to meet Level 1, and EIRNIERS
not using significant AgE BXRE
unobservable inputs. AERTHBER
Unobservable inputs are AR A
inputs for which market BREE ANEE
data are not available. TEZESTS
IERE AR o
. Level 3 Fair value measured using o B3 FRERSTH
valuations:  significant unobservable fh1E: EHAHETE
inputs. HAREE.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 RaR M A

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(=B - BUAAREIIR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 27 BREREERAAEE
VALUES (continued) (%)
(e) Fair value measurement (continued) (e) DAREBEEEE)
(i) Financial instruments and liabilities measured at (i) BRAREESENESEI
fair value (continued) EREE(E)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) DAEBEER(E)

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2022 categorised into

RIBZZE+ZA=+—-HM

AEEHESES
Fair value at
31 December
2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RZB-ZF
+=B=t-8
ZANERE F1R VR $3IR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®T R AR®T T ARET
Recurring fair value BEMNAEENE
measurements
Financial assets measured BAREEEAEEY
at fair value through FABRNEREE
profit or loss (FVPL) 290,000 - 290,000 -
Non-current assets BELEMERSEE
held for sale 2,312,320 - - 2,312,320
Convertible bonds AERES
— Derivative component —TETAESS
(Note 23(ii)) (Bt 23(ii))
Unlisted equity securities I EMRAES 782,651 - 782,651 -
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RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES (continued)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial instruments and liabilities measured at

fair value (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Fair value at
31 December

27

BRRABEERQIAEE

(%)

REEFE(E)

>

(e)

() BRAREBESENEHSHT
ARGE(E)

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2021 categorised into
RIZZ—E+ZA=+—01

DRBEFENER

2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RZZ_—F
+-A=1+-H
ZRR(EE F14 F24 34
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Recurring fair value BEMNAEENE
measurements
Financial assets measured BAREEEAEEY
at fair value through FABENSRAE
profit or loss (FVPL) 1,789,621 - - 1,789,621
Convertible bonds ERES
— Derivative component —TETAESS
(Note 23(ii) (Bt 23(ii))
Unlisted equity securities FE LT ARES 235,759 - 235,759 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R It

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

0]

Financial instruments and liabilities measured at

fair value (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2022, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair

value measurements

Financial assets measured at FVPL in level 2 as at
31 December 2022 represented investments in
trust investment schemes. The fair value of these
investments was determined by the Group with
reference to the fair value quoted by the trust
company, that established and managed the
investments (see Note 14), using expected return
rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk, remaining terms and

other market data.

The fair value of derivative component embedded
in convertible bonds in Level 2 is the estimated
amount that the Group would pay to terminate the
option at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the underlying share price and the

potential shares outstanding to be converted.

(Br=BEHH -

BANRESIR)

27 HHEREERAAEBE

(%)
e) =
0]

BEFE(E)

BEAOREESAENERT
ARGE(E)

RABEEBR(E)

HEZZ-_—_F+=A
=+—HLEFE F14
M2 MBI EEE
AR HEIR -

FE2RANEEAEFE
A E M A B

RZEZZF+ = A
—t+—BEAREBEHNE
BHEHAEBZNE?
TeMEEERETLRE
FTEIMRE - ZFIRER
NREBEERASEZER
U REBRENETEAR
(RWE14) AR
BE FREFHEUK
FoEERR - FIRER
REMTISEENTAE
A P] FATEHAE R T LA
fgo

IEET R AR RARR B R BT &
RERBRMDE - B24A
EMESATIRAZITET
BEHSM AR BEANE
B EREART ALK
IEEARER AT &R -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISk I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

27 BBEBREERQAAEE

VALUES (continued) ()
(e) Fair value measurement (continued) (e) DAREBEEEE)

(i) Financial instruments and liabilities measured at (i) BAAEESENSERT
fair value (continued) EREE(E)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements BEEEIFANEETSE

Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs Range
BEAFAEHE
fhE R LN ¢ gE
Unlisted equity Asset-based approach, Probability of 6.89%—-95%
instruments Discounted cash flows was success of
adopted for the valuation of IPR&D
major assets IPR&D
JEETIRAT R BEEWE TB2EEETH  ETPHEER
THEE1E B W ERATER BRI &
REmeE
Discounted rate 11.13%-18.42%
The movements during the year in the balance of E EEIMANEBETE
these Level 3 fair value measurements are as ERHERESEFHT -
follows:
2022 2021
—g=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETT
Unlisted equity securities: FEETRARTEZ
At 1 January n—HA—H 1,789,621 -
Obtained from the controlling BRI R ETS
shareholder - 1,770,384
Changes in fair value recognised in HIRRIBZ5HER
profit or loss during the period 27 (& TE“EJJ 522,699 19,237
At 31 December R+—A=+—8H 2,312,320 1,789,621
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R It

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

0]

(i)

Financial instruments and liabilities measured at
fair value (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

(continued)

The gains arising from the remeasurement of the
conversion option embedded in the convertible
bonds and unlisted equity securities are presented
in the “Other income/(losses)” line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Fair value of other financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost were
not materially different from their fair values as at
31 December 2022 except for the following
financial instruments, for which their carrying
amounts and fair value are disclosed below:

(Br=BEHH -

BANRESIR)

27 BBEBREERQAAEE

(%)

(e) 2R

0]

)

At 31 December 2022
R=F==F+=A=+-AH

BEFE(E)

BAREEFENESHMT
ARBE(E)

BREEIRAAEETE
HER ()

BEXtERARNERES
GOEEEAY: IS i N
FRIEERNWENERA R
m& [EmlA (B8]
HEFEY -

BLA e EESN G K5I RR
MHEtTHEERAED
REE

N BRI AN S B SR AR
HIBEM S R T A REE R
ERZT_ZF+=H
=+ —HOAABETE
BERAEE HUTEHT

BN ZETRITAN
REERAABERKRED
T

At 31 December 2021
RZEZ—5+ZA=1+—H

Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
RHE DAEE FREE RAEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARETR
Convertible bonds AERES
— Liability component —8ESD 2,124,312 2,182,634 2,364,366 1,965,898
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

28 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 28 EREE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2022 not RZEBE-_—F+-A=+—H &4
provided for in the consolidated financial statements were as B HmERP R BENREITE AN
follows: BT
2022 2021
—E-= —EF-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFTT
Contracted for =EIES)
Acquisition of fixed assets BEETEE 254,472 405,686
Acquisition of intangible assets BEEFEE 1,621,727 1,715,378
1,876,199 2,121,064
29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 EAEBARS
During 2022 and 2021, the directors are of the view that RIBE-—FR_F-—F EFFR
related parties of the Group include the following: AAREEMBEETBEUNTESN
Name of related parties Relationship with the Group
B &R BEASEHER
HEC Pharm Co., Ltd. effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
(EERBGHEZERMHBBRAR]) (“HEC Pharm”) shareholder
HERGHEEROHBERAR ([REAEE]) HERERBRRERHES
Sunshine Lake Pharma the immediate parent of the Group
ERRGEE AEENBEEE QA
Shaoguan HEC Packaging and Printing Co., Ltd. effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
(ARG XBEROBIERAR) shareholder
(“Shaoguan HEC Printing”)
HBEARGHBEERARAR ([ BEARS R ) HRAERRRERER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Name of related parties

B B

B HRR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B RAER - UARETR)
29 ERBEEAIRS &)

Relationship with the Group
HEASEER

Yichang HEC Power Plant Co., Ltd.
(EERGH NN EBBERAR])
(“HEC Power Plant”)
HERGAXNEETERAR([REHXANNEE])

Yidu Shanchengshuidu Project Construction Co., Ltd.
(E#ILBKERETRBRAF)

(“Yidu Construction”)

HEILHKERETIZER AR ([HEZE))

Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(URRBAEXARAR)

(“Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical”)

RS EXRR AR (TFRRG 8]

Yidu Changjiang Machinery Equipment Co., Ltd.
(EBRIIEMRBERLIA)
(“Yidu Machinery”)

BRI IEWMREER AR ([EERIHMESE]D

Shenzhen HEC Industrial

RYIRFZ B R

Guangdong HEC Health Sales Co., Ltd.
(BRFEEHXRNERHEEERAT)
(“Guangdong HEC Health Sales”)

BRRGHREEHEERA A
(TERRGHAEEREE])

Yichang HEC Biochemical Manufacturing Co., Ltd.*
(EERGHEMREFRAA)
(“HEC Biochemistry Manufacturing”)
HERGHAEMREFR AR ([RE A E(CRE])

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

RERIERERESER

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

MRRIERRREEES

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

REREERERESHES

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

RREERERESES

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

S AE R R

)UHT}

o A

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

HREERBRRESESR

FERE 2022 /| EERG AR TIEERMNER AR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e =3
B 5 At
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REEERIN  HAAREIIR)

29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Name of related parties

BB B

29 EXBEBAIRS (#)

Relationship with the Group
HEASEER

Dongguan HEC Drug Development Co., Ltd.
(RERGABEYNEARAF)
(“Dongguan HEC Drug Development”)

RERBEIEMHEER QR ([RERBE I EDHE])

Yichang HEC Drug Development Co., Ltd.
(EERBRERBARIA)
(“Yichang HEC Drug Development”)
HERGAXERBER AR ([EERG R EEHE])

Yichang Shancheng Shuidu Restaurant Co.,Ltd.
(EEIBKEREEBRAF])
(“Yichang Shancheng Shuidu Restaurant”)
BEIWLHKERREGR AR ([EE ILBKEARE])

Shenzhen HEC Formed foil Co., Ltd.
CRINTRESG AL SER D BR AR
(“Shenzhen HEC Formed foil”)

FINT RS KA ERDERA A
(MR RS ARAEKTE D)

Dongguan HEC Biopharmaceutical R&D
(REMRENEDEREARAF)
(“Dongguan HEC Biopharmaceutical”)

REmRGHEMEREFRAF
(IREMREHEWE])

* The English translation of the above companies’ names is for reference * FRAREBOEEEFERSE - Z

only. The official names of these companies are in Chinese.

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

MRRIERRRESESR

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

MERIERERESER

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

RERIERERESER

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

RERIERERESER

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

ERBNE N DA EH -
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29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(a)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Transactions with related parties

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
entered into the following material related party

B FS R It

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B RAER - UARETR)
29 EXBEBAERS &)

(@) EBEETZXZ

BE_S-_—_F+-_A=+—
AIEFE AREBEFTYUTE

transactions: ANEEFRZS
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETIT
(i)  Purchase of goods from: () BUTEHBEER:
— HEC Biochemistry — R A R
Manufacturing 33,377 27,761
— HEC Power Plant — RBHANNEE 33,933 30,055
— Shaoguan HEC Printing — BRI KN 24,628 6,734
— Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical — FRERRG e Ba 20,109 4,830
— Others — EAf 739 456
112,786 69,836
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BREERAEIN  HUARESIR)
29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 EXBEBAERS &)
(continued)
(a) Transactions with related parties (continued) (a) HBEEFIZXRS (E)
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
(i) Accept services from: (i) BEZUTEFRE:
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — BRRGHEEE 66,298 42,236
— Yidu Construction — HHbEE 6,752 38,221
— Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical — ILREBS B 6,868 10,393
— HEC Biochemistry — BB AR
Manufacturing 3,186 3,186
— Yichang Shancheng — B2 KRR E
Shuidu Restaurant 1,360 494
— Others — HAp 939 154
85,403 94,684
(i) Lease assets from: iy MUTSEHTHEELE:
— Dongguan HEC Drug — REER 5 S B
Development 2,226 2,226
— Shenzhen HEC Formed foil — ARG SE 651 651
— Others — Efh 423 194
3,300 3,071
(iv) Payments past through: (iv) BBATEFRK:
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — BRI 34,670 34,863
— Shenzhen HEC Industrial — RYIRBEHEE 49,673 6,504
84,343 41,367
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 hac et
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRZHEBIN  AUARBIIR)
29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 EREBARS &)

(continued)

(a) Transactions with related parties (continued) (a) HBEEFIZXRS (E)
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT ARBTET

(v)  Cash collection through: (v) BBATNSHEEIRS :
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — ERRMG B 43,956 25,605

(vi) Proceeds arise from Target (viy BEEESREEXNGER

Products: I3
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — BR R EE 180,850 45,350
(vii) Sales of goods to: (i) MITEFEEER
— Sunshine Lake Pharma —BRRGHEEE 10,917 10,421
— Others — Efh 257 388
11,174 10,809
(viii) Provide entrusted production  (viii) LA N& FI2MHETAE
and inspection services to: ERAR ORI AR TS
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — EREG S 36,418 -
— Dongguan HEC — REMRG LY
Biopharmaceutical R&D i 2 2,454 -
— Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical — ILREBG B 608 10,952
— Others — Hftb 363 -
39,843 10,952
(ix) Purchase of fixed assets from: (ix) MU T HFHBETE
=
— Yidu Machinery — BRI W RS 17,817 3,507
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 At
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REEERIN  HAAREIIR)
29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 EREBARS &)

(continued)

(a) Transactions with related parties (continued) (a) HBEEFIZXRS (E)
2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT ARBTET

(x)  Refund of rental from: x) UTEFEEES:
— Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical — IRERG - (7,500)

(xi) Purchase of intangible assets  (xi) MMNA N& HRBEFE

from: B
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — BRRPG B 26,061 638,115
(xii) Unlisted equity securities (xiiy BEESIEEMBRAES
obtained
— Yichang HEC Drug — HE R
Development - 1,771,419
(b) Balances with related parties (b) EEEEEES MVAEER
() Amounts due from related parties (i) FEWEEELRE
2022 2021
—E-C—F —E - —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFIT
Prepayment and trade KENUTEAHFEMRK
receivable from: LB SR ERIE
— Dongguan HEC — REM RGN Y
Biopharmaceutical R&D fiff 2% 2,773 -
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — ERRIG s 343,325 47,984
— Guangdong HEC Health Sales ~ — EHREG Y AREHS 189 -
346,287 47,984

298 YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R It

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(=B - BUAAREIIR)

(continued)

(b)

(c)

Balances with related parties (continued) (b)

(ii) Amounts due to related parties

29 ERBBARS (#)

SARAE T VA ER ()

(i) FEEAMETS KA

2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT ARKBTE

Trade payables and other ERUATETHNES

payables to: R E AR -

— Sunshine Lake Pharma — ERREG B - 77,803

— Yidu Construction — EA R 2,182 5,413

— Shaoguan HEC Printing — BERG R 11,227 348

— Yidu Machinery — EERIT MR G - 252
13,409 83,816

Financial guarantees () BHER

At 31 December 2022, guarantees were issued to the
Group by Shenzhen HEC Industrial, Mr. Zhang Yushuai
and Mrs. Guo Meilan, the ultimate controlling party of
the Group in connection with bank loans and other
borrowings amounted to RMB432,471,000 of the Group.

FERE 2022 / EE

CRYIREEAREZE - RNEE
EI’J RASTERR TR B A A R F
WHEZTRAEERTERR
H b fasm A s B R ER
SHEAARKEA432,471,0007T °

REXRTEERNDERAF]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 5 At
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REEERIN  HAAREIIR)
29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 ERBEBAIRS &)

(continued)

(d) Key management personnel compensation d) EEEEASRBRMN
Remuneration for key management personnel of the NEBTFBEBAEBNTH(B
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s N FHE7TREAORARE
directors’ as disclosed in Note 7 and certain of the ENMESHENSE T
highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 8, is as BIATHRIB)AT -
follows:

2022 2021
—Eg-= T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AREFT
Salaries and other benefits e hEMmEF 15,022 9,283
Contribution to defined retirement  FXER KB EHEI 3%
benefit schemes 358 211
15,380 9,494
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (See Note FNEETATEINA] (B
5(b)). BEES(b)) ©

(e) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected (e) HBEEXZEBMMNLTHRAMN
transactions B A
The recurring transactions with related parties in respect Ll FE29() R R EEE T AR
of Note 29(a) above constitute continuing connected MRZSEK ETRBE T HA
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing EER NLFBHEERS R
Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the BETMRANETHAZRRE
Listing Rules are provided in section headed “Continuing ZCEBREREETREZ[FE
Connected Transactions” of the Directors’ Report. B 5] —f&T o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEBIN  AUARBIIR)
30 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 30 REAIEEZHBMRE
POSITION
2022 2021
- —E-—F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Mz AR®TR AREFTT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Fixed assets & E & 2
Property, plant and equipment WE - WER&E 2,092,968 1,970,659
Ownership interests in leasehold BHEERzBEI AT E#
land held for own use s 217,814 223,403
2,310,782 2,194,062
Intangible assets mEE 1,716,072 1,637,810
Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR E 13 1,566,391 1,435,355
Financial assets measured at FVPL R AR (BETE B HE S
SPABRENEMEE - 1,789,621
Prepayments SCENE 149,611 25,913
Deferred tax assets BT IR A E 81,069 57,724
5,823,925 7,140,485
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 268,158 251,716
Trade and other receivables 5N E UGB 2,097,412 1,849,981
Prepayments SCENE 24,532 6,669
Financial assets measured at FVPL R QA EBETEHREE
SFABRENEMEE 290,000 -
Non-current assets held for sale FEHENIERBEE 2,312,320 -
Restricted cash XRHEE 76,781 76,592
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEIRE 815,328 845,470
5,884,531 3,030,428
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B RAEHEAI  HUAREIIR)
30 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 30 ARIEEZMBMRRET @)
POSITION (continued)
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E - —F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
s ARETR ARET T
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R H Ab T FIR 1,644,834 790,718
Contract liabilities AHEE 151,514 133,110
Bank loans RITER 168,278 18,467
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEER 2,906,963 -
Deferred income EREW 4,680 4,379
Current taxation B HATR 18 6,331 198,507
4,882,600 1,145,181
Net current liabilities RBEETFHE 1,001,931 1,885,247
Total assets less current liabilities #EERARBEE 6,825,856 9,025,732
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bank loans and other borrowings IRITER R EMEK 182,500 76,000
Deferred income TEE U 25 146,169 94,380
Interesting-bearing borrowings FHEEK - 2,600,125
328,669 2,770,505
Net assets FEE 6,497,187 6,255,227
Capital and reserves EXRHE
Share capital N 26 879,968 879,968
Reserves ] 5,617,219 5,375,259
Total equity R 6,497,187 6,255,227
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B HRR MR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

PERIOD

Repurchase of the H share convertible bonds

On 13 January 2023, the Company entered into a bond
purchase agreement with holders of the H share convertible
bonds (the “Bondholders”), pursuant to which the Company
agreed to repurchase certain bonds (1) in the aggregate
principal amount of US$28,911,534 from the Bondholders at
the total purchase price of US$40,000,000 on or before 31
January 2023 (the “First Trench Repurchased Bonds”); and (2)
in the aggregate principal amount of US$43,118,778 from the
Bondholders at the total purchase price of US$60,000,000 on
or before 28 February 2023 (the “Second Trench Repurchased
Bonds”).

On 27 February 2023, the Company further entered into a
supplemental agreement with the Bondholders in respect of
the Second Trench Repurchased Bonds, under which the
Company and the Bondholders agreed to revise the date of
repurchase of part of the Second Trench Repurchased Bonds.
Pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement, the Company agreed
to complete the repurchase of the Secand Trench Repurchased
Bonds on or before 15 March 2023. The total purchase price
for the Second Trench Repurchased Bonds remains unchanged
at US$60,000,000.

(=B - BUAAREIIR)

31 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING 31 ¥R&EHIEZ MW IETREIF

BOHRTERES

RZZFE_=F—A+=0 ' AQFH
HERFTERESBRBEA(ESEAR
AN ESBERZ Bt - A2
ARBEUOR-E-=F—A=1+—
Hel Al - MEHFEABRA2
B 28,911,534 E L E TESH
42 88 B {8 1% /540,000,000 € T ([ 5
—ERESE]D  RQRZTE==
F_A-—+N\BszH  BEEEE
ABEASBER43,118,778% T
mETES BRBEEERB
60,000,000 st ([ % = #t & [ (&
1) e

RZZE-_=F-"HA-++H " KXRQA
MESBEEARE - HEOEFE—
FTEIIHRIE - Bt - AQFEE
FRHBAREBEIE S _#ELIE
FHEEBHH - REBEMAME - A0
AEBE_ZE-=F=-At+HBE%H
2 A1 SERREERE M RES -
FoHERESNREEERERT
% - {3/60,000,0003 7T °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B -

31

32
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BIAANRESIR)

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (continued)

Repurchase of the H share convertible bonds (continued)

On 9 March 2023, the Company entered into another bond
purchase agreement with the Bondholders, pursuant to which
the Company agreed to repurchase certain bonds (1) in the
aggregate principal amount of US$38,547,623 from the
Bondholders at the total purchase price of US$54,075,477 on
or before 3 April 2023; and (2) in the aggregate principal
amount of US$194,161,057 from the Bondholders at the total
purchase price of US$278,191,332 on or before 30 June 2023.

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
Company has completed the repurchase of the First Trench
Repurchased Bonds and Second Trench Repurchased Bonds.

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTIES

At 31 December 2022, the directors consider the immediate
parent of the Group to be Sunshine Lake Pharma, which is
incorparated in the PRC. The ultimate controlling party of the
Group to be Mr. Zhang Yushuai and his mother Mrs. Guo Meilan.

31

32

MEHEWIERREE2)

SBEH R T ERES ()

RZEZ=ZF=ZANE » ARFHE
FRBEANTUS—HEFRERZE
Bt ARAIREQOR=ZZE==F
MA=HZ A - MEFFEARED
KN4 4% 538,547,623 F LA T
BEH - BB RBL4,075477%
T MQRZEZ_=FA=1+H
2R MEAREABRAEEE
#194,161,057E T A TES - 2
BEEEKA278,191,332F T °

BERSVWHRETERS - K27
EERBRE - SEOESRE )
BOES -

EERRRERRR

W_E-——F+=-A=+—H E=F
REAEBNEEZES QAR AN
A KRR B - MASE
R ARER T E R EEE
Szt o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 RaR M A

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(=B - BUAAREIIR)

33 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 33 RBE=-Z-__F+=AH
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT =+—H JL¢F & fE R 1B i
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 REMMIEET - HEA KRR
DECEMBER 2022 BNEEXE
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB BEENEVHHEATIHER BEEg
has issued a number of new or amended standards, which are FFEREEGERAMLZIEREE-Z
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2022 and TCEF A=+ —HIEFERRE
which have not been adopted in these financial statements. R B I R A I S B TS TR IR A ER A9 A9 FT
These developments include the following which may be RSB RT 2R - W FBREBIE Y
relevant to the Group. FIER AN EE B R ER) -

Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after

BUTRHRz#%

BRI E IBEXN

IFRS 17, Insurance contracts 1 January 2023
BRI M EERIE 175 - REREAY —ZET-=%—H—H
Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: 1 January 2023

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current

B ERE 15 (BRI - MBHEXZS - BRESBERTBHIFRE —T-=%—H—H
Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements and 1 January 2023

IFRS Practice Statement 2, Making materiality judgements:
Disclosure of accounting policies

B & ERIE 15 (BRIAR) - BB HREZI REEM S HEEREBEHE —T-=%—H—H
FE25  (EHERAE - SatBENKE

FEHE 2022 / EERBHARIZERMHARAR] 305



306

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R P o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BRI - GUAREIIR)

33 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 33
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2022 (continued)

RBE-ZE--_+=H
=t+—HIEFEECEMENH
REMBIEE - FEARR
BHNBEEEw

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
BUTH#HR 2%
RIS AR

Amendments to IAS 8, Accounting policies, changes in accounting
estimates and errors: Definition of accounting estimates

B GaERIE 85 (BRI A) » @FtEK ~ St EBR=EE -
A ER

Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax related to assets and

liabilities arising from a single transaction
BIFR &t ERE 1258 (BETA) - FriFi -
E—XGELERERRENIRBELRA

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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Audit Committee
[BZZEZ ]

nAGMu

[BERBAFRE ]

“Annual Report”

K4

“Articles of Association”

INCIEREN

“Blackstone”
[EA]

“Board of Directors” or “Board”

==

“Board of Supervisors”

[EEEE

“Chairman”

[BEE]

“China” or “PRC”

[ B ]

“Company”, “the Company”,
“Pharm HEC”, “we” or “us”

(AR % [REE]

[ A1)

DEFINITIONS

the audit committee of the Board

EFEEERZEBY

the forthcoming annual general meeting for the year 2022 of the
Company

RAR T —_FRERRBFRE

the annual report of the Company for the year 2022
ARRA B _FFR

the articles of assaciation of the Company (as amended from time to
time)
KRB B (ETRIERT)

Blackstone Inc. and its related parties
Blackstone Inc. &2 £ Bt 5

board of directors of the Company

ARAREEE

board of supervisors of the Company

ARRIEEE

chairman of board of directors of the Company

ARREZREER

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purposes of this Annual
Report and for geographical reference only (unless otherwise
indicated), excluding Taiwan, Macau and Hong Kong

REARANME  ERAFHREME EME - BREEERIN T
‘mag  RFREE

YiChang HEC ChangJiang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (E& R H KT
BN AR A7), a company established in the PRC on 11 May
2015 as ajoint stock company

HERBGARIEEROHBRAR  —KRZE—RAFHA+—H
TEFBIR . AR D BR A A

FERE 2022 /| EERG AR TIEERMNER AR
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DEFINITIONS

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”
[ERR AR

“Director(s)”

[EF]

“Domestic Share(s)”

“Global Offering”
[EIREE ]

“Group”

NS

“Guangdong HEC”

[BERERE]

“H Shares”

[HR% ]

has the meaning given to it under the Listing Rules

BB AR TR E

director(s) of the Company
RRBES

issued ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company with a
nominal value of RMB1.00 each, which is (are) subscribed for or
credited as fully paid in RMB
AREBRAFEREAEARE100TTHERTEBE  EUARE
IR KR

the offer of the Company’s H Shares for subscription as described in
the prospectus of the Company
AR R RIRIR B FTE AN A B H AR 3 & LA R

the Company and its subsidiaries

EAN/NI DSBSy EPN

Guangdong HEC Technology Holding Co., Ltd. (&R B R e Rl ig
% {7 & BR /A &]), a company incorporated in the PRC on 24 October
1996 and whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600673)

BRRGERBREREOBRLAG  — KR —ANAARF+AZ+H
BEFEBEFMK I RERNON LEBEFLFRSM LMz Am (RHK
5% : 600673)

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company with a nominal
value of RMB1.00 each, which is (are) listed on the Stock Exchange
and is (are) subscribed for and traded in HKD
RATRARTREBEARE 1.00Ta) MR - HAEBRR LM
NABTRERER
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“HEC Medicine Development
and Research”

[R5 B HT 2 |

“HEC Pharm?”

[EERE]

“HK$” or “HKD"

[Tl

“Hong Kong”
S

“Hong Kong Stock Exchange” or
“Stock Exchange”
[ B R ZPT | 3k [B 52 Fr )

“IFRSs”

[ B B 75 o s 2

“Latest Practicable Date”

[ R ERAITE ]

DEFINITIONS

Dongguan HEC Medicine Development and Research Co., Ltd. (35
F5 ¢ B 25 B PR A A1), a company incorporated in the PRC, being
a subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial
RERGAEDHAEERAA  —REPBEEMEALZAE &
RYNERG N B B8 A R

HEC Pharm Co., Ltd.* (EE RE X EE DB R A F)), a company
incorporated in the PRC on 12 January 2004
HERGAEXRHBRAF  —KR-_ZZNF-A+ZBHER
Bl S A SZ 89 A 7

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency for the time being of Hong
Kong
BT BABEREATER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEBFRTTERR

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBMERIMBRAR

the International Financial Reporting Standards, which include
standards and interpretations promulgated by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and the International Accounting
Standards (IAS) and interpretation issued by the International
Accounting Standards Committee (IASC)

BRI &R BB SRR E SR ER RBEIN
MEF e ElEEeRhER S El R E

17 April 2023, being the latest practicable date for the purpose of
ascertaining certain information contained in this Annual Report
prior to its publication

“EC=FMATER RAFHRTIERAEEEFAEETEH
MR ERATHH

FERE 2022 /| EERG AR TIEERMNER AR
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DEFINITIONS

“Listing Date”
[ EEE

“Listing Rules”
[ L sRAll
“Model Code”
[fE=ra)

“Nomination Committee”

[fE2ZEe

“Renminbi” or “RMB”

(AR
“Remuneration and Evaluation
Committee”

(MR EZZER]

“Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical”

[FLURRS R EEE
“SFCU

[EE ]

l(SFO,J

(85 M EE R A

29 December 2015, on which the H Shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange and from which dealings in the H Shares were permitted
to commence on the Stock Exchange

“E-AF+TAZTABR  HERREERAEMOBE - Y ALA
HiME - HARE AR R PR E &

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, as amended from time to time

BRMARXSAERARES EMHRR - EAEHER]

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
FHRBIM ST PrE A E BT AERETESF X ZNIRESTE]

the nomination committee of the Board

ExgR%%Be

the lawful currency of the PRC
PEIEEER

remuneration and evaluation committee of the Board

EEeHMEERZES

Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (FLRERFG L EEZEFRRA A, a
company incorporated in the PRC and an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial

RRBREXBR AT —KEPEIMKZARF - RINRES
REENREFEZEHBAF

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time

BEEDIFESTIEZHF MEGED - K& TRHERT - MARAEM T
B
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“Shareholder(s)”

(AR

“Shares”

[RA7

“Shenzhen HEC Industrial”

[RINREREE]

“Sunshine Lake Pharma”

[BRRGIEEE]

“Supervisor(s)”

(B2

“Yichang HEC Biochemical

Manufacturing”

[EERGE(CRE]

“YiChang HEC Pharmaceutical

Manufacturing”

[EERGHE]

“Yichang HEC Power Plant”

[EERBRANEE]

DEFINITIONS

holder(s) of our Shares, including holders of H shares and holders of
domestic shares of the Company

BROFE A BEARFHBIFAEARANEREA A

shares in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal value of
RMB1.00 each
AAFRAHEREBARE 1.00 T8k G5

Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd. CFIITTRIG & 2
R B BR 2 7)), a company incorporated in the PRC on 27 January
1997 and a Controlling Shareholder

AR EEERBRAR] - — KR - ANt F—AZ++tH
R EFMAZBNAR - A—RIERRE

Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd. (E R B [F X Z £ B R 2 7)), a
company incorporated in the PRC on 29 December 2003
BRREBAEXZFERAG  — KRR _BEE=F+_A=THAEH
Bik=s i DAV O]

the supervisor(s) of the Company

NS

Yichang HEC Biochemical Manufacturing Co. Ltd. (E &R &5 EL R
ZF R /A F]), a company incorporated in the PRC, being a subsidiary
of Shenzhen HEC Industrial

HERGHECHEFRAF  —REFEATMELZAF - /R
YIRS N B E BB A R

YiChang HEC Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (B & &R 5% &
# 4 R A al), acompany incorporated in the PRC and a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

HERGAREARATF  —REFREGEMKINAF - AARAA
BEE2EMB AT

Yichang HEC Power Plant Co., Ltd., a company incorporated in the
PRC, being a subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial
HERGHANEEBARAR  —REPEEMELZ AR /R
YREHBEENHBE AT

FERE 2022 /| EERG AR TIEERMNER AR
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DEFINITIONS

“Yidu Construction”

[E#PEE]
“Yidu Guijun”
[E#EH]

“Yidu HEC Industrial”

[EHREAEX]
“Yidu Machinery”
[ BRI A AR A |

n%u
[%]

Yidu Shanchengshuidu Project Construction Co., Ltd., a company
incorporated in the PRC, a subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial
E#HLBKERETREGRAE —REPREGEMAZINORE - B
RIS N B E BB AR

Yidu Guijun Pharmaceutical Technology Co., Ltd., a company
incarporated in the PRC and owned as to 50% by Mr. CHEN Yangui
and 50% by three independent third parties
E#HEHBRENMRAERAR  —KEFBEFMKIAAR - AR
AR AR =B E =770 IR 50% K 50% 60 &

Yidu HEC Industrial Co., Ltd.* a company incorporated in the PRC, a
direct non-wholly owned subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial
HFTREGAEXERARAR  —REFBEEMRIORR - X
YREHBEXNEZIFZEMB LR

Yidu Changjiang Machinery Equipment Co., Ltd. ( B #F & JT # #% &%
f#%BBRA7F]), a company incorporated in the PRC and a subsidiary of
Shenzhen HEC Industrial

HBRIEWEREBRAR  —RERBEEFMKIHOAR - FIIR
SHEZENHEAR

per cent

Elsisd
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REGISTERED NAME

YiChang HEC ChanglJiang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. JIANG Juncai

Mr. WANG Danjin

Mr. CHEN Yangui

Mr. LI Shuang

Non-executive Directors

Mr. TANG Xinfa (Chairman)
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. TANG Jianxin

Ms. XIANG Ling
Mr. LI Xuechen

REMUNERATION AND EVALUATION COMMITTEE

Ms. XIANG Ling (Chairman)
Mr. TANG Jianxin
Mr. JIANG Juncai

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. TANG Jianxin (Chairman)

Mr. TANG Xinfa
Ms. XIANG Ling

CORPORATE INFORMATION
AN

B
BERBHRTEERHBRAF
s

YITES

BT ek
IR
PRAREEE A

FIEE

HBTES

B (EFR)
BYKHITES
BRI

FELE

FRE L
FHRERERS
Mg L L ()

=2 bt
BT
BREES
AR S ()

EREELE
A& X+
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

ANCI-)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. LI Xuechen (Chairman)
Mr. TANG Jianxin
Ms. XIANG Ling

SUPERVISORS

Mr. TANG Jinlong
Mr. LUO Zhonghua
Mr. WANG Shengchao

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. PENG Qiyun

Ms. NG Wing Shan (FCG, HKFCG)
(resigned on 25 February 2022)

Mr. WONG Wai Chiu (FCG, HKFCG)
(appointed on 25 February 2022)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. TANG Xinfa

West Fourth Floor, Building 106

Huafa North Road, Futian District, Shenzhen
Guangdong Province, the PRC

Ms. NG Wing Shan

(resigned on 25 February 2022)
40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Mr. WONG Wai Chiu

(appointed on 25 February 2022)
40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong

REZEE

FERELE(E/E)
R EL
A& 2+

BERNBME

HESELE

FkHZ 1 (FCG, HKFCG)
(R=ZEBE-=F-A=-THHEET)
E{EHB ST A (FCG, HKFCG)
(R—ZE-_—F-_A-+HAEZT)

O

RERER

FEETE A
FERERE
YT R B e 2= R B
106 FRIYET

Rzt
(R=ZZE-——F-A-+HHBET)
BT

BERER 2485

REFTE R0 4018

=EMEE
W-_Z-_—F-_A-+HBEZT)

BT

BERER 2485

RFremp 408
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REGISTERED OFFICE

No. 38 Binjiang Road
Yidu, Yichang, Hubei Province, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

No. 38 Binjiang Road
Yidu, Yichang, Hubei Province, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre, No. 248 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER

China Construction Bank Co., Ltd.
Qingjiang Branch

56 Changjiang Avenue

Yidu, Hubei Province, the PRC

AUDITORS

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance

with the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance
8/F, Prince’s Building, 10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

PRC LEGAL ADVISORS

Jia Yuan Law Offices

F408 Ocean Plaza

158 Fuxingmennei Avenue
Xicheng District

Beijing

the PRC

CORPORATE INFORMATION
AN

EER Y

FREHIEE ESEE T
VBT 3857

PERERERME

PRI EEEET
VBT % 38 5%

ERTEERME

SIEABH 248 FAF S B L4012
ERAERRIT

PEERRITRO AR AT
BILET

F B dL A B #R T

RIT K38 56 5%

¥ B

ESHETEERAT
HEGRTED

RCEF R TR BRI T #
AMARF S EBREE
FEPIR

EFTE 105 FRE 818

B AR EEER

IR BT

H

bR

iy

EEPIA R 158 5%
RFREF408
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
RAEIER

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISORS

Jia Yuan Law Office

17/F

No. 238 Des Voeux Road Central
Sheung Wan

Hong Kong

H SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

01558

COMPANY’S WEBSITE
www.hec-changjiang.com

LISTING PLACE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

The Company’s 2022 environmental,social and governance report ,which is prepared in both Chinese and English, has
been uploaded to the Company’s website (www.hec-changjiang.com/investorli.aspx?NewsCateld=96&parid=96) and the
website of HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) and is available for inspection. Stakeholders may contact our Company in
cases where hard copy is needed. Our contact details are as follows:

RNFHI2022F IR - (- @ REAMRETR - BEIURAE L&A AR A A48 (www.hec-changjiang.com/investorli.
aspx?NewsCateld=96&parid=96) & & /& 22 5 FT ¥ & 5 4934 (www.hkexnews.hk) » EU02E - a1 BFBEIFIA - 7]

NEARRE - FPIREBEL AT

Address: Securities Department, Dongyangguang Scientific Park, No. 368 Zhen An Zhong Road, Chang’an County,

Dongguan, Guangdong Province, the PRC

it - PEIERE R=m R ER Y P 368 KRG R EE S5

Company’s Email: changjiangpharm®@dyg-hec.com
A a)E 48 : changjiangpharm@dyg-hec.com

BEBLERER
ERE IR S
G
b

fEE =R 23858
1712

HERBR M BFEERRE
EBPREHFELERAA
BEET
SRABEE 1835 AL
17#1712-1716 5848
B3 1K 5R

01558

b N/NET
www.hec-changjiang.com
i

FEMARHPBRAR]
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